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COMPANY PROFILE

Commerce Bancshares, Inc. operates as a super-community bank offering an array of sophisticated finan-
cial products delivered with high-quality, personal customer service. The Company's customer promise
ask listen solve is not just its brand, but also its corporate focus. With this platform, Commerce is contin-
ually building its long-term franchise while paying strict attention to asset quality and expense control.
Commerce provides a full range of financial products to consumer and commercial customers including
lending, payment processing, trust, brokerage, and capital markets services. The Company serves cus-
tomers from 345 locations in Missouri, Kansas, and lllinois using a variety of delivery platforms including an
expansive ATM network, full-featured Online Banking, and a central contact center.

MARKET STABILITY

Commerce is a company that values employees, customers, and shareholders while striving to produce
consistent, solid returns. Commerce Bancshares reported its 18th consecutive year of record earnings in
2002. Over the last 10 years, total shareholder return on the Company’s stock has been 14% compared
to the S&P 500's performance of 3%. In December 2002, Commerce paid its ninth consecutive 5% stock
dividend. In January 2003, the Board of Directors approved a 6.6% increase in the cash dividend rate,
making it the 35th consecutive year of cash dividend increases.
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A PLATFORM for DELIVERING the PROMISE

In 2002, Commerce completed renovation of its historic property, the Commerce Trust
Building. This project is an important part of the revitalization of downtown Kansas City.
While elements of the original bank lobby were retained, the entire building was modernized
to create a state-of-the art facility for over 700 employees, with specialized new space to
support current and future technology needs. The building is listed on the National Registry
of Historic Sites and serves as an apt metaphor for Commerce's super-community strategy
as it combines the highly personal service that is a hallmark of banking in the past with the
sophisticated and progressive products, services, and technology of banking for the future.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

COMMERCE BANCSHARES, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES

(in thousands, except per share data) 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002

operating results

Net interest income $ 429579 $ 467,184 $ 481646 $ 468,775 $ 499,955
Provision for loan losses ' 36,874 35,335 35,159 36,423 34,108
Non-interest income 213,023 239,134 255,636 274,999 280,572
Non-interest expense 380,164 423,123 434,202 437,990 452,927
Net income 150,091 166,213 178,574 181,974 199,498
Cash dividends 33,742 36,054 37,613 40,254 42,185
at year end

Total assets $11412,102  $11,408,576 $11,120,741 $12,908,146 $13,308,415
Loans, net of unearned income 7,046,852 7,576,892 7,906,665 7,638,482 7,875,944
Investment securities 3,052,159 2,524,383 1,956,084 3,732,257 4,275,248
Deposits 9,529,640 9,163,357 9,079,282 10,031,885 9,913,311
Stockholders’ equity 1,080,785 1,079,832 1,143,755 1,272,483 1,416,337
Non-performing assets 20,352 14,326 21324 30,768 29,539
Common shares cutstanding* 74,340 72,206 68,930 68,637 67,030

other financial data

(based on average balances)

Return on total assets 1.43% 1.50% 1.62% 1.55% 1.61%
Return on stockholders’ equity 14.58 15.40 16.22 14.88 14.71
Loans to deposits 75.24 77.94 87.26 82.49 79.29
Equity to assets 9.83 9.72 9.99 10.42 10.92
Net yield on interest earning assets (T/E) 4.57 4.62 474 435 4.39
Tier 1 capital ratio 11.30 11.68 12.04 12.28 12.67
Total capital ratio 12.59 12.99 13.36 13.64 14.05
Leverage ratio 8.80 9.17 9.91 9.81 10.18
Efficiency ratio 58.36 59.39 58.45 58.10 57.94
Wid. average common shares outstanding — diluted” 75,488 74,336 71,282 70,059 69,038

per share data

* Restated for the 5% stock dividend distributed December 2002.

GROWTH IN EARNINGS PER SHARE and STOCK PRICE
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David W. Kemper, Chairman

A MESSAGE 70 our SHAREHOLDERS

WE BELIEVE 2002 was A REWARDING YEAR FOR OUR COMPANY AND OUR SHAREHOLDERS. our
FINANCIAL RESULTS WERE STRONG AND WE CONTINUED TO IMPLEMENT A NUMBER OF LONG-TERM STRATEGIES DESIGNED
To STRENGTHEN OUR FRANCHISE AND OUR CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIPS.

The past year continued to be a challenging time for our cus-
tomers and the country with international tensions, economic
weakness, and uncertain financial markets limiting growth
opportunities for many of our customers. These challenges
underscored the importance we place on having sound long-
term strategies that build a solid balance sheet and strong cus-
tomer relationships.

For 2002, Commerce Bancshares reported its 18th consec-
utive year of record earnings. Performance highlights include:
Earnings per share grew 11% in 2002 and increased an
average of 11% annually over the last five years. Revenue per
share has consistently grown over the last decade by 8%

compounded per annum.

@ The market value of Commerce Bancshares' stock
increased 6% in 2002. Total shareholder return, including
dividends paid, was 7.4%, performing favorably relative to
the S&P 500’s decline in total return of 22%.

® In a weak economy, asset quality remains strong. Net
loan charge-offs totaled .43% of average loans in 2002
compared with .48% in the previous year. Non-performing
assets continue to compare favorably with our peers, and
our allowance for loan losses totaled $131 million, represent-
ing 442% of non-performing assets.

@ As part of our ongoing investment in technology, we
have saved over $8 million in annual operating costs. New
products are being offered in trust, retail, and commercial
banking as a result of these investments. The year 2003
promises further product enhancements, including the
availability of check-imaged statements.

@ In December 2002, Commerce paid its ninth
consecutive 5% stock dividend. In January 2003, the
Board of Directors approved a 6.6% increase in the cash
dividend rate, making it the 35th consecutive year of cash

dividend increases.
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REVIEW OF FUNDAMENTALS

Commerce Bancshares is the largest independent bank within
eight states of our Midwestern region, with assets of over

$13 billion. Our asset size ranks us among the 50 largest banks
in the United States and offers us not only efficiencies of scale,
but also the ability to maintain close contact with our cus-
tomers. Through our super-community strategy, we deliver
sophisticated, competitive products with high levels of service.

Management divides our operations into three distinct
areas: Payment Systems, Credit Underwriting and Lending,
and Asset Management. Strong product offerings and consis-
tent revenue streams from both business and retail customers
reflect our focus on Payment Systems. The Credit and
Underwriting area concentrates on the delivery of competitive
products with an emphasis on high underwriting standards.
Our Asset Management business offers customers sophisticated
trust, fixed income, and equity products.

Across our operations, we continue to emphasize fee rev-
enue by expanding customer relationships and identifying new
products. For 2002, fees accounted for 36% of total revenue,
up from 27% in 1995. Expansion of fee-based revenue sources
helps us reduce our reliance on net interest income, which can

be volatile.

We also focused on containing costs in 2002 and made
significant progress in doing so through deliberate, strategic
investments in technology. These investments focused on
reducing cost in commodity products and also improved cus-
tomer service levels. While widespread economic weakness in
2002 adversely impacted many businesses, strict credit disci-
pline and a thorough understanding of our markets and our

customers allowed us to maintain solid loan portfolio quality.

TCTAL LOANS AND DEPOSITS
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10-year compound growth rate: Loans 9%, Deposits 6%

BUILDING THE PLATFORM FOR THE FUTURE

Commerce enjoys a long-standing presence in many of the com-
munities in which we operate. The foundation of our culture
has been risk management and we continue to manage credit in
the same prudent way. To leverage our strengths and build a
banking platform for the future, we have increased our focus on
serving our customers with our brand promise: ask listen solve.

Through ask listen solve, we are creating a differentiated
customer experience with respect to delivery of our solutions
and service. As a result, our new CommerceOptions accounts,
which offer customers more benefits for consolidating their
relationship, have produced a 10% increase in the number of
accounts and services per household.

This year, we began to measure customer satisfaction
consistently across the entire Company. We have seen contin-

ued gains in customer satisfaction, and over the last three
years, we have decreased the number of retail customer
service issues by nearly 20% through improved processes
and execution.

Execution is crucial to our success; therefore, we have
invested heavily in both our people and in technology. Even
in an environment where we carefully watch expenses, we
have expanded our training and development programs and
upgraded our talent pool. Incentive compensation has grown
from $4 million to over $24 million over the past nine years,
and we have reduced employee turnover 13% during the
past two years. Significant investment in technology has
been made to improve our delivery systems to meet the
future needs of our customers.

GROWING the COMMUNITY

DELIVERING MEANINGFUL coNTRIBUTIoNs Commerce is committed to the Midwest communities in
which the bank operates. Foundation support and employee volunteerism both concentrate on
initiatives in education, health and human services, civic improvements, and the arts. Dee Joyner,
senior vice president, Organizational Development and director, Community Relations and
Charitable Giving for Commerce Bank, St. Louis; and Sara Foster, senior vice president of

Commerce Bancshares, Inc. and director, Support Group Services, steer the Company’s corporate

culture and philanthropic focus. Continued on page 12.

Foster

Joyner
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PAYMENT SYSTEMS

Payment Systems remain our primary source of income, rep-
resenting approximately one-half of our total revenue during
2002. This group of services is our most valuable due to the
critical role we play in providing payment solutions for our
customers. We possess breadth of services and sophisticated
solutions to meet the needs of our commercial and retail cus-
tomers. We derive significant revenue from plastic, electronic,
and paper-based systems, with total fees of $172 million in
2002, up 6% from the previous year. Within Payment
Systems, several areas showed strength in 2002, including
credit and debir fees, commercial and cash management fees,
and sweep fee income. Debit card interchange income
amounting to $20 million grew 15% in 2002. Commercial
cash management fees grew by $5 million, or 21%, over

the previous year.

RETAIL We have grown retail transaction and household
market share consistently over the past five years with a partic-
ular focus on higher-profit households. From 2001 to 2002,
retail customer demand deposit balances rose 7%. We use our
strategy of attracting transaction accounts as our base from
which we cross-sell numerous products and services, which
grow our Payment Systems revenues. During 2002, we
improved CommerceOptions cross-sell effectiveness by over
10% in certain segments. Of our retail households, 32% use
our credit card and 64% use our debit card products. In fact,
through innovative programs that stimulate and reinforce
usage behavior, our debit card program produces 20% more
transactions per active account and 45% more revenue than
our peers, according to Visa® International.

In the last six years, our total transactions have doubled
to approximately 100 million in 2002, while teller transac-
tions have decreased from 55% to just 29%. This is evidence
of the effectiveness of Commerce’s alternative delivery
platforms including Online Banking, the voice response
unit, and other electronic services.

commERCIAL In the Payment Systems area, we have
launched several promising initiatives. In its first year after
product launch, our business debit card has already achieved

16% more transactions per active account and above industry

average usage. Purchasing cards allow for even greater penetra-
tion of our commercial customer base. We are pleased to be
ranked among the Top 20 purchasing card issuers in the
United States according to The Nilson Report. Over the last
four years, volume from our purchasing card has grown
171%. We also have increased our focus on customer segmen-
tation. For example, small business, as a segment, plays into
our strengths of an established local presence, leverages our
investment in Payment Systems infrastructure, and is rein-
forced by our turnkey credit accommodations. Small business
DDA balances grew 9% in 2002 on a same branch basis.

In 2002, we completed a number of initiatives that extend
our Payment Systems platform. Commerce Connections, our
state-of-the-art browser-based cash management system for
commercial bank customers, was upgraded and now has several
new features, including positive pay reporting, loan reporting,
and image availability of collection and disbursement items. We
extended the positive pay function to the teller line, significant-
ly reducing the potential for fraud loss. We also made a major
investment in our wholesale lock box service where we now
offer not only images of checks, burt also provide images
of invoices and remirtance documents.

Looking ahead, we plan to expand our capacity to process
electronic payments by enhancing our wire transfer and ACH

systems and extending online customer functionality and access.

REVENUE GRCWTH and REVENUE PER SHARE
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PAYMENT SYSTEMS

DELIVERING PROFITABILITY Payment Systems accounted for almost half of the bank’s total rev-
enues for 2002. Commerce continues to strengthen its platform in this area with innovative
product solutions. Karen Grekstas, senior vice president and manager, Cash Management
Operations; Janet Smith, vice president, Treasury Services; and Kevin Barth, senior vice presi-
dent, Commercial Line of Business, Commerce Bancshares, Inc. and president, COO,
Commerce Bank, Kansas City, ensure that Commerce maintains a competitive set of solutions

to meet the Payment Systems needs of Commerce customers. Continued on page 10.

Smith Barth

Grekstas
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CREDIT UNDERWRITING AND LENDING

Not surprisingly, the sluggish economic environment in 2002
affected our lending operations. Soft demand for business
loans continued from the previous year as many business cus-
tomers refrained from expanding operations and reduced bor-
rowing needs. However, the year 2002 did bring success sto-
ries in lending. Consumer Lending grew in the home equity
and aurto lending areas. Seasonal business borrowings occurred
in the second half of the year.

Portfolio quality continued to play a central role in our
lending operation. We make it a point to know our customers
and to understand the profitability of our relationships. This in-
depth knowledge, coupled with a strict adherence to credit disci-
pline and actively managed customer concentrations, helps us
maintain historically low loan losses. For 2002, net losses were
43% of average loans, down from the previous year. Also, non-
performing assets as a percentage of total loans are well below
industry averages. However, given our risk-adverse culture, we
have always maintained sufficient loan loss reserves relative to
non-performing loans and at levels in excess of our peer group.

Not only do we carefully manage credit risk, but also we
have increased our ability to monitor the profitability of our
commercial customer relationships. Through customer prof-
itability tools, using risk-adjusted return concepts, we have
enabled our loan officers to make better, more profitable lend-

ing decisions.

ALLOWANCE for LOAN LOSSES
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consuMER LENDiNG We offer a full range of Consumer
Lending products including first mortgage and home equicy
loans, home improvement loans, auto loans, credit cards, and
student loans. Our broad branch network offers convenient
locations to service our retail customers, and our centralized
call center, with extended hours, provides a convenient
means to assist customers quickly. We are pleased with the
performance in mortgage and home equity lines of credit.
New home equity line commitments have grown from $85
million in 2000 to $176 million in 2002 with outstanding
balances up 17% over last year. While most first mortgage
loans are sold to upstream banking institutions, loan origina-
tions increased 15%, providing consistent fee income. Our
student loan portfolio grew 7%. Also, our relationship credit
card outstandings grew by 7% as a result of targeted market-
ing initiatives on our Special Connections credit card.

Credit quality on consumer loan products remained
strong throughout the year with credit card loan losses
decreasing 9% and personal banking loan losses decreasing
22%. Our loss experience on our credit card portfolio has
historically beaten national averages by over 200 basis points
because large segments of the portfolio are customers with
deposit and other relationships with our Company.
Artention to detail, sound underwriting principles, and
centralized operations have dramatically reduced losses on
installment lending,

Continued on page I8.

DELIVERING BETTER RELATIONSHIPS Knowledge of local markets is, in part, garnered through
community advisors who are business and civic leaders in Commerce Bank communities. This
ambassador-type relationship furthers the Company’s business development efforts with insight
into local economies. Michael Petrie, senior vice president, Commerce Bancshares, Inc.;
Sue Hutchins, executive vice president, Retail Administration of Commerce Bank, St. Louis; and
Seth Leadbeater, executive vice president of Commerce Bancshares, Inc. and chairman and CEQ,
Commerce Bank, St. Louis, work closely with community advisors throughout the system.

COMMUNITY ADVISORS

Hutchins  Leadbeater

Petrie




COMMERCE BANCSHARES, INC. 2002 ANNUAL REPORT
PAGE 6

CREDIT UNDERWRITING and LENDING continued

BusinEss LENDING Commerce offers a wide range of
lending products designed and tailored to meet the needs of
businesses. Our lending products fill needs for working capi-
tal, commercial real estate financing, construction financing,
lease financing, and other financial needs of businesses.

The uncertain economic times caused many of our busi-
ness customers to reduce debt levels and delay expansion
plans. While these actions have limited business loan growth,
our relationships with these customers are strong and we are

potsed to meet their needs as the economy improves. While

usage of lines of credit is down, borrower relationships are
growing. During 2002, initiatives to increase small business
lending resulted in a 79% growth in loan commitments.

We have mainrained our strict underwriting standards
for commercial credits. For the year, net loan charge-offs on
our three business loan categories totaled .21%, and while up
from five years ago, are still at very low levels. Non-accrual
business loans declined 8% from 2001 levels and totaled
$26.2 million. We continue to keep a close eye on our loan
portfolio quality and look for future adverse trends.

ASSET MANAGEMENT

Asset Management includes traditional personal and institu-
tional trust services, which are administered and marketed
through The Commerce Trust Company division. Included
in this business segment are sales of fixed income investments
provided by our Capital Markets Group. We also offer exten-
sive retail brokerage services including mutual fund sales,
full-service brokerage, and online trading. With these three
groups, we generate non-interest revenues of over $86 mil-
lion per year or 11% of toral revenue. More importantly, we
believe these areas offer us significant growth opportunities
especially in Kansas City and St. Louis, our two major mar-
kets. Both markets rank in the top 20% of the wealthiest
Metropolitan Statistical Areas (MSA) nationally.

There are numerous sources of fee growth stemming
from expanded service offerings within The Commerce
Trust Company. We targer affluent individuals, including
the owners and executives of our commercial banking
customers. On the institutional side, our customer relation-
ships create cross-sell opportunities in the middle market
401(k), as well as corporate pension funds, endowments,
and foundations.

With our relationship focus, we are in an excellent posi-
tion not only to anticipate, but also to address the needs of
business owners. We have expanded our Private Banking
services, resulting in deposit growth of over 21% and loan
growth exceeding 30% in 2002.

At December 31, 2002, The Commerce Trust
Company’s assets under management totaled $9.3 billion,
and it maintains an additional $7.4 billion in non-managed
funds. While depressed financial markets have held down
trust asset values, and therefore revenues, we continue to
invest in new systems, products, and talent to accelerate
revenue growth, improve account retention, and most
importantly, position this division to become a key growth
driver for Commerce.

During 2002, we expanded our sales forces, acquired
new financial planning software, and implemented new rela-
tionship management tools for The Commerce Trust

Company to expand financial advisory services and to

MOMNEY MANAGEMENT FEES
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oeLivering vaLue John Rouse, director, Private Banking, St. Louis; V. Raymond Stranghoener,
president, The Commerce Trust Company; and Mark Eagleton, director, Private Banking,
Kansas City, drive the division’s consultative approach to Private Banking solutions. High
net-worth individuals often have complex circumstances, requiring a combination of investment
management expertise and specialized Private Banking services. Private Banking at Commerce
tailors creative borrowing and banking solutions to the financial needs of its customers

while striving to exceed their expectations for service, confidentality, and integrity.

Stranghoener  Eagleton

Rouse

Continned on page 14,
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improve customer contact programs. In addition, The
Commerce Trust Company completed several enhance-
ments. For example, the installation of 2 new trust
accounting system and securities trading platform provide
expanded funcrionality for customers and a significant
unit cost savings over the next several years. Customer
statements now include new formats, new graphics, faster
delivery, and online features and availability. Also,
Commerce has created a new asset allocation murtual fund
option, which represents a diversified investment strategy.
The Capital Markets Group (CMG) had another solid

year with total revenue of $25.2 million and a 9% increase

in its customer base over the previous year. CMG, which
has offices in Kansas City, St. Louis, and Chicago, now
services over 850 correspondent banking customers and
1,000 corporate customers.

Our brokerage revenues grew 6% in 2002 on strong
sales of fixed annuity products. Revenues from annuity
sales increased 37% to over $3.8 million, while sales of
mutual funds and other brokerage revenues remained
constrained by an uncertain stock marker.

Despite the market turmoil, we believe our Asset
Management businesses are well positioned to be key

growth and revenue drivers for us.

TECHNOLOGY

Delivering on our customer promise, we continue to make
large capital investments in technology. Over the past eight
years, we have spent $65 million on new equipment, soft-
ware, and related facilicies. While these are large expendi-
tures, we are focused on using technology to provide state-
of-the-art products to our customers while reducing unit
costs. In doing so, these investments have created more
sophisticated products, with user-friendly interfaces that
both anticipate and meet the needs of our customers.

Commerce completed several major technology
initiatives in 2002, resulting in savings of over $8 million
per year and improvements to customer service levels.
One highlight was the conversion of cur mainframe

computer systems to in-house resources. A backup hot site

for disaster recovery purposes was added to reduce risk and
lower recovery time to less than one day. Additionally, we
enhanced our Online Banking product, reducing costs
while improving functionality and customer service.
Furthermore, substantial work has been completed to
implement, in 2003, imaged customer statements and
archive files that will improve customer service.

Qur contact center, now in its second year of operation,
handled a 26% increase in call volume and nearly an 18%
increase in e-mail volume in 2002, while reducing cost by
$.17 per agent call. New technology implemented this
year brings more customer information to our service repre-
sentatives when calls are received, so customer questions

can be quickly and accurately answered.

CORPORATE GOVERNARNCE

With much publicity of corporate corruption over the past
year, you should know we place a high priority on manage-
ment integrity and have strengthened corporate governance
at Commerce. A majority of our Board of Directors has
always been independent and our Audit Committee is com-
prised entirely of independent directors. For many years, we
have had a code of ethics that all officers are required to sign.
Additionally, our Audit Committec’s charter provides for

direct oversight of both our internal and external auditors,
and they meet quarterly to provide meaningful oversight of
our activities.

We have found that many of the new laws and
regulations reflect our current, long-standing practices.
Nevertheless, we will spend considerable time working to
ensure compliance under the new requirements to instill

investors with the utmost confidence in our information.

TECHNOLOGY

peLivering erfFiciency Commerce Bank continues its progressive approach toward technology,
making investments that benefit the Company as a whole, including its customers, employees,
and shareholders. Investments are made to drive down unit costs and to develop a platform to
service Commerce’s present and future technology requirements. Leading that strategy are Robert
Rauscher, senior vice president, Commerce Bancshares, Inc. and director, Operations and
Information Services; and Jonathan Kemper, vice chairman, Commerce Bancshares, Inc. and

chairman and CEO of Commerce Bank, Kansas City. Continued on page 16.
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QUTLOOK

We will build on our 2002 accomplishments to drive our
future course. In any type of economic or competitive envi-
ronment, our employees play the central role in our success.
Two primary factors, however, help us to achieve superior
results over the long term. First, the quality of our people
remains an important point of differentiation, and we are
keenly aware of this fact. Our senior management team
averages nearly 18 years with Commerce. We continue to
upgrade our talent pool across the Company and reinvest in
our employees. Second, we align employee interests with
those of our shareholders, as evidenced by our 13% insider
ownership. Alchough we have traditionally held ourselves to

tight corporate governance standards, we have strengthened

further our policies and procedures, augmenting our
Board’s independence and autonomy.

We believe 2003 will be a difficult operating environ-
ment with slow growth and continued market uncertainty.
However, your management team continues to focus on
long-term investments and decisions to strengthen and
expand our franchise. Our super-community banking
model shall allow us to enjoy superior growth by doing a
better job for our customers. We remain focused on achiev-
ing earnings per share growth (11% annually over the last
five years) which will allow us to grow our business, drive
our share price, and reward our shareholders. We thank you

for your continued support.

D ouid W. Rempar

David W. Kemper, Chairman

Commerce Bancshares, Inc. February 17, 2003

TOTAL SHAREHOLDER RETURN
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SUCCESS STORIES -5

ask listen solve

In order to be successful in the increasingly commoditized
financial services business, a differentiating customer expe-
rience is expected. Based on in-depth consumer studies
within each of our business lines, we crafted our brand
promise, ask listen solve, to define that customer experi-
ence. This brand promise is an explicit commitment to our
customers — that in every interaction we will ask to learn,
listen to understand, and solve to meet financial needs.

ask listen solve sets a new standard of excellence for our
existing service culture and communicates the defining
components of our super-community strategy — high-
touch service and sophisticated solutions that meet cus-
tomers' needs. As part of its 2002 introduction, expecta-
tions were set in training sessions for every employee,
empowering them to deliver on the promise and including
the execution of it in the annual review process. Delivering
the ask listen solve promise gives us a truly differentiating
competitive advantage.

The result? An experience that has resonated with our
customers, increasing overall satisfaction, improving
retention, deepening relationships, and creating new
ones. The following narratives illustrate how Commerce
delivers on our promise.




Success Story 1

PAYMENT SYSTEMS

COMMERCE BANK STRIVES TO ADD REAL VALUE THAT ENABLES US TO BE THE INTERMEDIARY —
ELECTRONIC OR PAPER — WHENEVER AND WHEREVER OUR CUSTOMERS BUY SERVICES. NATIONAL AND INTERNATIONAL
COMPANIES UTILIZE COMMERCE BANK’S PAYMENT PROCESSING SERVICES, SUCH as
CHECKING ACCOUNTS; PURCHASING, DEBIT AND CREDIT CARDS; ACH; WIRE TRANSFER; AND TREASURY SERVICES.

solve

ask listen

BUILDING ON A 30-YEAR RELATIONSHIP

Commerces 30-year banking relationship with HNTB has

grown to meet the firms financial needs even as they have

become more complex. Commerce bankers have tailored finan-
cial solutions to meet HNTB’s evolving financial challenges,
such as: streamlining cash collection and disbursement with the
implementation of image lockbox services; its line of credit has
doubled in the last five years to provide greater working capital;
computer equipment and furniture was leased to outfit new
offices; income is maximized with the help of Commerce’s
Capital Markets Group; and employees take advantage of
Benefits Banking. Pictured from left is the Commerce Bank
team for HNTB: Dorinda Emerson, vice president, Benefits
Banking; Thomas Reynolds, vice president, Equipment
Leasing; Peter Shriver, vice president and manager,
Commercial; Kim Bienhoff, vice president, Capital Markets
Group; and Jeff Fahler, vice president, Treasury Services.

Armed Forces Insurance Exchange (AFI), head-
quartered in Leavemworth, Kansas, is dedi-
cated to uniformed service members and their
Jamilies. AFI bas taken advantage of every new
sechnology solution Commerce has developed,
For example, AFI manages irs working capital

with Commerce Connections, an Internet-
based cash management system. Picrured from
left are Colonel Steve Kempf, retived president,
and Colonel Tom Diales, current president.

Enterprise Rent-A-Car is headguartered in
St. Louis and has more than 5,000 offices
located throughout the United States and
abroad. Commerce, with our numerous prod-
ucts, solves many financial needs of
Enterprise. One example being, Enterprise
uses the Commerce Bank Fleet Card in order
to effectively manage and control irs fleer
expenses. It is a single card capable of meeting
multi-use purchasing and reporting needs.

Metropolitan Life Small Business Center
(SBC) chose Commerce for lockbox remit-
tance processing, imaging rtechnology, and
payment services. MetLife SBC provides
insurance to small- and mid-size companies.
Pictured from left are Martin . Fuller, vice
president, SBC  Administration  and
Operations; Mark G. Dobson, director, SBC
Administration, Tampa; and Cheryl A. Luzz,
director, SBC Administration, Kansas City.




DESIGNING .
INFRASTRUCTURE
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;' HNTB Corporatior. is a national infrastruc-
i ture firm with more than 3,000 architecture,
_— engineering, pla.nnin& ‘and construction man-

} agement persopnel: The Kansas City, Missouri,
firm provides multidisciplinary services to
clients in the United States and abroad from 60
design and project offices nationwide. Pictured
from left are Ken Graham, president, HNTB
Corporation; Harvey Hammond, chairman of
the board, HNTB, Ltd.; Paul Yarossi, CEO,
HNTRB, Ltd.; Kevin McDonald, Southeast

tor of corporate development.
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Division president; and Ed McSpendon, direc- -




Kathleen and Scott Hummel, pictured here,
are dedicated to helping some of the most

vulnerable children in the St. Louis commu-
nity. In 1989, the Hummels began laying the
groundwork for the establishment of Qur
Licde Haven, a not-for-profit organization
that is one of the few residential treatment
facilities in the country that serves abused,
drug-exposed, and HIV-positive children ages
birth o five years. Commerce recently award-
ed the couple its Community Service Award
and a grant in support of Cur Litte Haven.




DELIVERING ON OUR PROMISE TO MAKE MEANINGFUL CONTRIBUTIONS

Success Story 2

GROWING the COMMUNITY

AS A CORPORATE CITIZEN, THE BANK AND OUR EMPLOYEES STRIVE TO
MAKE A DIFFERENCE, SUSTAINING ECONOMIC GROWTH anp MAINTAINING THE
OVERALL QUALITY OF LIFE IN THE COMMUNITIES WE SERVE.

ask listen solve

SUPPORTING MUSEUM EDUCATION

e
MUSeum /S Perm — -

The Association of Fundraising Professionals (AFP) recog-

nized the Illinois region of Commerce Bank for its continual

contribution to several causes in central Illinois. Pictured
from left, Joe Henderson, community president of
Commerce Bank, Peoria, and Andrew Anderson, senior vice
president, Commerce Bancshares, Inc. and chairman, presi-
dent and CEO of Commerce Bank, Illinois. They are shown

visiting the Lakeview Museum of Arts & Sciences, where

ol

Commerce has sponsored exhibits regularly and has made
donations in support of the museum’s ongoing educational
programs. One norminator noted, “Commerce Bank exempli-
fles good corporate citizenship. Our community is enriched
by the involvement and leadership provided by Commerce
Bank and its employees.”

Debbi Riess-Roam and Kim Roam exhibit a

The Commerce Bancshares Foundations

Commerce Bank is committed to creating an

donation to the Missouri Botanical Garden is
designed to enbance the quality of life in
St. Louss, while advancing the Garden's
initiatives in education, research, and local
economic development. Pictured here is
Dr. Luther Williams, the William T. Kemper
director of Education and Interpretation and
senior advisor to the director of the Garden.

tremendous commitment to several commi-
nity organizations in their home of Blue
Springs, Missouri. The Roams directed their
Commerce Community Service Award grant
to St. Mary’s Hospital of Blue Springs, which
helped to fund the expansion of the bospitals

emergency room.

environment that inspires and enables
employees to volunteer in the communities
where they live and work. Along with their
families, Commerce Bank employees, from
tellers to bank presidents, participated in The
Kansas City Chapter of the Juvenile Diabetes
Research Foundations (JDRF) “Walk To
Cure Diabetes” held ar the Kansas Speedway.




DELIVERING ON QUR PROMISE FOR VALUE

Success Story 3

PRIVATE BANKING

PRIVATE BANKING SIMPLIFIES FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT FOR AFFLUENT INDIVIDUALS AND
THEIR FAMILIES. COMMERCE COMBINES THE STRENGTH AND DEPTH OF OUR TRADITIONAL BANKING
SOLUTIONS WITH A HIGHLY PERSONAL, TEAM APPROACH, RESULTING IN A BANKING

EXPERIENCE OF UNPARALLELED CONVENIENCE WITH A TRUSTED ADVISOR.

ask listen solve

TEAM SOLUTIONS TO PRIVATE BANKING

)

1 [TRIBUNER)

Tribune Publishing Company is an offset
commercial printing company located in
Columbia, Missouri. Its clients include
regional and local businesses, as well as
national publications, such as The New
York Times. Pictured here is Jack Waters,
president of Tribune Publishing and a
Commerce customer who relies on
Commerce for his personal and business

banking needs.

Bloomingron Radiology services two hospizals
in the community. Several parters, includ-
ing Dr. William L. Ray pictured here, were
pleased with Private Banking and moved the
business banking to Commerce as well. Their
private banker, in concert with experts from
Commercial Lending and Treasury Services,
provided sophisticated solutions to solve the
financial needs of the practice.

Private Banking coordinates its customers’ needs and consol-
idates their investments, borrowing, and banking in one
place. We help solve our customers’ financial planning
requirements with a range of banking services, including
sophisticated credit services, personalized mortgages, truse,
and estate planning. Glenn Larson is president of the region-
al Peterbilt dealership in Springfield, Missouri. Pleased with
how Commerce solved the sophisticated financial needs of
his business and family, he turned to Commerce with the
desire to own a farm. Pictured from the lefr is the Peterbilt
banking team in Springfield, Missouri: Whitney Morrow,
vice president and manager, Treasury Services; Cord Polen,
executive vice president and manager, Commercial Loans;
Robin Robeson, senior vice president and market executive,
The Commerce Trust Company; and John Himmel, chair-
man of Commerce Bank, Springfield.

Sam, Debby, Sarah, and Larry Ross,
pictured from left, found themselves on unfa-
miliar ground with both assets and complex
long-term needs after Larry’s involvement in
an auto accident. By getting to know the
Jamily and their needs, Commerce created a
long-verm financial plan ro fir their siruation.
I continue to be impressed by the honesty
and integrity of Commerce in addition to the
sound advice,” said Ross.




TURNING DREAMS

INTO REALITY

more than 15 years, his Springfield, Missouri,
dealership has been serving Missouri and
Arkansas, selling and servicing the full line of
cessfully helped determine the best financing

his dream of purchasing a farm, the team suc-
method and acquis

Private Banking team at Commerce with

Peterbile trucks. When he approached his

Glenn Larson is president of one of the “Big
Six” Peterbilt dealerships in the nation. For
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Commerce_made the strategic decision to
move its entire mainframe cperation “in-
house” Completed ‘during 2002, the move
will save the Company over $7 million per
year. It provides the opportunity for upgrad-
ing service levels while caking advanwge of =
the declining cost of technology. The con- .
version was completely transparent to our
customers and achieved without any busi-
ness interruption and ahead of schedule. = ™




DELIVERING ON QUR PROMISE THROUGH EFFICIENCY

Success Story 4

TECHNOLOGY

coMMERCE DEPLOYS LEADING TECHNOLOGY SOLUTIONS THAT ENABLE THE COMPANY TO
DRIVE DOWN UNIT cosTs WHILE DELIVERING VALUE AND CONVENIENCE TO LARGE NUMBERS
OF OUR cusToMERS. WE HAVE THE EXPERTISE TO BUILD WHEN A BUY SOLUTION IS NOT
AVAILABLE THAT WILL ACHIEVE OUR BUSINESS OBJECTIVES.

ask

listen

solve

PROTECTING OUR SYSTEMS

In addition to the new Data Center, Commerce is developing our
own offsite Disaster Recovery Center capable of handling
key business or data interruptions. We instituted mirroring tech-
nology, which means that dara coexists on the mainframe and in
the Disaster Recovery Center. This development is part of
Commerce’s Business Resumption Planning, which handles
continuity planning in the case of a disaster, natural or otherwise,
and strives to protect Commerce’s systems and ability to
continue with operations. In the event of a disaster, it will take
just hours to make Commerce functional. Pictured from left is
the Information Technology team responsible for driving the
successful completion of the data center and disaster recovery
projects: Bob Sakmar, manager, Data Center Operations;
Clement Buschmann, vice president, Service Management; Jon
Benson, project manager II; C. Tom Cook, senior vice president

and CIO; and Phil Harris, vice president, Delivery Management.

Commerce’s newly implemented check imaging technology enbances
customer service functionality in backroom operations, branches,
online image delivery, and Online Banking. Resolution of inquiries
has dropped from three days to three seconds. Pictured from left, Greg
Nickle, senior vice president and manager, Irem Processing Group;
Charles Kim, executive vice president, Retail Administration,
Commerce Bancshares, Inc.; and David Roller, assistant vice presi-
dent and manager, Transit Systems Support & Development.

Commerce Bank successfully upgraded its Online Banking platform.
Added benefits include improved navigation, additional transfer
capabilities, and E-Bill service. Online Banking customer Eric Smith
of St. Louis, noted, “It is evident your company considered customer
Jeedback when designing your new system. It is exactly what I've been
looking for from an online account for a long time. Its easy vo use,

Junctional, and quick.”




Success Story 5

COMMUNITY ADVISORS

COMMUNITY ADVISORS ARE, IN EFFECT, AN EXTENSION OF OUR TEAM AND
PLAY AN INTEGRAL ROLE IN BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT WHILE HELPING PRESERVE
OUR CREDIT CULTURE. THEY SUPPORT EACH OF OUR MARKET PRESIDENTS AND PROVIDE INSIGHT AND

EXPERTISE ACROSS A VARIED SET OF INDUSTRIES, AS WELL AS THE NUANCES OF OUR LOCAL ECONOMIES.

ask

listen

solve

CONNECTING WiTH THE COMMUNITY

Fran jabara, president of Jabara Ventures Group, is a tireless
supporter of the entrepreneurial spirit and an advocate for
Commerce. A CPA by trade, Jabara was a professor for 40 years ar
Wichita State University, Wichita, Kansas, then served as dean of the
College of Business Administration. Called Wichita's best-known
businessman, Jabara is pictured on the right with John Clevenger,
president of Commerce Bank, Wichita, at Wichita State University.

At a time when many banks are dissolving their advisory boards,
Commerce otganized a new board in the high-growth area of
eastern Jackson County, joining our list of five other Kansas City
metropolitan area community advisory boards. While commu-
nity advisors’ businesses are located in eastern Jackson County
and are active in the community, they conduct business nation-
ally and internationally. These business ambassadors are a key
ingredient in our relationship with the community and an active
source of growth. Pictured on stirs from left: Jay Dorst,
Commerce Bank N.A.; Todd Gafney, Commerce Bank, N.A;
and Kim Lingle, M B L Development. Pictured back row from
left: Diane Seif, Regulatory Clinical Censultants, Inc.; Robert
Hormann, Durvet, Inc.; Mark Martin, Space Center, Kansas
City; Gary McClure, Lakewood Oaks Golf Club; Kim Roam,
Cochran, Oswald, McDonald, Roam & Moore, PC; and Jim

Denning, Discover Vision Centers.

™ o e
Sy ool )

R B. Murray Company is a _full-service commercial and industrial
real estate firm serving clients in Springfield, Missouri, and sur-
rounding areas. Now operated by second- and third-generation
Murray family members, the company is committed to helping clients
achieve immediate and ongoing goals. A long-standing community
advisor, Bob Murray continues to actively refer new business to
Commerce and is pictured on the right with Bob Hammerschmidt,
president of Commerce Bank, Springfield.
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Pictured from left are Jack Schreiber, presi-
dent of Commerce Bank, St. Louis, with
Stuart Krawll, a community advisor in the
West Group of the St. Louis Region. Krawll
is the owner of Beam Vacuum of St. Louis,
a company focused solely on central vacuum
systems. An active referrer of business to
Commerce, Krawll relays his own customer
experience to potential clients, allowing for
a greater understanding of how Commerce
solves the financial needs of individuals and

businesses.




ILLENOES

BLOOMINGTON

ANDREW ANDERSON
Commerce Bank, N.A.

MARK AREMDS
Avrends Brothers, Inc.

DALE ERNST
Farmer

GEORGE FARNSWORTH
Farnsworth Group

ROBERT FLEMING
Fleming Law Office

RONALD GUTHOFF
Guthaff & Company

PARKER KEMP
Commerce Bank, N.A.

RICHARD LENANAN
Retired

DENNIS MYERS
Myers Inc.

VINCENT ROOMNEY
Commerce Bancshares, Inc.

DAVID STARK
Stark Excavating, Inc.

EUGENE STRIEGEL
Striegel, Knobloch & Co.

PEORIA

BRUCE ALKIRE
The Finch Companies

DAMIEL ALTORFER
United Facilities

LARRY CLORE
Miulti-Ad Services, Inc.

LOWELL “BUD” GRIEVES
Mark Twain Hotels

JOSEPH KENDERSON
Commerce Bank, N.A.

JAMES MAXEY, M.D.
Orthopedic Institute of
Hlinoss

VINCENT NOCNEY

Commerce Bancshares, Inc.

GENE PETERSEN
Husch & Eppenberger, L.L.C.

TIMOTHY SHEA
Shea Property Management

THOMAS SPURGECN
Lincoln Office Supply
Company
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BUTLER COUNTY
(EL DORARQ)

EUGENE S. ADAMS
Retired

RAY &.. COMNELL
Connell & Connell

DALLAS FLOWERS
Flowers Production Co., Inc.

MARK UTECH
Commerce Bank, N.A.

BR. JACKIE VIETTE
Butler County
Community College

COLUMBUS

BILL AMYX
Investments

VAN CROSSLAND, JR.
Crossland Construction
Co., Inc.

JAY HATFIELD
Jay Hatfield Chevrolet

WESLEY C. HOUSER
Commerce Bank, N.A.

DON KIRK
H & K Campers

RICHARD LLOYD
Commerce Bank, N.A.

DOUG NEFF
Commerce Bancshares, inc.

CHARLES NORRIS
Invesements

DARRELL SHUMAKE

Attorney ar Law

GARDEN CITY

DICK FARKHAUSER
Rental Enserprises

RICHARD D. HARP
Commerce Bank, N.A.

CAVERLY HART
The Finnup Foundation

DEMMNIS KLEYSTEUBER
Kleystenber Cartle

TOM KOKSAL
Plaza Medical

DR. GRANT LARKIN
Grant Larkin, DDS

STEWART MELSON
Gibson, Mancini,
Carmichael, and Nelson, DA.

LEE REEVE
Reeve Agri Energy

MIKE REER
Southwest Feeders

ARCHIE ROONEY
Rooney Ranch, Inc.

PAT SULLIVAN
Sullivan Analytical Service, Inc.

HAYS

GENE ARGO
Midwest Energy, Inc.

JAMES W. AUBEL
A & A Coors

WILLIAN F, AUBEL
A & A Coors

JAMES BARTELS
Commerce Bank, N.A.

DON G. BICKLE
S & W Supply Co., Inc.

D.G. BICKLE, JR.
Warehouse, Inc.

DR. SJOHN JETER
Hays Medical Center

KEN JOHNSON
Allied, Inc.

VERLAND LEIKER
Commerce Bank, N.A.

JAMIES H. LINN
Retired, Commerce
Bancshares, Inc.

GARY SHORMAN
Eagle Communications, Inc.

THOMAS L. THOMAS
Commerce Bank, N.A.

VANCE WESTHUSIN
Midland Marketing
Co-op, Inc.

INDEPENDERNCE

JAMES P. KELLY
Commerce Bank, N.A.

JAMES H. LINN
Retired, Commerce
Bancshares, Inc.

ROY D. MARTIN
Retired, Farmer & Stockman

COMMUNITY ADVISORS

PHIL NEAR
Crescent Oil

DOUG NEFF
Commerce Bancshares, Inc.

WILLIAM L. (LARRY)
C'MALLEY

O Malley Equipment Company
FRED S. OSBORN
Commerce Bank, N.A.

ALBERT K. SEWELL, JR.
Commerce Brokerage
Services, Inc.

PAUL H. VIETS
Commerce Bank, N.A.

JULIE VOELKER
Commerce Bank, N.A.

RAY WOODS

Woods Lumber Company

JOHNSON COUNTY

KEVIN G. BARTH
Commerce Bank, N.A.
Commerce Bancshares, Inc.

BECKY BLABDES
Blades & Associates

THOMAS P. CARRICDO
Gill Studios Inc.

ROBERT CHOUN
Metro Air Conditioning, Inc.

ISAK FEDERMAN
F & G Investment

BiLL FERGUSON
Commerce Bank, N.A.

TODD E. GAFNEY
Commerce Bank, N.A.

LANCE W. HART
Commerce Bank, N.A.

CHRIS HERRE
Rose Construction Co., Inc.

CRAIG W. PATTERSON
Eskridge, Inc.

GREG PRIEB
Greg Prieb Homes, Inc.

EDWARD J. REARDOMN, 1
Commerce Bank, N.A.

THCOMAS G. RENDLEMAN
Trend Plastics, Inc.

THOMAS K. ROGGE
Cramer Products, Inc.

CARL E. SEATON
Seaton Van Lines, Inc.

DANIEL E. SIGHT
Sight Commercial Realry, Inc.

BRIAN SMITH
Smith & Leonard, LC

SAMUEL H. TURNER, SR.
Shawnee Mission
Medical Center

LAWRERNCE

JOHN W. BRAND, JR.
Stevens & Brand, LLP

MARTIN B. DICKINSCN, JR.
Barber, Emerson, Springer,

Zinn & Murray, L.C.

SIDNEY A. GARRETT
Brown Cargo Van

MARK GONZALES
Commerce Bank, N.A.

DONALD A. JOHNSTON
Commerce Bank, N.A.

MARTIN W. MOORE
Advanco, Inc.

EDWARD J. REARDON, 00
Commerce Bank, N.A.

DELBERT SHANKEL
University of Kansas

DAMN SEMONS
The World Company

MICHAEL TREANOR
Michael Treanor Architects

WARREN W. WEAVER
Retired, Commerce
Bancshares, Inc.

LEAVENWORTH

J. SANFORD BUSHMAN
BCC Business Services, Inc.

MORMAN B, DAWSON
Retired, Commerce

Bank, N.A.

DAVID A. GREENAMYRE
Besel Heating & Roofing

STEPHEN J. KEMPF
Retired, Armed Forces
Insurance Exchange

JAMES H. LINN
Retired, Commerce
Bancshares, Inc.



DR. JEANETTE LOZENSKI
Providence Medical Center

JOHN DOUGLAS MCCRARY
Hallmark Cards

VAN J. MEYER
Retired, Meyer Dairy

BILL PETRIE
Commerce Bank, N.A.

EDWARD J. REARDON, 1l
Commerce Bank, N.A.

JAMES R. RUCKER
Commerce Bank, N.A.

ROBERT D. SCHMITT, Il
Mr. Goodcents Subs & Pasta

MANHATTARN

JOHN CHALMERS
Kansas Stare University

DON E. COMBS
Srare Mutual Life
Insurance Company

TOM GILLER
Commerce Bank, N.A.

NEAL HELMICK
Griffith Lumber Company

JAMES H. LINN
Retired, Commerce
Bancshares, Inc.

JAMES T. MCCULLOUGH
McCullough Development, Inc.

DR. ROGER P. REITZ
Medical Associates of
Manhattan

ELEANOR G. STOLZER
Griffith Lumber Company

L.W. STOLZER
Griffith Lumber Company

KENNETH W. THOMAS
Commerce Bank, N.A.

JOHN WALTERS
Walters Morgan
Construction, Inc.

ROY WORTHINGTON
Charlson & Wilson
Bonded Abstracters

PITTSBURG

JAMES L. BELEW
Investments

DR. THOMAS W. BRYANT
Prersburg State Universizy

HARVEY R. DEAN
Pitsco, Inc.

BYRON A. DEELL
Broadway Lumber
Company

ADAM ENDICOTT
Unigue Metal
Fabrication, Inc.

C. L. FARABI
Pepsi-Cola Bortling
Company, Pirtsburg

ROBERTA A. MCNAY
Investments

DOUG NEFF
Commerce Bancshares, Inc.

RONALD L. RNODES
Rhodes Grocery, Inc.

STEVE W. SLOAN
Midwest Minerals, Ine.

MARK A. WERNER
Commerce Bank, N.A.

JUDITH A. WESTHOFF
Commerce Bank, N.A.

WENDELL L. WILKINSON
Commerce Bank, N.A.

RENC COUNTY
(HUTCHINSON)

BRETT MATTISON

Decker & Mattison Company

DR. PAMELA D. PIERCE
Reno Pathology
Associates, PA.

MIKE RINGWALD
Farmer (Ellinwood, Kan.)

JON H. STARKS
Commerce Bank, N.A.

WICKITA
STANLEY R. AMLERICH
Rancher/Farming

DR. DONALD BEGGS
Wichita State University

MICHAEL E. BUKATY
Latshaw Enterprises, Inc.

JOHN C. CLEVENGER
Commerce Bank, N.A.
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MONTE A. COOK
Commerce Bank, N.A.

THOMAS E. DONDLINGER
Dondlinger & Sons

Construction Co., Inc.

ANDREW E. GORE
Gore Oil Company

STEPHEN HAYES
The Hayes Company, Inc.

DAVID D. HODGE
Commerce Bank, N.A.

ROMALD W, HOLYT
Sedgwick County, Division
of Culture, Entertainment
& Recreation

FRAN D. JABARA
Jabara Ventures Group

PAUL D, JACKSON

Vantage Point Properties, Inc.

TOM J. KEMP
Kemp Construction, Inc.

FRITZ R. KROHMER
Commerce Bank, N.A.

SETH M. LEADBEATER
Commerce Bancshares, Inc.

DEREK L. PARK
Sandcastle Management

MARILYN B, PAULY
Commerce Bank, N.A.

CLIFFORD W. STONE
Commerce Bank, N.A.

THOMAS D, WHITE
White & Ellis Drilling, Ine.

MISSCURI

BARRY COUNTY

WILLIANM A. EASLEY, JR.
Retired, Commerce
Bank, N.A.

DONALD CUPPS,
Ellss, Cupps & Cole

JOE R. ELLIS
Retired Artorney at Law

JOHN HENBEST
Farmer

JON L. HORNER
Commerce Bank, N.A.

MIKE MCCRACKEN
Jakel Industries

EUGENE MIEKLEY
Mickley and Cupps,
DVM Office

DOUG NEFF
Commerce Bancshares, Inc.

MIKE PETRIE
Commerce Bancshares, Inc.

KEITH SHUMAKER
Shumaker Tire, Inc.

JERRY WATLEY
Able 2 Products Co.

BOLIVAR

CHARLES FRASER
Investments

MICK HOOD
Farmers Insurance Group

ROBERT MORELAND
Commerce Bank, N.A.

ED PETERSON
Century 21-Pererson
Real Fstate

GARY STEWART
Retired

DR. C. PAT TAYLOR
Southwest Baptist University

R. D. VESTAL

Vestal Equipment Co., Inc.

CAPE GIRARDEAU

STEVE BJELICR
St. Francis Medical Center

DAVID DORMEYER
Prudential Bridgeport Inc.,
Realtors

JUDY FOESTE
Kenneth E. Foeste
Masonry, Inc.

DR. JONATHAN K. FOLEY
Cape Girardeau Surgical
Clinic, Inc.

W. CLIFF FORD
Ford & Sons

Funeral Home, Inc.

ALAN GREGORY
Gregory Construction Inc.

MIKE HASTEN
Kasten Farms

JOHN LAYTON
Vogel Layton & Lewis

TODD PETZOLDT
East Perry Lumber Company

TOM REINAGEL
Kelso Supply Co., Inc.

ROGER TOLLIVER
Commerce Bank, N.A.

CENTRAL MISSOURI

DAN ATWILL
Anwill & Montgomery

TIM BRUBAKER
Commerce Bank, N.A.

MORRIS F. BURGER
Burger’s Country Cured

Hams

BRETT BURRI
Commerce Bank, N.A.

JOE HARTMAMN
Commerce Bank, N.A.

RON HOPKINS
Commerce Bank, N.A.

DR. EVELYN JORGENSON
Moberly Area Community
College

JACK W. KNIPP
Knipp Enterprises

SETH M. LEADBEATER
Commerce Bancshares, Inc.

DAVID A. MACHENS
Machens Enterprises

TERESA MALEDY
Commerce Bank, N.A.

VINCENT NOONEY
Commerce Bancshares, Inc.



MISSOURE continued
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MIKE PETRIE
Commerce Bancshares, Inc.

ROBERT K. PUGH
MBS Textbook Exchange

JAMES ROLLS
Associated Electric
Cooperative

JAMES SCHATZ
Commerce Bank, N.A.

COL. C.R. STRIBLING, il
Missouri Military Academy

MEL TOELLNER
Gold Crest Distributing &
Songbird Station

JACK WATERS
Tribune Publishing Co.

LARRY WEBBER
Webber Pharmacy

DR. JOHM S. WILLIAMS
Horton Animal Hospital

EASTERN JACKSON
COUNTY

KEVIN G. BARTH
Commerce Bancshares, Inc.
Commerce Bank, N.A.

WIiL.L COATES
Billy Goar Industries, Inc.

JIM DENNING
Discover Vision Centers

JAY E. DORST
Commerce Bank, N.A.

GORDON DOCTKING
St. Marys Hospital of
Blue Springs

TODD E. GAFNEY
Commerce Bank, N.A.

HAP GRAFF
Commerce Bank, N.A.

ROBERT HORMANN
Durvet, Inc.

KIM LINGLE
M B L Development

MARK MARTIN
Space Center - Kansas City

GARY MCCLURE
Lakewood Oaks Golf Club

DAVID ORSCHELN
Ortran, Inc. / OIX, Inc.

EDWARD J. REARDON, Il
Commerce Bank, N.A.

KIM ROAM
Cochran, Oswald, McDonald,
Roam & Moore, PC

DIANE SEIF
Regulatory Clinical
Consultants, Inc.

HANNIBAL

DAVID M. BLEIGH
Bleigh Construction Co.

JOHN C. GROSSMEIER
Hannibal Regional
Healthcare System

JEROLD W, LEE
Commerce Bank, N.A.

VINCENT NOONEY
Commerce Bancshares, Inc.

CHARLES E. RENDLEN, 100
The Rendlen Law Firm, PC.

HARRISONVILLE

ROBERT W. ATKINSON
Retired

CONNIE AVERSMAN
Commerce Bank, N.A.

MARVIN BURRIS
Retired

LARRY DOBSCN
Quality Raymore Rentals

ELVIN S. DOCUGLAS, JR.
Crouch, Spangler & Douglas

MARTIN E. ISMERT
Sioux Chief Mfg. Co., Inc.

WILLIAM JAMES
Inland Newspaper
Machinery, Corp.

WILLIAM MILLS
Family Center of
Harrisonville

J. HAROLD SMITH
J. Harold Smith Realty, Inc.

JOPLIN

DALE L. BLANCHARD
Commerce Bank, N.A.

DR. MARY BOURLAND
Heartcare & Assoc.

KEVIN R. BOWMAN
Ozark Terminal

STAN COX
O & F Machine

E. BRAD FAGAN
Fagan Electric Co.

DAVID C. HUMPHREYS
TAMKO Roofing
Products, Inc.

FANNUN A, KANAKN
Canaan Land Development

BOB LANDIS
Landis Construction

Company

BARBARA J. MAJZOUB
Yorktown Properties

DOUG NEFF
Commerce Bancshares, Inc.

FRED S. OSBORN
Commerce Bank, N.A.

PETER B. RAMSOUR
Ramsour & Son Distributing

WILLIAM M. SCRUGGS
Larry Hickey Company

RUSSELL G. SMITH, #l
May Drug Stores — Missouri
Division

KANSAS CITY

KEVIN G. BARTH

Commerce Baneshares, Inc.
Commerce Bank, N.A,

THOMAS MORTON BLOCH
University Academy

JOHN O. BROWN
Retired, Commerce
Bancshares, Inc.

LEE A. DERROUGH
Hunt Midwest
Enterprises, Inc.

EARL H. DEVANNEY, il
Cerner Corporation

STEPHEN D. DUNN
J.E. Dunn Construction
Co., Inc.

DR. MARTHA GILLILAND
University of Missouri at
Kansas City

C. L. WILLIAM HAW
National Farms, Inc.

JONATHAN M. KEMPER
Commerce Bancshares, Inc.
Commerce Bank, N.A.

JOHN T. LOCKTON, 0l
Lockton Companies, Inc.

JOHN N. MCCONNELL
Labconco Corporation

DENNIS A. MULLIN
Steel & Pipe Supply
Company, Inc.

EDWARD J. REARDON, I}
Commerce Bank, N.A.

JERRY D. REECE
Reece & Nichols

LAMSON RHEINFRANK, JR.

BHA Group Holdings, Inc.

EDWARD J. SCHIFMAN
Interconnect Devices, Inc.

LADD M. SEABERG
Midwest Grain Products, Inc.

CHARLES S. SOSLAND
Sosland Publishing Company

WARREMN W. WEAVER
Retired, Commerce
Bancshares, Inc.

HUGH J. ZIMMER

Zimmer Companies

LEBANORN
JERRY N. BENSON

Commerce Bank, N.A.

LESTER M. EVANS
Farmer

JOHN HIMMEL
Commerce Bank, N.A.

MIKE PETRIE
Commerce Bancshares, Inc.

DAN M. WATERMAN
CPA

POPLAR BLUFF

BILL R. BRANDT
Commerce Bank, N.A.

LARRY COTRELL
Cotrell Funeral Chapel

LUTHER P. GODWIN
Ozark Ridge Golf Course

BOB GREER
John M. Greer
Construction Co.

LARRY HILLIS
Larry Hillis Chrysler-
Plymouth-Dodge-Jeep

JAMES P. MCLANE
McLane Livestock
Transport Co.

MARY A. PHYFER
Three Rivers Community
College

BEN N. TiLL, M.D.
Kneibert Clinic/DRMC

ROGER L. TOLLIVER
Commerce Bank, N.A.

ST. JOSEPH

ROBERT J. BROWN, JR.
Robert J. Brown Lumber
Company

JAMES H. COUNTS
Attorney at Law

RICHARD N. DESHON
Artesian lce & Cold Storage

PAT DILLON
Dillon Company

KAREN M. GRAVES
Civic Leader

WILLIAM J. HURLEY
Smurfi/Stone Container
Corporation

LARRY R. MUCK
Cormmerce Bank, N.A.

KEVIN J. O'MALLEY
O'Malley Beverage, Inc.

EDWARD J. REARDON, i
Commerce Bank, N.A.

P. GORDON ROBASKA
Missourt Western State
College

ERIL H. SECHTER
Commerce Bank, N.A.

E. PAT SPEISER
Commerce Bank, N.A.

STEVE SCHRAM
Agri-Laboratories Ltd.

ST. LOUIS METRO

DOUGLAS A. ALBRECHT
Cenrric Group

ADRIAN M. BAKER, it
Adrian Baker & Co.



JAMES K. BERTHOLD
Sunnen Products Company

JOSEPH FORSHAW, IV
Forshaw of St. Louis

JAMES G. FORSYTH, [il
Moto, Inc.

JUANITA HINSHAW
Graybar Electric Company

DAVID W. KEMPER
Commerce Bancshares, Inc.

ALOIS J. KOLLER JR.
Koller Enterprises, Inc.

SETH M. LEADBEATER
Commierce Bancshares, Inc.

RONALD K. LOHR
Lohr Distributing Co., Inc.

JOHN B. MIORGAN
Subsurface Constructors, Inc.

THOMAS Ri. NOONAN
Commerce Bank, N.A.

JEROME M. RUBENSTEIN
Bryan Cave, LLP

STEVEN F. SCHANKMAN
Contemporary Productions,
LLC

JAMES. E. SCHIELE

Park Ohio

Structural Hardware

St. Louis Screw ¢ Bolr Co.

JACK SCKREIBER
Commerce Bank, N.A.

WILLIAM A. SULLINS, JR.
Commerce Baneshares, Inc.

FRANK R. TRULASKE, Il
True Fitness Technology

GREGORY B. VATTEROTT
Charles E Vatterorr &
Company

EARL E. WALKER
Carr Lane Manufacturing Co.

KELVIN R. WESTBROOKXK
Millennium Digital Media

ST. Louls
CENTRALNORTH

CYRUS BLACKMORE
Blackmore & Glunt, Inc.

HERBERT S. JONES
Messenger Printing &
Publishing, Inc.
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DANIEL LEACH
PM. Leach Painting
Company

STEPHEN MATTIS
Allied Industrial
Equipment Corporation

LISA D. MCLAUGHLIN
Lewss, Rice & Fingersh, L.C.

RICHARD C. MUELLER, JR.
Bopp Funeral Chapel

CARL A. RAUSCH
Lutheran Senior Services

GREG W. SCHMITTGENS
Humes & Barrington, PC.

DON ZYKAN
Valley Bistro Cafe

ST. LOUIS SOUTH

DR. MARIA C. ALBANO
Physician

MICHAEL D. ALLEN
Pro Vision Center

CHARLES H. BAECHLE
Plastic Veneers, Inc.

DONALD E. HAWKINS
8-D Corporation

JOHN W. HOWALD
Thurman, Howald, Weber,

Senkel & Norrick,
Ateorneys ar Law

LOVIS J. NAEGER
Louis J. Naeger & Associates

LEE THURMARN
Thurman, Shinn
and Company

ST. LOUIS WEST

RICHARD K. BRUNK
Attorney at Law

JAMES N. FOSTER, JR.
McMahon, Berger, Hanna,
Linihan, Cody & McCarthy

RICHARD E. HRABKO
Spirit of St. Louts Asrport

STUART KRAWLL
Beam of St. Louis, Inc.

GARY OLSON
St. Lukes Hospiral

JIM SHUBERT
Shubert Design
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LAWRENCE J. SIEGEL
Hochschild, Bloom
& Co., LLP

BiLL VoSS
American Family Insurance

EAST ST. LOULS

TINO DIFRANCO
Lucky Strike Bowling Lanes

REV. WILLIAM G. GILLESPIE
Core Brilliante
Prestyrerian Church

J. L. (JUGGIE) HINDUJA
Sinclair Industries, Inc.

MICHAEL E. KEMNEDY
Kennedy Associates, Inc.

MYRON J. KLEVENS
Restaurant Consulting, Inc.

VICTORIA NELSON
Girls, Inc.

THOMAS W. PURCELL
Laclede’s Landing

RICHARD C. WARD
Development Strategies, Inc.

ST. CHARLES
COUNTY

THCMAS J. BARKLAGE
The Barklage Law Firm

DAVID R. DEMIEN
Demien Construction
Company

KEVIN F. KAST

SSM St. Joseph Health
Center and St. Joseph
Hospiral West

PETER J. MIHELICH, JR.
Goellner Printing and

Office Supply

TARLTON J. PITMAN
Pitman Funeral Home, Inc.

BRENDA WETTER WARD
Hackmann Lumber

Company

WILLIAM J. ZOLLMANN, 11}
Attorney at Law

SPRINGFIELD

ROGER CAMPBELL
Campbell Ford-Mercury, Inc.

KENNETH L. CARTER
Rankin Company

JOKN COX
Commerce Bank, N.A.

LESTER B. COX
Modern Tractor &
Supply Co.

STEVE ECFF
D & E Plumbing & Heating

JOE C. GREENE
Husch & Eppenberger, LLP

BUNCH GREENWADE
G & H Consractors, LLC/
Rancher

ROBERT A.
HAMMERSCHMIDT, JR.
Commerce Bank, N.A.

JOHN HIMMEL
Commerce Bank, N.A.

SETH M. LEADBEATER
Commerce Bancshares, Inc.

MARY KAY MEEK
Tiy-Meek, Inc.

ALVIN D. MEEKER
Commerce Bank, N.A.

JAMES F. MOORE
Tnvestments

ROBERT B. MURRAY, JR.
R. B. Murray Company

KEITH NOBLE
Commerce Bank, N.A.

RICHARD OLLIS
Ollis & Company Insurers

CORD POLEN
Commerce Bank, N.A.
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ANDREW S. KAPLAN
Vice President
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Item 1. BUSINESS

General

Commerce Bancshares, Inc. (the “Company”), a bank holding company as defined in the Bank Holding
Company Act of 1956, as amended, was incorporated under the laws of Missouri on August 4, 1966. The
Company presently owns all of the outstanding capital stock of four national banking associations, which
are headquartered in Missouri, Illinois, Kansas, and Nebraska. The Nebraska bank is limited in its
activities to the issuance of credit cards. The remaining three banking subsidiaries engage in general
banking business, providing a broad range of retail, corporate, investment and private banking preducts
and services to individuals and businesses. The Company also owns, directly or through its banking
subsidiaries, varicus non-banking subsidiaries. Their activities include owning real estate leased to the
Company’s banking subsidiaries, underwriting credit life and credit accident and health insurance, selling
property and casualty insurance (relating to consumer loans made by the banking subsidiaries), venture
capital investment, securities brokerage, mortgage banking, and leasing activities. The Company owns two
second tier holding companies that are the direct owners of several of the above mentioned banks. The
table setting forth the names and locations of the Company’s subsidiaries is included as Exhibit 21 hereto.

The Company is the largest bank holding company headquartered in Missouri. At December 31, 2002,
the Company had consolidated assets of $13.3 billion, loans of $7.9 billion, deposits of $9.9 billion, and
equity of $1.4 billion. Its principal offices are located at 1000 Walnut, Kansas City, Missouri (telephone
number 816-234-2000). The Company makes available free of charge, through its web site at
www.commercebank.com, reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission as soon as reasona-
bly practicable after the electronic filing. These filings include the annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports.

The Company’s Missouri bank charter is its largest, with total assets of $11.2 billicn and offices in both
Missouri and Kansas. The Missouri bank charter comprises approximately 84% of the banking assets of
the Company. The Company’s bank charters in Kansas and Illinois operate within each of the states and
have total assets of $1.2 billion and $914 million, respectively. The Kansas banking charter has significant
operations and banking facilities mainly in the areas of Wichita, Hays, and Garden City, Kansas, along
with facilities in the southeast Kansas area. The Illinois banking charter operates mainly in the Peoria and
Bloomington, Illinois, areas.

The markets these three banking charters serve, being centrally located in the Midwest, provide
natural sites for production and distribution facilities and also serve as transportation hubs. The economy
has been well-diversified with many major industries represented, including telecommunications, automo-
bile manufacturing, aircraft manufacturing, numerous service industries, food production and agricultural
production and related industries. The markets served by the Illinois bank are located in an area with
some of the best land in the world for crop production. The three banking charters operate in areas with
stable real estate markets, which in the past have avoided the volatile prices that cther parts of the
country have experienced.

The Company regularly evaluates the potential acquisition of, and holds discussions with, various
financial institutions eligible for bank holding company ownership or contrel. In addition, the Company
regularly considers the potential disposition of certain of its assets and branches. The Company acquired
The Vaughn Group, Inc. (Vaughn), a Cincinnati-based leasing company, on January 2, 2003. Vaughn has a
lease portfolio of approximately $39 million, consisting mainly of data processing hardware. In addition,
Vaughn services approximately $425 million of lease agreements for other institutions involving capital
equipment ranging from production machinery to transportation equipment. The Company’s most recent
bank acquisition was in March 2001, when Breckenridge Bancshares Company and its subsidiary, Centen-
nial Bank, were acquired. For additicnal information on these acquisitions and other branch disposition
activity, refer to pages 8 and 46.




Operating Segments

The Company is managed in three operating segments. The Consumer segment includes the retail
branch network, consumer installment lending, bankecard, student lending, and discount brokerage ser-
vices. It provides services through a network of 191 full-service branches, an extensive ATM network, and
the use of alternative delivery channels such as PC Banking and telephone banking. In 2002, this segment
contributed 48% of total segment pre-tax income. The Commercial segment provides a full array of
corporate lending, leasing, and international services, as well as business, government deposit and cash
management services. In 2002, it contributed 41% of total segment pre-tax income. The Money Manage-
ment segment provides traditional trust and estate tax planning services, and advisory and discretionary
investment portfolio management services. This segment also manages the Company’s family of proprie-
tary mutual funds, which are available for sale to both trust and general retail customers. Fixed income
investments are sold to individuals and institutional investors through the Capital Markets group, which
is also included in this segment. At December 31, 2002, the Money Management segment managed
investments with a market value of $9.3 billion and administered an additional $7.4 billion in non-
managed assets. Additional information relating to operating segments can be found on pages 28 and 60.

Supervision and Regulation

The Company, as a bank holding company, is primarily regulated by the Board of Governors of the
Federal Reserve System under the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956 (BHC Act). Under the BHC Act the
Federal Reserve Board’s prior approval is required in any case the Company proposes to acquire all or
substantially all of the assets of any bank, acquire direct or indirect ownership or control of more than 5%
of the voting shares of any bank, or merge or consolidate with any other bank holding company. The BHC
Act also prohibits, with certain exceptions, the Company from acquiring direct or indirect ownership or
control of more than 5% of any class of voting shares of any nonbanking company. Under the BHC Act, the
Company may not engage in any business other than managing and controlling banks or furnishing
certain specified services to subsidiaries and may not acquire voting control of nonbanking companies
unless the Federal Reserve Board determines such businesses and services to be closely related to banking.
When reviewing bank acquisition applications for approval, the Federal Reserve Board considers, among
other things, each subsidiary bank’s record in meeting the credit needs of the communities it serves in
accordance with the Community Reinvestment Act of 1977, as amended (CRA). The Missouri, Kansas and
Nebraska bank charters have current CRA ratings of “outstanding”, and the Illinois charter has a “satis-
factory” rating.

The Company is required to file with the Federal Reserve Board various reports and such additional
information as the Federal Reserve Board may require. The Federal Reserve Board also makes regular
examinations of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Company’s four banking subsidiaries are organized
as national banking associations and are subject to regulation, supervision and examination by the Office
of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC). All banks are also subject to regulation by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation. In addition, there are numercus other federal and state laws and regulations
which control the activities of the Company and its banking subsidiaries, including requirements and
limitations relating to capital and reserve requirements, permissible investments and lines of business,
transactions with affiliates, loan limits, mergers and acquisitions, issuance of securities, dividend pay-
ments, and extensions of credit. This regulatory framework is intended primarily for the protection of
depositors and the preservation of the federal deposit insurance funds, and not for the protection of
security holders. Statutory and regulatory controls increase a bank holding company’s cost of doing
business and limit the options of its management to employ assets and maximize income.

Under Federal Reserve policy, the Company is expected to act as a source of financial strength to each
of its bank subsidiaries and to commit resources to support each bank subsidiary in circumstances when it
might not otherwise do so. The Federal Reserve Board may prohibit the payment of dividends by bank
holding companies if their actions constitute unsafe or unsound practices. The OCC limits the payment of
dividends by bank subsidiaries in any calendar year to the net profit of the current year combined with the
retained net profits of the preceding two years. The payment of dividends by the bank subsidiaries may
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also be affected by factors such as the maintenance of adequate capital. At December 31, 2002, all of the
subsidiary banks were “well-capitalized” under regulatory capital adequacy standards, as further dis-
cussed on page 62.

These laws and regulations are under constant review by various agencies and legislatures, and are
subject to sweeping change. The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Financial Modernization Act of 1999 (GLB Act)
contained major changes in laws that previously kept the banking industry largely separate from the
securities and insurance industries. The GLB Act authorized the creation of a new kind of financial
institution, known as a “financial holding company” and a new kind of bank subsidiary called a “financial
subsidiary”, which may engage in a broader range of investment banking, insurance agency, brokerage,
and underwriting activities. The GLB Act also included privacy provisions that limit banks’ abilities to
disclose non-public information about customers to non-affiliated entities. Banking organizations are not
required to become financial holding companies, but instead may continue to operate as bank holding
companies, providing the same services they were authorized to provide prior to the enactment of the
GLB Act.

In addition to its regulatory powers, the Federal Reserve impacts the conditions under which the
Company operates by its influence over the national supply of bank credit. The Federal Reserve Board
employs open market operations in U.S. Government securities, changes in the discount rate on bank
borrowings, changes in the federal funds rate on overnight inter-bank borrowings, and changes in reserve
requirements on bank deposits in implementing its monetary policy objectives. These instruments are used
in varying combinations to influence the overall level of the interest rates charged on loans and paid for
deposits, the price of the dollar in foreign exchange markets and the level of inflation. The monetary
policies of the Federal Reserve have had a significant effect on the operating results of financial institu-
tions in the past, most notably the strong decrease in interest rates which occurred in 2001 and the low
rate environment in 2002. In view of changing conditions in the national economy and in the money
markets, as well as the effect of credit policies of monetary and fiscal authorities, no prediction can be
made as to possible future changes in interest rates, deposit levels or loan demand, or their effect on the
financial statements of the Company.

Competition

The Company’s locations in regional markets throughout Missouri, Kansas and central Illinois face
intense competition from hundreds of financial service providers. The Company competes with national
and state banks for deposits, loans and trust accounts, and with savings and loan associations and credit
unions for deposits. In addition, the Company competes with other financial intermediaries such as
securities brokers and dealers, personal loan companies, insurance companies, finance companies, and
certain governmental agencies. The methods of competition center around various factors, such as cus-
tomer services, interest rates on loans and deposits, lending limits and customer convenience, such as
location of offices. The passage of the GLB Act, which removed barriers between banking and the securities
and insurance industries, has resulted in greater competition among these industries.

Employees

The Company and its subsidiaries employed 4,437 persons on a full-time basis and 773 persons on a
part-time basis at December 31, 2002. The Company provides a variety of benefit programs including
retirement and stock ownership plans as well as group life, health, accident, and other insurance. The
Company also maintains training and educational programs designed to prepare employees for positions of
increasing responsibility.

-
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Statistical Disclosure

The information required by Securities Act Guide 3 — “Statistical Disclosure by Bank Holding Compa-
nies” is located on the pages noted below.

Page
1. Distribution of Assets, Liabilities and Stockholders’
Equity; Interest Rates and Interest Differential 10, 32-35
II. Investment Portfolio 21-22, 49-50
ITIT. Loan Portfolio

Types of Loans 14

Maturities and Sensitivities of Loans to Changes in
Interest Rates 15
Risk Elements 20-21
IV. Summary of Loan Loss Experience 17-19
V. Deposits 27, 32-33
VI. Return on Equity and Assets 7
VII. Short-Term Borrowings 53

Item 2. PROPERTIES

The Missouri, Illinois, and Kansas bank subsidiaries maintain their main offices in various multi-story
office buildings. These are owned by the bank or a subsidiary of the bank. The banks lease unoccupied
premises to the public. The buildings, located in the downtown areas of the major market they serve,

include:

Net rentable % occupied % occupied
Building square footage in total by bank
922 Walnut 276,000 49%* 47%
Kansas City, MO
1000 Walnut 384,000 86 53
Kansas City, MO
720 Main ' 180,000 100 100
Kansas City, MO
8000 Forsyth 197,000 91 89
Clayton, MO
416 Main 224,000 87 25
Peoria, IL
150 N. Main 191,000 88 53
Wichita, KS
* An historical renovation was recently completed on this office building, which was re-opened in

October 2002.

The Nebraska credit card bank leases its offices in Omaha, Nebraska. Additionally, certain other
installment loan and credit card functions operate out of leased offices in downtown Kansas City. The
Company also has 185 branch locations in Missouri, lllinois and Kansas which are owned or leased, and an
additional 148 off-site ATM locations.

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The information required by this item is set forth in Item 8 under the caption “Commitments and
Contingencies” on page 67.




Item 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted during the fourth quarter of 2002 to a vote of security holders through the

solicitation of proxies or otherwise.

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER

PART II

MATTERS

Commerce Bancshares, Inc.
Common Stock Data

The following table sets forth the high and low prices of actual transactions for the Company’s common
stock (CBSH) and cash dividends paid for the periods indicated (restated for the 5% stock dividend
distributed in December 2002).

Commerce Bancshares, Inc. common shares are publicly traded on The Nasdag Stock Market (NAS-
DAQ). NASDAQ is a highly-regulated electronic securities market comprised of competing Market Makers
whose trading is supported by a communications network linking them te quotation dissemination, trade
reporting, and order execution systems. The Company had 5,081 shareholders of record as ¢f December 31,

2002.

Cash
Quarter High Low Dividends
2002 First $42.44 $35.81 $.155
Second 44.62 40.29 185
Third 42,61 34.80 1558
Fourth 41.47 32.97 155
2001 First $39.57 $30.50 $.145
Second 34.64 29.86 145
Third 36.86 31.82 .145
Fourth 37.14 3141 .145
2000 First $29.80 $22.78 $.134
Second 30.91 25.48 134
Third 32.50 25.70 134
Fourth 38.78 30.02 .134




Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The required information is set forth below in Item 7.

Item 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSICN AND ANALYSIS OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

CONDPITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and related notes. The historical trends reflected in the financial information presented below
are not necessarily reflective of anticipated future results.

Key Ratios
(Based on average balance sheets): 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Return on total assets 1.81% 1.55% 1.62% 1.50% 1.43%
Return on stockholders’ equity 1477 14.88 16.22 1540 14.58
Tier I capital ratio 12,67 1228 12.04 11.68 11.30
Total capital ratio 14.08 13.64 13.36 12.99 1259
Leverage ratio i0.18 981 991 917 880
Efficiency ratio 57.84 58.10 58.45 5939 58.36
Loans to deposits 7829 8249 8726 7794 7524
Net yield on interest earning assets (tax equivalent basis) 439 435 474 462 4.57
Non-interest bearing deposits to total deposits 996 11.63 14.89 1482 18.50
Equity to total assets 10.92 1042 999 972 983
Cash dividend payout ratio 21.42 22.33 21.38 22.05 2281
Selected Financial Data
(In thousands, except per share data) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Net interest income 489,965 468,775 $ 481,646 $ 467,184 $ 429,579
Provision for loan losses 34,108 36,423 35,159 35,335 36,874
Non-interest income 280,572 274,999 255,636 239,134 213,023
Non-interest expense 452,927 437,990 434,202 423,123 380,164
Net income 199,498 181,974 178,574 166,213 150,091
Net income per share-basic* 2.93 2.63 2.53 2.27 2.02
Net income per share-diluted* 2.89 2.60 2.51 2.24 1.99
Cash dividends 42,185 40,254 37,613 36,054 33,742
Cash dividends per share* B1Y .580 .536 494 454
Market price per share* 39.28 37.13 38.55 29.26 34.96
Book value per share* 21.13 18.54 16.59 14.95 14.54
Common shares outstanding® 87,030 68,637 68,830 72,206 74,340
Total assets 13,308,418 12,908,146 11,120,741 11,408,576 11,412,102
Loans 7,875,844 7,638,482 7,906,665 7,676,892 7,046,852
Investment securities 4,275,248 3,732,257 1,956,084 2,524,383 3,052,159
Deposits 9,913,311 10,031,885 9,079,282 9,163,357 9,529,640
Long-term debt 338,457 392,586 124,684 25,735 27,130
Stockholders’ equity 1,416,337 1,272,483 1,143,755 1,079,832 1,080,785
Non-performing assets 28,539 30,768 21,324 14,326 20,352
* Restated for the 5% stock dividend distributed in December 2002.
Results of Operations

$ Change % Change
(Dollars in thousands) 2062 2001 2000 6201 '01-00 0261 ’01-00
Net interest income $ 499,965 §$ 468,775 $ 481,646 $31,196 $(12,871) 8.7% (2.1%
Provision for loan losses (34,108) (36,423) (35,158) (2,315) 1,264 (8.4) 3.6
Non-interest income 280,572 274,999 255,636 5,573 19,363 2.0 7.6
Non-interest expense (452,927) (437,990) (434,202) 14,937 3,788 3.4 .9
Income taxes (94,004) (87,387) (88,347) 6,817 (1,960) 7.6 (2.2)
Net income $ 199,498 §$ 181,974 $ 178,574 $17524 $ 3,400 8.6% 1.9%




Commerce Bancshares, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) announced record earnings in 2002 of
$199.5 million, an increase of $17.5 million, or 9.6%, over last year. This was the eighteenth consecutive
year of record earnings for the Company. Earnings per share on a fully diluted basis amounted to $2.89 in
2002 compared with $2.60 last year, or an increase of 11.2%. Return on assets amounted to 1.61%
compared with 1.55% last year and the return on equity totaled 14.71% compared to 14.88% last year. The
efficiency ratio was 57.94% in 2002 compared with 58.10% in 2001.

The increase in net income over the previous year resulted from strong growth in net interest income
of $31.2 million, or 6.7%, coupled with lower credit costs and good expense management. Non-interest
income increased a modest 2.0% while non-interest expense grew by 3.4%. The provision for loan losses
totaled $34.1 million and was 6.4% less than amounts recorded in the prior year. Net interest income grew
mainly as a result of the continued re-pricing of deposit products, especially certificates of deposit, and
overall growth in earning assets. The growth in non-interest income occurred mainly as a result of deposit
account fees (up 8.1%), credit card fees (up 6.0%) and higher fees earned on bond and brokerage fees, offset
by lower trust fees. Non-interest expense grew a modest 3.4% mainly as a result of growth in salaries and
benefits of 6.1%, occupancy of 8.1% and higher costs for equipment and marketing. Offsetting these were
lower costs for data processing, supplies, and goodwill amortization.

Net income in 2001 was $182.0 million, which was a 1.9% increase compared to 2000. Diluted earnings
per share was $2.60, an increase of 3.6% over 2000. The increase in net income over 2000 resulted from
7.6% growth in non-interest income and good control over non-interest expense. Net interest income
declined 2.7% because of the slowing economy and strong interest rate reductions by the Federal Reserve.
During 2001, the Federal Reserve reduced the federal funds target rate eleven times in an effort to
stimulate a slowing economy. These actions had the related effect of reducing the prime rate from 8.5% in
early January 2001 to 4.75% by year end. The rate reductions caused a significant portion of the Com-
pany’s earning assets to reprice downward faster than its interest bearing liabilities, resulting in lower net
interest income. Non-interest income rose $19.4 million over 2000, mainly in the areas of deposit account
charges, trust fees, and trading account profits. Non-interest expense increased $3.8 million, or .9%, and
included a 7.0% increase in salaries and employee benefits. The provision for lecan losses was $1.3 million
higher than in the previous year mainly as a result of higher commercial loan losses.

Effective January 2003, the Company acquired The Vaughn Group, Inc. (Vaughn), a leasing company
based in Cincinnati, Chio. Vaughn is a direct lessor with a lease portfolio of approximately $39 million
consisting mainly of data processing hardware. In addition, Vaughn services approximately $425 million of
lease agreements for other institutions, which involve capital equipment, ranging from production machin-
ery to transportation equipment. The Company issued a combination of cash and stock to complete this
purchase.

In March 2001, the Company acquired Breckenridge Bancshares Company and its subsidiary, Centen-
nial Bank. The bank had three locations in the St. Louis area, with assets of $254 million, loans of
$189 million, and deposits of $216 million. Common stock valued at $34.4 million was issued by the
Company as consideration in the transaction. The acquisition was accounted for as a pooling of interests
transaction; however, the Company’s financial statements were not restated because restated amounts did
not differ materially from historical results.

The Company continually evaluates its network of bank branches throughout Missouri, Kansas and
Illinois. As a result, the Company sold two bank branches and a separate branch facility during 2002. Pre-
tax gains of $2.4 million were realized on these sales. These locations had loans of $15.0 million, deposits of
$38.4 million, and premises of $2.9 million. In 2001, the Company sold the assets and liabilities of one bank
branch and the premises of two other branches. Pre-tax gains of $2.2 million were realized on the 2001
sales, which included loans of $662 thousand, deposits of $5.3 million, and premises of $714 thousand.
During 2000, the Company sold four bank branches with $42.7 million in loans and $71.5 million in
deposits. Pre-tax gains of $5.9 million were realized on the 2000 transactions.

During 2002, the Company’s investment in a venture capital limited partnership, previously ac-
counted for on the equity method, was reclassified as a consolidated subsidiary. Financial statements for
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prior periods were also reclassified. At December 31, 2002, the partnership had assets of $9.8 million and
no outstanding debt. Limited partnership interests of 47% are held by outside investors. While there was
no change to net income, the effect of the reclassification on the 2001 consolidated statement of income was
to increase net interest income $865 thousand, decrease non-interest income $2.513 million, and decrease
other non-interest expense $1.648 million. The effect of the reclassification on the 2000 consolidated
statement of income was to increase net interest income $993 thousand, increase non-interest income
$2.828 million, and increase other non-interest expense $3.821 million.

The Company distributed a 5% stock dividend for the ninth consecutive year on December 13, 2002,
All per share and average share data in this report has been restated to reflect the 2002 stock dividend.

Critical Accounting Policies

Critical accounting policies are those which are both most important to the portrayal of the Company’s
financial condition and results, and require management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgments,
often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain.
The Company’s critical accounting policies relate to the allowance for loan losses, the valuation of certain
non-marketable investments, and accounting for income taxes, all of which involve significant judgment by
management.

The Company performs periodic and systematic detailed reviews of its lending portfolio to assess
overall collectability. The level of the allowance for loan losses reflects the Company’s estimate of the
collectability of the loan portfolio. While these estimates are based on substantive methods for determining
allowance requirements, nevertheless, actual outcomes may differ significantly from estimated results.
Extensive explanation of the methodologies used in establishing this reserve is provided in the Allowance
for Loan Losses section of this discussion.

The Company, through its Small Business Investment subsidiaries, has numerous private equity and
venture capital investments, which totaled $25.5 million at December 31, 2002. These private equity and
venture capital securities are reported at estimated fair values in the absence of readily ascertainable fair
values. Management believes that the cost of an investment is initially the best indication of estimated fair
value unless there has been significant subsequent positive or negative developments that justify an
adjustment to the fair value estimate. The values assigned to these securities where no market quotations
exist are based upon available information and management’s judgment. Although management believes
its estimates of fair value reasonably and conservatively reflect the fair value of these securities, key
assumptions regarding the projected financial performance of these companies, the evaluation of the
investee company’s management team, and other economic and market factors may affect the amounts
that will ultimately be realized from these investments.

The objectives of accounting for income taxes are to recognize the amount of taxes payable or refund-
able for the current year and deferred tax liabilities and assets for the future tax consequences of events
that have been recognized in an entity’s financial statements or tax returns. Judgment is required in
assessing the future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the Company’s financial
statements or tax returns. Fluctuations in the actual outcome of these future tax consequences, including
the effects of IRS examinations and examinations by other state agencies, could materially impact the
Company’s financial position and its results of operations.

Net Interest Income

Net interest income, the largest source of revenue, results from the Company’s lending, investing,
borrowing, and deposit gathering activities. It is affected by both changes in the level of interest rates and
changes in the amounts and mix of interest earning assets and interest bearing liabilities. The following
table summarizes the changes in net interest income on a fully taxable equivalent basis, by major category
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of interest earning assets and interest bearing liabilities, identifying changes related to volumes and rates.
Changes not solely due to volume or rate changes are allocated to rate.

2002 2001
Change due to Change due to
Average Average Average Average
(In thousands) Volume Rate Total Volume Rate Total
Interest income,
fully taxable equivalent
basis
Loans $ (1,918) $(116,646) $(118,565) $ 996 $ (74,359) $(73,363)
Investment securities:
U.S. government and federal
agency obligations 18,573 (10,080) 8,493 (1,300) (6,520) (7,820)
State and municipal obligations (1,091) (55) (1,148) (1,318) (98) (1,416)
CMO’s and asset-backed
securities 50,0486 (14,408} 35,637 15,561 (2,831) 12,730
Other securities (1,808) (1,383) 3,191) 5,403 (5,087) 316
Federal funds sold and securities
purchased under agreements to
resell {18,821) (2,079) {20,800) 20,413 (12,544) 7,869
Total interest income 44,980  (144,852) (89,872) 39,755 (101,439) (61,684)
Interest expense
Interest bearing deposits:
Savings 2318 (1,514) (1,199) 120 (2,259) (2,139)
Interest checking and money
market 4,225 (68,870) (54,645) 8,290 (54,942) (46,652)
Time open and C.D.’s of less
than $100,000 (12,830) (38,854) (51,484) 10,069 (400) 9,669
Time open and C.D.’s of .
$100,000 and over 5,102 (14,54%9) 9447y 11,235 (1,811) 9,424
Federal funds purchased and
securities sold under
agreements to repurchase 5,550 (14,978) (8,428) (11,067) (14,524) (25,591)
Long-term debt and other
borrowings 3,305 (7,781) {4,476) 12,190 (5,028) 7,162
Total interest expense 5,867 (136,546) (130,679) 30,837 (78,964) (48,127)
Net interest income, fully
taxable equivalent basis $39,113 $ (8,108) $ 31,007 $ 8,918 $ (22475 $(13,557)

Net interest income was $500.0 million in 2002, $468.8 million in 2001 and $481.6 million in 2000.
Compared to the prior year, net interest income increased $31.2 million, or 6.7%, in 2002 compared to a
decrease of $12.9 million, or 2.7%, in 2001. During 2002, the Company’s net interest income grew mainly
as a result of the continued re-pricing of deposit products, especially certificates of deposit, and overall
growth in earning assets. During the first three quarters of 2002, the interest rate environment remained
somewhat stable, allowing for modest downward re-pricing of the Company’s loan portfolio. In addition,
during 2002 average investment securities increased $1.12 billion, which added approximately $66 million
in additional interest income. Also during the year, interest costs on interest bearing liakilities declined by
approximately $136 million as a result of the re-pricing of almost all deposit products. With interest rates
stable through October 2002, most of the re-pricing came from the Company’s certificate of deposit
products, although certain money market deposits also began to re-price downward in late summer. In
November 2002, the Federal Reserve lowered short-term rates by 50 basis points, which reduced interest
income on large portions of the Company’s loan portfolio that were variably priced. Rates on deposits were
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also lowered, but some interest checking and savings products had only limited rate reductions due to the
already low rate environment. The large fixed rate investment portfolio helped temper the effects of these
rate reductions; however, the net interest margin did compress somewhat in the fourth quarter.

During 2001, a series of rate reductions by the Federal Reserve caused a significant portion of the
Company’s earning assets to reprice downward. Most of these earning assets were loans, whose interest
rates are tied to variable rate indices or the federal funds rate. While these rate reductions also allowed the
deposit base to re-price downward, the overall decline in deposit rates was not enough to offset the effects
of the change in asset rates. The net effect of the rate declines was to lower 2001 net interest income by
$22.5 million. The changes in the economy also had an impact on growth in both earning assets and
liabilities. Compared to 2000, average deposit balances increased 5.9% during 2001, while average loans
were essentially flat. The added liquidity from the deposit growth was invested in the longer term fixed
rate investment securities portfolio. This added to the earning asset base, which improved net interest
income in 2001.

The net yield on earning assets was 4.39% in 2002, 4.35% in 2001 and 4.74% in 2000. Average interest
earning assets rose 5.7% in 2002 over 2001, compared to a 6.0% increase in 2001 over 2000. Average
interest bearing liabilities increased 7.4% in 2002 compared to a 9.1% increase in 2001,

Total interest income was $652.6 million in 2002, $751.8 million in 2001 and $813.1 million in 2000.
Tax equivalent interest income did not materially differ. Interest income declined $99.2 million, or 13.2%,
in 2002 compared to the previous year. This decline was primarily due to decreases in rates on all loan
products as a result of the large reduction in rates occurring mainly in 2001, offset by growth in earning
assets. Interest rates, which declined throughout 2001, had the impact of reducing interest income on
variably priced loans. Also, fixed rate loans which matured or were originated in 2001 and 2002 were
impacted by lower rates. Average loan balances, which earn higher rates, decreased $48.2 million and also
contributed to the lower interest income. Rates on investment securities were lower as maturing securities
were reinvested in lower earning securities, however, average balances of investment securities grew
$1.12 billion, contributing approximately $66 million of additional interest income. At December 31, 2002,
average balances of investment securities comprised 31% of average earning assets compared to 23% in
2001. This growth helped to offset the effect of the lower rates described above. Average loans decreased
slightly in 2002 compared to 2001, and comprised 68% of average earning assets, down from 72% in 2001.

Total interest income declined $61.3 million, or 7.5% in 2001 compared to 2000. Average loan balances
were flat in 2001 compared to 2000, while loan yields declined 94 basis points. Increased liquidity provided
by deposit growth allowed the Company to purchase investment securities, which increased an average of
$291.3 million, and overnight investments in federal funds and repurchase agreements, which increased
$314.3 million. However, average rates earned on investment securities and overnight investments fell 59
and 225 basis points, respectively, during 2001. The effect of interest rate declines on earning assets,
especially loan rates, more than offset the income provided by higher average investment balances.

Total interest expense was $152.6 million in 2002, $283.0 million in 2001 and $331.5 million in 2000.
Interest expense declined $130.4 million, or 46.1%, in 2002 compared to 2001. The average rate paid on
interest bearing liabilities was 1.54% in 2002 compared to 3.06% in 2001. The lower interest rate environ-
ment described above resulted in an interest rate decline of 148 basis points on deposits, 191 basis points
on overnight borrowings, and 212 basis points on longer-term borrowings. The decline in deposit rates
affected all deposit products, with the largest effect on the Company’s Premium Money Market deposit
accounts, where rates declined 194 basis points. A decline of $213.1 million in average retail certificates of
deposit also contributed to lower interest expense. However, the average balance of interest checking and
money market deposits rose $509.4 million, or 9.7%, during 2002.

In 2001, interest expense decreased $48.4 million, or 14.6%, from 2000. The decrease was due to rate
declines of 68 basis points on deposits, 259 basis points on overnight borrowings, and 165 basis points on
longer-term borrowings. The decline in deposit interest resulted mainly from rate reductions of 176 basis
points paid on the Company’s Premium Money Market deposit accounts. Average interest bearing deposits
grew $756.3 million, or 9.9%, during 2001.
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Provision for Loan Losses

The provision for loan losses was $34.1 million in 2002, compared with $36.4 million in 2001 and
$35.2 million in 2000. The provision for loan losses is recorded to bring the allowance for loan losses to a
level deemed appropriate by management based on the factors mentioned in the following “Allowance for

Loan Losses” section of this discussion.
Non-Interest Income
% Change

(Dollars in thousands) 2002 2001 2000 92761 0100
Trust fees $ 80,682 $ 62,753 $ 58,588 (B.3)% 7.1%
Deposit account charges and other fees 91,303 84,486 71,025 8.1 19.0
Credit card transaction fees 57,850 54,583 51,453 6.0 6.1
Trading account profits and commissions 15,954 15,332 8,594 4.1 784
Consumer brokerage services 0,744 9,208 9,077 5.8 14
Mortgage banking revenue 4,277 6,195 3,521 (31.¢) 75.9
Net gains on securities transactions 2,835 3,140 8,393 9.7 (62.6)
Other 37,927 39,304 44,985 (8.5) (12.6)
Total non-interest income $280,572 $274,999 $255,636 2.0% 7.6%
Total non-interest income excluding net gains

on securities transactions $277,737 $271,859 $247,243 2.2% 10.0%
Non-interest income as a % of operating income* 35.9% 37.0% 34.7%

Operating income per full-time equivalent employee $ 158.7 $ 1460 $ 145.2

* QOperating income is defined as net interest income plus non-interest income.

Non-interest income increased $5.6 million, or 2.0%, during 2002 to $280.6 million. Trust fees declined
$2.1 million, or 3.3%, because of the continuing decline in the value of trust account assets upon which fees
are based. Most of the decline in trust fees occurred in the personal trust product line, while institutional
trust fees increased somewhat. Deposit account fees increased 8.1%, or $6.8 million, in 2002 due to higher
fee income in commercial cash management accounts and fees earned on deposit account overdrafts. Credit
card fees increased $3.3 million, or 6.0%, mainly due to continuing growth in debit card fee income, which
rose 15.0% over the previous year. Also, fees on credit cardholder transactions increased 7.2%. Trading
account fees, which consist of fees from sales of fixed income securities, rose 4.1%, and were strong all year
as a result of sustained demand by business and correspondent bank custemers. Consumer brokerage
service fees increased 5.8% on sales of annuities by the discount brokerage subsidiary. Mortgage banking
revenues declined $1.9 million as a result of lower sales of mortgages to upstream correspondent banks.
During the year, the Company retained more 15 year fixed rate loans it originated on its balance sheet
than in previous years. This reduced sales to upstream banks and reduced profit. The Company continues
to originate and sell all long-term fixed rate loans in excess of 15 years to upstream banks. Net gains on
securities transactions amounted to $2.8 million in 2002, a decrease of $305 thousand from the previous
year. Current year activity included gains of $6.0 million resulting from sales from the banks’ securities
portfolios and losses of $3.2 million recognized on venture capital investments. Other non-interest income
included a $1.5 million gain on the sale of the Company’s minority interest in an Illinois community bank.
Also included were gains on sales of student loans. Student loan balances of $133.3 millicn were sold in
2002 compared to $233.3 million in 2001, which resulted in lower gains of $1.5 million. Sales of bank
branches and facilities were comparable in 2002 and 2001, with gains of $2.4 million recorded in 2062 and
$2.2 million in 2001.

In 2001, non-interest income totaled $275.0 million, which was a $19.4 million, or 7.6%, increase over
2000. Deposit account fees increased $13.5 million, or 18.0%, mainly due to growth in overdraft fees and
commercial cash management revenue. Trust fees increased $4.2 million as a result of stronger personal
trust business and included approximately $1.2 million in probate fees received from one trust customer.
These increases offset the effect of an environment of declining trust account asset valuations upon which
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fees are charged. Credit card fee income rose $3.1 million over 2000 and was reflective of higher debit card
fees, but was partly offset by lower fee income from credit cardholders and merchant business. The latter
was due in part to lower retail sales and lower merchant profit margins, especially during the second half
of 2001. Bond trading account profits improved $6.7 million, or 78.4%, as a result of significantly higher
sales of fixed income securities to correspondent bank and other commercial customers. Mortgage banking
revenues rose $2.7 million largely due to an increase in personal mortgage loan origination volume, which
was up 43.3%, and higher gains on sales of these loans to secondary investors. The above increases to
income were partly offset by lower gains of $3.7 million on sales of banking branches, as fewer branches
were sold during 2001 than in 2000. Net gains on securities transactions declined $5.3 million, due to
losses recognized on venture capital investments, partly offset by gains on sales from the banks’ portfolios.

Non-Interest Expense

% Change

(Dollars in thousands) 2002 2001 2000 02-°01 01’00
Salaries $212,365 $205,246 $191,613 3.5% 1.1%
Employee benefits 38,190 30,887 29,043 23.6 6.3
Net occupancy 34,635 32,027 30,381 8.1 54
Equipment 22,865 21,991 20,673 4.0 6.4
Supplies and communication 32,929 33,778 34,048 (2.5) (.8)
Data processing and software 44,563 47,178 48,664 4.7 (3.1)
Marketing 15,001 12,914 13,274 16.2 (2.7)
Goodwill amortization — 4,665 4,784 (1060.0) (2.5)
Other intangible assets amortization 2,323 3,040 3,373 (23.8) (9.9
Other 49,656 46,264 58,349 7.3 (20.7)
Total non-interest expense $452,927 $437,990 $434,202 34% 9%
Efficiency ratio 57.9% 58.1% 58.5%
Salaries and benefits as a % of total non-interest

expense 55.3% 53.9% 50.8%
Number of full-time equivalent employees 5,012 5,094 5,076

Non-interest expense was $452.9 million in 2002, an increase of $14.9 million, or 3.4%, over 2001.
Salary expense grew $7.1 million, or 3.5%, due to higher full-time employee costs and growth in incentive
payments. Employee benefit costs increased $7.3 million, or 23.6%, due to higher health care costs, higher
401K retirement expense, and an increase in pension expense. Net occupancy expense rose $2.6 million
over last year, partly due to higher depreciation and operating costs resulting from a recently renovated
office building, which was re-opened in October 2002. Marketing expense increased $2.1 million, or 16.2%,
compared to the previous year as a result of added advertising costs for several consumer loan products.
Data processing costs declined $2.2 million, largely due to the Company’s mainframe computer operations,
which were consolidated in-house in the second quarter of 2002. Previously, this operation was out-sourced
to an external vendor. Goodwill amortization was subject to new accounting rules, which discontinued the
amortization of goodwill in 2002. This had the effect of lowering non-interest expense by $4.7 million in
2002 compared to 2001. Other non-interest expense included a $2.1 million charitable contribution of
securities in 2002. In addition, losses related to check processing increased in 2002 compared to 2001
because of certain recoveries which were recorded in 2001.

Non-interest expense was $438.0 million in 2001, an increase of $3.8 million, or .9%, compared to 2000.
Salaries expense increased $13.6 million over the previous year due to merit increases for full-time
employees. Employee benefits expense increased $1.8 million mainly because of higher social security
taxes and 401K retirement expense. Net occupancy and equipment costs grew 5.4% and 6.4%, respectively,
over 2000 and were partly offset by declines in supplies and communication, data processing and
marketing. Charitable contributions in 2001 declined as a result of a large contribution made in 2000.
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Check processing losses declined due to several significant recoveries of previous years’ losses, mentioned
above.

Income Taxes

Income tax expense was $94.0 million in 2002, compared to $87.4 million in 2001, and $89.3 million in
2000. Income tax expense increased 7.6% over 2001, compared to a 9.0% increase in pre-tax income. The
effective tax rate on income from operations was 32.0%, 32.4% and 33.3% in 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. The effective tax rates were lower than the federal statutory rate of 35% mainly due to tax
exempt interest on state and municipal cbligaticns, state and federal tax credits realized, and various
other tax initiatives. In 2002, the effective rate declined slightly because of the elimination of non-
deductible goodwill amortization described above and the additional accrual of state and federal rehabilita-
tion credits to be received on the renovation of an office building. The 2000 rate was lowered by the
contribution of appreciated securities to a charitable organization in exchange for state tax credits, which
resulted in a $2.0 million tax reduction. All of the above factors, tending to lower the effective tax rate,
were partly offset by state and local income taxes.

Financial Condition
Loan Portfolic Analysis

A schedule of average balances invested in each category of loans appears on page 32. Classifications of
consolidated loans by major category at December 31 for each of the past five years are as follows:

Balance at December 31

(In thousands) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Business $2,263,644 $2,407,418 $2,659,511 $2,564,476 $2,464,168
Real estate — construction 404,518 412,700 377,629 354,351 325,360
Real estate — business 1,738,646 1,505,443 1,305,397 1,247,956 1,000,380
Real estate — personal 1,282,223 1,287,954 1,397,770 1,377,803 1,315,041
Personal banking 1,662,801 1,514,650 1,641,473 1,510,380 1,409,022
Credit card 526,111 510,317 524,885 521,826 532,881
Total loans, net of unearned

income $7,875,944 $7,638,482 $7,906,665 $7,576,892 $7,046,852

At December 31, 2002, the Company elected to reclassify certain segments of its business, construc-
tion, business real estate and perscnal portfolios. The reclassifications were made to better realign the loan
reporting with its related collateral and purpose. The adjustments also reclassified certain construction
loans that had moved into amortizing term loans following project completion. The table below shows the
effect of the reclassifications on the various lending categories at December 31, 2002. Because the informa-
tion was not readily available, prior periods were not restated.

Effect of reclassification

(In thousands) at December 31, 2002
Business $(202,574)
Real estate — construction (88,593)
Real estate — business 209,623
Real estate — personal 55,576
Personal banking 25,968
Credit card —
Net reclassification $ —
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The contractual maturities of loan categories at December 31, 2002, and a breakdown of those loans
between fixed rate and floating rate loans are as follows:

Principal Payments Due

In After One After
One Year Year Through Five
(In thousands) or Less Five Years Years Total
Business $1,504,776 $ 692574 $ 66,294 $2,263,644
Real estate — construction 226,335 174,725 3,459 404,519
Real estate — business 416,648 1,180,081 139,916 1,736,646
Real estate — personal 114,131 268,942 899,150 1,282,223
Total $2,261,891 $2,316,322 $1,108,819 5,687,032
Personal banking @ 1,662,801
Credit card ? 526,111
Total loans, net of unearned
income $7,875,944
Loans with fixed rates $ 441,050 $1,050,144 $ 423,283 $1,914,477
Loans with floating rates 1,820,841 1,266,178 685,536 3,772,555
Total $2,261,891 $2,316,322 $1,108,819 $5,687,032

(1) Personal banking loans with floating rates totaled $654,835,000.
(2) Credit card loans with floating rates totaled $462,223,000.

Total loans increased $237.5 million, or 3.1%, during 2002 compared to a decline of $268.2 million, or
3.4%, during 2001. Excluding the reclassification effects mentioned above, growth in loans during 2002
came principally from personal banking, real estate construction, business, and credit card loans. Personal
banking loans grew $122.2 million during the year mainly as a result of growth in home equity loan
balances and higher totals for student and installment lending products. Real estate construction loans
increased $80.4 million, or 19.5%, due to increased activity in the single-family construction area. Business
loans increased $58.8 million, or 2.4%, mainly in the late third and early fourth quarters due to additional
seasonal borrowings and higher line of credit usage. Credit card loans increased $15.8 million, or 3.1%,
mainly at year end due to higher holiday activity. These increases were partly offset by a decline in
personal real estate loans which were down $61.3 million, or 4.8%. This decline was the result of higher
loan pay-offs of adjustable rate and other fixed rate loans in the portfolio due to the low rate environment
that occurred during the year. The decline in total loans in 2001 compared to 2000 was primarily the result
of reductions in business, personal real estate and personal banking loans. The overall decline in total
loans during 2001 was partially offset by growth in business and construction real estate loans.

The Company currently generates approximately 32% of its loan portfolio in the St. Louis regional
market and 28% in the Kansas City regional market. The portfolio is diversified from a business and retail
standpoint, with 56% in loans to businesses and 44% in loans to individual consumers. A balanced
approach to loan portfolio management and an historical aversion toward credit concentrations, from an
industry, geographic and product perspective, have contributed to low levels of problem loans and loan
losses.

Business Loans

Total business loans amounted to $2.26 billion at December 31, 2002. This group of loans is comprised
primarily of loans to customers in the regional trade area of the bank subsidiaries in the central Midwest,
encompassing the states of Missouri, Kansas, Illinois and adjacent Midwestern markets. The portfolio is
diversified from an industry standpoint and includes businesses engaged in manufacturing, wholesaling,
retailing, agribusiness, insurance, financial services, public utilities, and other service businesses. Empha-
sis is upon middle-market and community businesses with known local management and financial stabil-
ity. The bank subsidiaries participate in credits of large, publicly traded companies when business
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operations are maintained in the lecal communities or regional markets and opportunities to provide other
banking services are present. Consistent with management’s strategy and emphasis upon relationship
banking, most borrowing customers also maintain deposit accounts and utilize other banking services.
There were net loan charge-offs in this category of $8.8 million in 2002 compared to $9.1 million in 2001.
Non-accrual business loans decreased to $15.2 million (.7% of business loans) at December 31, 2002,
compared to $22.6 million (.9% of business lcans) at December 31, 2001. Opportunities for growth in
business loans will be based upon strong solicitation efforts in a highly competitive market environment
for quality loans. Asset quality is, in part, a function of management’s consistent application of underwrit-
ing standards and credit terms through stages in the economic cycles. Therefore, portfolio growth in 2083
will be dependent upon 1) the strength of the economy, 2) the acticns of the Federal Reserve with regard to
targets for economic growth, interest rates, and inflationary tendencies, and 3) the competitive
environment.

Real Estate-Construction

The portfolio of loans in this category amounted to $404.5 million at December 31, 2002. The portfolio
consists of residential construction, commercial construction and land development loans, predominantly
in the local markets of the Company’s banking subsidiaries. Commercial construction loans are for small
and medium-sized office and medical buildings, manufacturing and warehouse facilities, strip shopping
centers, hotels and motels, and other commercial properties. Exposure to larger speculative office and
rental space remains low. Residential construction and land development loans are primarily for projects
located in the Kansas City and St. Louis metropolitan areas. The Company experienced $58 thousand net
recoveries in 2002 compared to $49 thousand net charge-offs in 2001. Non-accrual loans in this category
decreased to $301 thousand at year end 2002 compared to $501 thousand at year end 2001.

Real Estate-Business

Total business real estate loans were $1.74 billion at December 31, 2002. This category includes
mortgage loans for small and medium-sized office and medical buildings, manufacturing and warehouse
facilities, strip shopping centers, hotels and motels, and other commercial properties. Emphasis is placed
on owner-occupied and income producing commercial real estate properties which present lower risk levels.
The borrowers and/or the properties are generally located in the local and regional markets of the affiliate
banks. At December 31, 2002, non-accrual balances amounted to $10.6 million, or .6% of the loans in this
category, compared to $5.4 million at year end 2001. The Company experienced net charge-offs of $296
thousand in 2002 and $90 thousand in 2001.

Real Estate-Personal

At December 31, 2002, there were $1.28 billion in outstanding personal real estate loans. The mort-
gage leans in this category are extended, predominately, for owner-occupied residential properties. The
Company originates beth adjustable rate and fixed rate mortgage loans. The Company retains adjustable
rate mortgage loans, but ordinarily sells mest fixed rate loans to other lenders and investors, although
some 15 year fixed rate loans are retained. During 2002, in a low rate environment, the Company
originated more fixed rate loans than variable rate loans. At the same time, its portfolio of higher rate
loans declined as customers refinanced their debt. The combination of these two effects resulted in a net
decline in these loans. The Company typically does not experience significant loan losses in this category.
There were net charge-offs of $230 thousand in 2002 compared to $370 thousand in 2001. The non-accrual
balances of loans in this category increased to $1.4 million at December 31, 2002, compared to $147
thousand at year end 2001. The five year history of net charge-offs in the personal real estate loan category
reflects nominal losses, and credit quality is considered to be strong.

Personal Banking

Total personal banking locans were $1.68 billion at December 31, 2002, and consisted of installment
loans (mainly auto) of $1.09 billion, home equity loans of $305.3 million and student loans of $268.6 mil-
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lion. In addition, $407.3 million was outstanding in unused home equity lines of credit, which can be drawn
at the discretion of the borrower. These home equity lines are secured by first or second mortgages on
residential property of the borrower. The underwriting terms for the home equity line product permit
borrowing availability, in the aggregate, generally up to 80% or 90% of the appraised value of the collateral
property. Given reasonably stable real estate values over time, the collateral margin improves with the
regular amortization of these loans. Approximately 39% of the loans in the personal banking category are
extended on a floating interest rate basis. Net charge-offs were $6.9 million in 2002 compared to $8.8 mil-
lion in 2001, a decrease of 21.7%. Attention to detail, sound underwriting principles, and centralized
operations have reduced losses on these loans. The majority of personal banking loan losses were related to
indirect paper purchases secured by automobiles.

Credit Card

Total credit card loans amounted to $526.1 million at December 31, 2002. The credit card portfolio is
concentrated within regional markets served by the Company. The Company offers a variety of credit card
products, including affinity cards, purchase cards, and normalized credit cards. It emphasizes its credit
card relationship product, Special Connections, in which the customer maintains a deposit relation with a
subsidiary bank. The Special Connections product allows the customer ATM access using the same card
and provides certain pricing advantages. The Company has found this product to be more profitable by
incurring fewer credit losses than other card products and it allows for better cross sale into other bank
products. Approximately 61% of the households in Missouri that own a Commerce credit card product also
maintain a deposit relationship with a subsidiary bank. Approximately 88% of the outstanding credit card
loans have a floating interest rate. Net charge-offs amounted to $17.3 million in 2002, which was a
$1.7 million decrease from 2001. The net charge-off ratios of 3.5% in 2002 and 3.9% in 2001 remain well
below national loss averages. The Company refrains from national pre-approved mailing techniques which
have caused some of the credit card problems experienced by other banking companies. Significant changes
in loss trends are not currently anticipated by management.

Allowance for Loan Losses

The Company has an established process to determine the amount of the allowance for loan losses,
which assesses the risks and losses inherent in its portfolio. This process provides an allowance consisting
of an allocated and an unallocated component. To determine the allocated component of the allowance, the
Company combines estimates of the reserves needed for loans evaluated on an individual basis with
estimates of reserves needed for pools of loans with similar risk characteristics.

Loans subject to individual evaluation generally consist of commercial and commercial real estate
loans. These loans are analyzed and assigned to risk categories according to the Company’s internal risk
rating system. Loans with a greater risk of loss are identified and placed on the “watch list” for regular
management review. Those loans judged to reflect the highest risk profiles are evaluated individually for
the impairment of repayment potential and collateral adequacy, and in conjunction with current economic
conditions and loss experience, allowances are estimated. Other loans identified on the Company’s “watch
list” but not judged to be individually impaired from a repayment or collateral adequacy perspective are
aggregated and reserves are recorded using migration models, that track actual portfolio movements from
problem asset loan grades to loss over a 5 to 10 year period. In the case of other more homogeneous loan
portfolios, including auto loans, residential mortgages, home equity loans and credit card loans, the
determination of the allocated reserve is computed on a pooled basis. For these loan pools, historical loss
ratios by loan type, current loss and past due experience, and management’s judgment of recent and
forecasted economic effects on portfolio performance are factors utilized to determine the appropriate
reserve amounts.

To mitigate the imprecision inherent in estimates of expected credit losses, the allocated component of
the allowance is supplemented by an unallocated component. This portion of the allowance includes
management’s determination of the amounts necessary to offset credit risk issues associated with loan
concentrations, economic uncertainties, industry concerns, adverse market changes in estimated or ap-
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praised collateral values, and other subjective factors. As such, the relationship of the unallocated
component to the total allowance for loan losses may fluctuate from period to period. Although manage-
ment has allocated a portion of the allowance to specific loan categories, the adequacy of the allowance
must be considered in its entirety.

The Company’s estimate of the allowance for loan losses and the corresponding provision for loan
losses rests upon various judgments and assumptions made by management. Factors that influence these
judgments include past loan loss experience, current loan portfolio composition and characteristics, trends
in portfolio risk ratings, levels of non-performing assets, prevailing regional and national economic condi-
tions, and the Company’s ongoing examination process including that of its regulators. The Company has
internal credit administration and loan review staffs that continuously review loan quality and report the
results of their reviews and examinations to the Company’s senior management and Board of Directors.
Such reviews also assist management in establishing the level of the allowance. The Company’s subsidiary
banks continue to be subject to examination by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) and
examinations are conducted throughout the year targeting various segments of the loan portfolio for
review. In addition to the examination of subsidiary banks by the OCC, the Parent and its non-bank
subsidiaries are examined by the Federal Reserve Bank.

The allowance for loan losses was $13C.6 million and $130.0 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively, and was 1.66% and 1.70% of loans outstanding. The allowance for loan losses covered non-
performing assets (defined as non-accrual loans and foreclosed real estate) by 442% at year end 2002 and
422% at year end 2001. Net charge-offs totaled $33.5 million in 2002 compared to $37.4 million in 2001.
The ratio of net charge-offs to average loans outstanding in 2002 was .43% compared to .48% in 2001 and
.38% in 2000. The provision for loan losses was $34.1 million, higher than 2002 net charge-offs by $645
thousand, compared to a provision of $36.4 million in 2001 and $35.2 million in 2000.

Credit card loans outstanding at December 31, 2002 amounted to $526.1 million, or 6.7% of total loans.
Net charge-offs on these loans decreased to 3.51% of average credit card loans in 2002 compared to 3.88%
in 2001. The Company’s net charge-off experience for its credit card portfolio has been significantly better
than industry averages. Delinquency trends on credit card loans rose slightly in the fourth quarter of 2002
for both the Company and the industry, but the Company remains below industry delinquency averages.
Also, delinquency rates on credit card loans at December 2002 were significantly lower than at the same
time last year.

The Company considers the allowance for loans losses of $130.6 million adequate to cover losses
inherent in the loan portfolio at December 31, 2002.
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The schedule which follows summarizes the relationship between loan balances and activity in the
allowance for loan losses:

Years Ended December 31

(Dollars in thousands) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Net loans outstanding at end of
year™ $7,875,944 $7,638,482 $7,906,665 $7,576,892 $7,046,852
Average loans outstanding™® $7,761,742 $7,809,931 $7,802,041 $7,216,867 $6,596,831
Allowance for loan losses:
Balance at beginning of year $ 129,973 $ 128,445 $ 123042 $ 117,092 $ 105,918
Additions to allowance through
charges to expense 34,108 36,423 35,159 35,335 36,874
Allowances of acquired banks — 2,519 — — 5,808
Loans charged off:
Business 12,078 12,389 7,027 7,444 7,827
Real estate — construction 65 127 32 544 211
Real estate — business 973 751 1,162 624 212
Real estate — personal 298 389 322 933 279
Personal banking 11,979 13,959 12,887 10,544 10,372
Credit card 22,494 23,180 19,896 20,449 23,465
Total loans charged off 47,885 50,795 41,326 40,538 42,366
Recovery of loans previously
charged off:
Business 3,285 3,304 2,419 2,540 2,578
Real estate — construction 123 78 150 110 402
Real estate — business 877 661 73 337 651
Real estate — personal 66 19 128 251 83
Personal banking 5,080 5,144 4,699 3,898 3,533
Credit card 5,211 4,175 4,101 4,017 3,611
Total recoveries 14,422 13,381 11,570 11,153 10,858
Net loans charged off 33,463 37,414 29,756 29,385 31,508
Balance at end of year $ 130,618 $ 129,973 $ 128,445 $ 123,042 $ 117,092
Ratio of net charge-offs to average
loans outstanding 43% .48% .38% A41% 48%
Ratio of allowance to loans at end of
year 1.68% 1.70% 1.62% 1.62% 1.66%
Ratio of provision to average loans
outstanding A44% 47% 45% 49% .56%

(A) Net of unearned income; before deducting allowance for loan losses

The following schedule provides a breakdown of the allowance for loan losses by loan category and the
percentage of each loan category to total loans outstanding at year end:

(Dollars in thousands) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Loan Loss % of Loans Loan Loss % of Loans Loan Loss % of Loans Loan Loss % of Loans Loan Loss % of Loans
Allowance to Total Allowance  to Total Allowance  to Total Allowance  to Total Allowance  to Total

Allocation Loans Allocation Loans Allocation Loans Allocation Loans Allocation Loans
Business $ 40,857 28.7% $ 40,687 31.5% $ 36,147 33.6% $ 33,810 33.8% $ 30,817 35.0%
RE - construction 4,731 5.1 4,732 5.4 4,232 4.8 4,253 4.7 4,165 4.6
RE - business 20,913 22.1 20,907 19.7 19,614 16.5 18,416 16.5 15,358 14.2
RE — personal 3,871 18.3 3,367 16.9 3,335 17.7 3,300 18.2 3,162 18.6
Personal banking 20,343 21.1 18,710 19.8 16,413 20.8 15,426 19.9 14,080 20.0
Credit card 23,337 6.7 21,004 6.7 19,504 6.6 19,637 6.9 22,310 7.6
Unallocated 18,566 — 20,566 — 29,200 — 28,200 — 27,200 —
Total $130,618 100.0% $129,973 100.0% $128,445 100.0% $123,042 100.0% $117,092 100.0%
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Risk Elements Of Loan Portfolio

Management reviews the loan portfolio continuously for evidence of problem loans. During the ordi-
nary course of business, management becomes aware of borrowers that may not be able to meet the
contractual requirements of loan agreements. Such loans are placed under close supervision with consider-
ation given to placing the loan on non-accrual status, the need for an additional allowance for loan less, and
(if appropriate) partial or full loan charge-off. Loans are placed on non-accrual status when management
does not expect to collect payments consistent with acceptable and agreed upon terms of repayment. Loans
that are 90 days past due as to principal and/or interest payments are generally placed on non-accrual,
unless they are both well-secured and in the process of collection, or they are 1-4 family first mortgage
loans or consumer loans that are exempt under regulatory rules from being classified as non-accrual. After
a loan is placed on non-accrual status, any interest previously accrued but not yet collected is reversed
against current income. Interest is included in income after the loan is placed on non-accrual status only as
interest is received and so long as management is satisfied there is no impairment of collateral values. The
loan is returned to accrual status only when the borrower has brought all past due principal and interest
payments current and, in the opinion of management, the borrower has demonstrated the ability to make
future payments of principal and interest as scheduled.

The following schedule shows non-performing assets and loans past due 90 days and still accruing

interest.
December 31
(Dollars in thousands) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Non-accrual loans:
Business $15,224 $22,633 $ 9,598 $ 6,362 $ 6,590
Real estate — construction 301 501 1,834 2,541 7,168
Real estate — business 10,6486 5,377 7,854 3,644 2,787
Real estate — personal 1,428 147 264 373 947
Personal banking 466 161 67 59 339
Total mom-accrual loans 28,065 28,819 19,617 12979 17,831
Real estate acquired in foreclosure 1,474 1,849 1,707 1,347 2,621
Total non-performing assets $29,539 $30,768 $21,324 $14,326 $20,352
Non-performing assets as a percentage of total loans .38% .40% 27% 19% .29%
Non-performing assets as a percentage of total assets 22% .24% 19% .13% .18%
Past due 90 days and still aceruing interest:
Business $ 4,871 $ 1,643 $ 5,194 $ 4428 $ 7,721
Real estate — construction — 554 215 1 500
Real estate — business 3,734 1,790 447 1,202 1,797
Real estate — personal 4,727 6,116 5,499 3,771 3,426
Personal banking 1,400 1,804 7,238 5,603 4,327
Credit card 7,896 7,792 8,077 6,312 6,758
Total past due 90 days and still aceruing interest $22,428 $19,699 $26,670 $21,317 $24,529

The effect on interest income in 2002 of loans on non-accrual status at year end is presented below:

(In thousands)

Gross amount of interest that would have been recorded at original rate $3,496
Interest that was reflected in income 887
Interest income not recognized $2,609

Total non-accrual loans at year end 2002 decreased $754 thousand from 2001 levels. This decline
resulted from a $7.4 million decrease in business non-accrual loans, partly offset by increases of $5.3 mil-
lion in business real estate non-accrual loans and $1.3 million in personal real estate non-accrual balances.
Real estate that was acquired in foreclosure, which is comprised mainly of small residential properties,
decreased $475 thousand from year end 2001. Total non-performing assets remain low compared to the
Company’s peers, with the non-performing assets to total loans ratio at .38%. Loans past due 90 days and
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still accruing interest increased $2.7 million at year end 2002 compared to 2001. This increase was mainly
due to higher delinquencies for business loans and business real estate loans, partly offset by lower
personal real estate loan delinquencies.

At December 31, 2002, the banking subsidiaries held fixed rate residential real estate loans of approxi-
mately $41.1 million at lower of cost or market, which are to be sold to secondary markets within
approximately three months.

There were no loan concentrations of multiple borrowers in similar activities at December 31, 2002,
which exceeded 10% of total loans. The Company’s aggregate legal lending limit to any single or related
borrowing entities is in excess of $125 million. The largest exposures generally do not exceed $70 million.

Investment Securities Analysis

During 2002, total investment securities increased $454.0 million to $4.12 billion (excluding unreal-
ized gains/losses) compared to $3.67 billion at the previous year end. The increase was due to purchases of
new securities with liquidity resulting from lower short-term investments and higher federal funds bor-
rowings. The growth in investment securities occurred mainly in U.S. government and federal agency
securities, which increased $294.8 million, and CMO’s and asset-backed securities, which increased
$180.1 million. The average tax equivalent yield on total investment securities was 5.02% in 2002 and
5.68% in 2001.

At December 31, 2002, available for sale securities totaled $4.20 billion, which included a net unreal-
ized gain in fair value of $155.0 million. The amount of the related after tax unrealized gain reported in
stockholders’ equity was $96.1 million at year end 2002. Approximately 22% of the unrealized gain in fair
value related to marketable equity securities held by Commerce Bancshares, Inc., the parent holding
company (Parent). The rest of the unrealized gain related to CMO’s and asset-backed securities (45%) and
U.S. government and federal agencies (32%) held by bank subsidiaries. The market value of the available
for sale portfolio will vary as interest rates change. The unrealized gain in fair value at year end 2002
increased $89.0 million over year end 2001 because of the decline in market interest rates, and its effect on
the fixed rate investments in the portfolio. Management expects normal maturities from the securities
portfolio to meet most of the Company’s liquidity needs. Non-marketable securities include $45.4 million in
Federal Reserve Bank stock and Federal Home Loan Bank stock held by bank subsidiaries as a result of
debt and regulatory requirements. These securities are carried at cost. Other non-marketable securities
are generally held by the Parent and non-bank subsidiaries due to regulatory restrictions. These include
non-marketable venture capital investments, which are carried at estimated fair value.
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Investment securities at year end for the past two years are shown below:

December 31

(In thousands) 2002 2001
Amortized Cost

U.S. government and federal agency obligations $1,424,525 $1,129,757
State and municipal obligations 77,039 42,075
CMOQO’s and asset-backed securities 2,345,889 2,165,776
Other debt securities 42,216 70,968
Equity securities 218,955 245,453
Trading securities 11,635 12,265
Total $4,120,259 $3,666,294
Fair Value

U.S. government and federal agency obligations $1,474,326 $1,147,615
State and municipal obligations 78,320 43,209
CMO’s and asset-backed securities 2,415,258 2,176,551
Other debt securities 43,054 71,182
Equity securities 252,658 281,435
Trading securities 11,635 12,265
Total $4,275,248 $3,732,257

A summary of maturities by category of investment securities and the weighted average yield for each
range of maturities as of December 31, 2002, is presented in the Investment Securities note to the
consolidated financial statements. U.S. government and federal agency obligations comprise 35% of the
investment portfolio at December 31, 2002, with a weighted average yield of 3.95% and an estimated
average maturity of 4.6 years; CMO’s and asset-backed securities comprise 57% with a weighted average
yield of 5.32% and an estimated average maturity of 2.8 years.

Other debt and equity securities above include Federal Reserve Bank stock, Federal Home Loan Bank
stock, corporate bonds, notes, mutual funds, commercial paper, venture capital investments, and corporate
stock. The tax equivalent yield on these securities, computed on average balances invested, was 3.68%
during 2002. Most of the investments in mutual funds, corporate notes and corporate stock at year end
2002 are held by the Parent and non-banking subsidiaries. Federal Reserve Bank stock and Federal Home
Loan Bank stock are restricted securities held by bank subsidiaries, and lack a market.

The Company engages in venture capital activities through direct venture investments and two
venture capital subsidiaries, which are licensed by the Small Business Administration. One of the subsidi-
aries, CFB Venture Fund I, Inc. (CFBI), is also qualified as a Missouri Certified Capital Company
(CAPCQO). This CAPCO certification expands its investment opportunities to Missouri businesses with less
than $4 million in revenues. Total venture capital investments held by CFBI amounted to $11.4 million at
December 31, 2002, and included CAPCO investments of $1.7 million. The second subsidiary, CFB Venture
Fund II, L.P. (CFBII), is a limited partnership venture fund with 47% outside ownership and no outside
debt. All funding commitments have been satisfied, and CFBII had total venture capital investments of
$9.6 million at year end 2002. The Company also has direct investments in several external venture capital
partnerships of $4.4 million at year end 2002. Many of the venture capital investments are not readily
marketable. While the nature of these investments carries a higher degree of risk than the normal lending
portfolio, management believes the potential for long-term gains in these investments outweighs the
potential risks.

Deposits and Borrowings

Deposits are the primary funding source for the Company’s banks, and are acquired from a broad base
of local markets, including both individual and corporate customers. Total deposits were $9.91 billion at
December 31, 2002, compared to $10.03 billion last year, reflecting a decrease of $118.6 million, or 1.2%.
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On a yearly average basis, deposits increased $320.9 million, or 3.4%, during 2002 compared to 2001 and
represented strong growth in deposits, mainly in the latter half of 2001 and early 2002. Lower rates in the
second half of 2002 resulted in a reduction in the Company’s certificate of deposit and money market
account balances. The liquidity lost by the decline in deposits in the second half of 2002 was replaced by an
increase in short-term borrowings and a decrease in overnight investments in federal funds.

The following table shows year end deposits by type as a percentage of total deposits.

December 31

(In thousands) 2002 2001
Non-interest bearing demand 14.9% 15.7%
Savings, interest checking and money market 59.3 56.4
Time open and C.D.’s of less than $100,000 19.7 21.8
Time open and C.D.’s of $100,000 and over 6.1 6.1
Total deposits 100.0% 100.0%

Core deposits (defined as all non-interest and interest bearing deposits, excluding short-term C.D.’s of
$100,000 and over) supported 82% of average earning assets in 2002 and 85% in 2001. Average balances by
major deposit category for the last six years appear at the end of this discussion. Maturity schedules of
time deposits outstanding at December 31, 2002, appear in the Interest Rate Sensitivity portion of this
discussion and in the Deposits note to the consolidated financial statements.

Short-term borrowings consist mainly of federal funds purchased and securities sold under agree-
ments to repurchase. Balances outstanding at year end 2002 were $1.46 billion, a $372.5 million increase
over $1.09 billion outstanding at year end 2001. Balances in these accounts can fluctuate significantly on a
day-to-day basis. The average balance of federal funds purchased and repurchase agreements increased
$169.0 million in 2002 over 2001, and decreased $170.6 million in 2001 from 2000. The average rate paid
on these borrowings was 1.28% during 2002 and 3.19% during 2001.

Subsidiary banks also borrow from the Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB). At year end 2002 these
advances totaled $322.7 million, of which $250.0 million is due in 2003. The debt maturing in 2003 may be
refinanced or may be repaid with funds generated by the loan and securities portfolios. Of the FHLB
advances outstanding at year end, $255.5 million had a floating rate and $67.2 million had a fixed rate.
The average rate paid on FHLB advances was 2.52% during 2002 and 4.75% during 2001. The weighted
average year end rate on outstanding FHLB advances at December 31, 2002, was 2.07%. Additional long-
term debt includes $11.6 million borrowed from insurance companies to fund the CAPCO investments.

Liguidity and Capital Resources

The liquid assets of the Parent consist primarily of securities purchased under agreements to resell
and available for sale securities, which include readily marketable equity securities, U.S. government and
federal agency securities, commercial paper, and investments in liquid money market funds. These assets
totaled $209.9 million at cost and $240.7 million at fair value at December 31, 2002 compared to
$142 .6 million at cost and $175.2 million at fair value at December 31, 2001. Total liabilities of the Parent
at December 31, 2002 increased to $22.3 million over $13.4 million at December 31, 2001. These liabilities
consisted mainly of accrued income taxes, salaries, and employee benefits. Most of the increase in liabili-
ties occurred in income taxes payable. The Parent had no third-party short-term borrowings or long-term
debt during 2002. Primary sources of funds for the Parent are dividends and management fees from its
subsidiary banks, which were $199.8 million and $38.5 million, respectively, in 2002. The subsidiary banks
may distribute dividends without prior regulatory approval that do not exceed the sum of net income for
the current year and retained net income for the preceding two years, subject to maintenance of minimum
capital requirements. The Parent’s commercial paper, which management believes is readily marketable,
has a P1 rating from Moody’s and an Al rating from Standard & Poor’s. No commercial paper was
outstanding during the past three years. This credit availability, along with available secured short-term
borrowings from an affiliate bank, should provide adequate funds to meet outstanding or future
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commitments of the Parent. Management is not aware of any factors that would cause these ratings to be
adversely impacted.

The liquid assets held by bank subsidiaries include available for sale securities, which consist mainly
of investments in U.S. government, federal agency, mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities. The
available for sale bank portfolio totaled $3.93 billion at December 31, 2002, including an unrealized net
gain of $119.4 million. Investment securities expected to mature in 2003 and 2004 total approximately
$432 million and $1.17 billion, respectively.

The Company continues to maintain a strong equity to assets ratio of 10.92%, based on 2002 average
balances. At December 31, 2002, the Company and each of its banking subsidiaries exceeded the minimum
risk based capital requirements established by banking regulatory agencies. These requirements specify
ratios which represent capital, defined as Tier 1 and Total, as a percentage of assets and off-balance-sheet
items which have been weighted according to broad risk categories. A leverage ratio compares Tier 1
capital to adjusted average assets. At December 31, 2002, the consolidated Tier 1 and Total risk based
capital ratios were 12.67% and 14.05%, respectively, and the leverage ratio was 10.18%. The minimum
ratios for well-capitalized banks are 6.00% for Tier 1 capital, 10.00% for Total capital and 5.00% for the
leverage ratio.

The cash flows from the operating, investing and financing activities of the Company resulted in a net
decrease in cash and due from banks of $113.8 million in 2002. Financing activities provided cash of
$85.4 million, resulting from a $372.5 million increase in borrowings of federal funds, partly offset by a
$115.9 million decline in deposits and FHLB advance repayments of $53.9 million, net of new borrowings.
The Company’s treasury stock repurchase program required $83.9 million, and cash dividend payments
amounted to $42.2 million. Cash of $461.9 million was used in investing activities, which included a
$471.4 million net increase in investment securities, a $278.0 million net increase in loans, and a
$358.1 million net decrease in overnight investments. Operating activities, which typically generate signif-
icant liquidity, provided cash of $262.7 million. Future short-term liquidity needs for daily operations are
not expected to vary significantly and the Company maintains adequate liquidity to meet these cash flows.
The Company’s sound equity base, along with its low debt level, common and preferred stock availability,
and excellent debt ratings, provide several alternatives for future financing. Future acquisitions may
utilize partial funding through one or more of these opticns.

Cash and stock requirements for acquisitions, funding of various employee benefit stock programs and
dividends were as follows:

(In millions) 2002 2001 2000
Use of cash
Purchases of treasury stock $83.9 $58.7 $98.7
Exercise of stock options, sales to affiliate non-

employee directors and restricted stock awards, net (8.9) (6.6) (3.4
Cash dividends 42,2 403 376
Use of stock _
Acquisition-related issuance of new stock — 344 —

In January 2003, the Board of Directors authorized the Company to purchase additional shares of
common stock under its stock repurchase program, which brought the total purchase authorization to
4,000,000 shares. The Company has routinely used these reacquired shares to fund the Company’s annual
5% stock dividends and various employee benefit programs. During 2002, the Company acquired approxi-
mately 2,002,000 shares under Board authorizations at an average price of $41.90.

Per share cash dividends paid by the Company increased 6.7% during 2002 compared to 2001. Total
return to shareholders, including cash and stock dividends and changes in stock price, was 12.2% for the
past three years and 3.7% for the past five years. In January 2003, the Board of Directors increased the
cash dividend per share by 6.6% over 2002, making 2003 the 35th consecutive year the Company has
increased cash dividends.
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During 2002, the Company contributed $19.3 million to its pension plan. The contribution was made to
mitigate the effect of declining returns and valuations in the pension assets. The contribution had no
significant effect on the Company’s overall liquidity. In determining pension expense, the Company makes
several assumptions, including the discount rate and long-term rate of return on assets. These assump-
tions are determined at the beginning of the plan year based on interest rate levels and financial market
performance. For 2002 these assumptions were as follows:

Discount rate 7.25%
Long-term rate of return on assets 9.00%

With the low interest rate and sluggish economic environment, the Company expects to decrease the
discount rate to 6.75% and long-term rate of return on assets to 8.00% in determining 2003 pension
expense. The Company estimates that the effects of these changes in assumptions will be to increase
pension cost by less than $1.5 million.

Various commitments and contingent liabilities arise in the normal course of business which are not
required to be recorded on the balance sheet. The most significant of these are loan commitments totaling
$3.04 billion (excluding approximately $2.31 billion in unused approved lines of credit related to credit card
loan agreements) and standby letters of credit, net of participations to non-affiliated companies, totaling
$305.7 million at December 31, 2002. The Company has various other financial instruments with
off-balance-sheet risk, such as commercial letters of credit and commitments to purchase and sell when-
issued securities. Management does not anticipate any material losses arising from commitments and
contingent liabilities and believes there are no material commitments to extend credit that represent risks
of an unusual nature.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

The Asset/Liability Management Committee measures and manages the Company’s interest rate risk
sensitivity on a monthly basis to maintain stability in earnings throughout various rate environments.
Three main analytical tools provide management insight into the Company’s exposure to changing rates:
repricing or GAP reports, net interest income simulations, and market value analyses. These measure-
ment tools indicate that the Company is currently within acceptable risk guidelines as set by management.

The schedule that follows shows a summary of the maturities or re-pricing opportunities of the
Company’s earning assets and interest bearing liabilities. This schedule portrays the re-pricing risk within
the Company’s balance sheet by taking the difference between maturities (or re-pricing periods) for
interest earning assets and interest bearing liabilities. A negative sensitivity gap indicates that more
liabilities will re-price within that particular time frame. If rates rise, liabilities will be re-pricing up faster
than assets. A positive gap would indicate the opposite. GAP reports such as this typically capture only the
re-pricing timing within the balance sheet and are less accurate in capturing other significant risks such as
basis risk and embedded options risk. Basis risk involves the potential for the spread relationship between
rates to change under different rate environments, while embedded options risk addresses the potential for
the alteration of the level and/or timing of cash flows given changes in rates. Quantifying these additional
risks within a re-pricing context would make the gap position in the first year more positive, as the
recognition of mortgage prepayments would shorten the duration of assets and partial re-pricing of some
deposits would lengthen the duration of liabilities.

The Company’s main interest rate measurement tool, income simulations, projects net interest income
under various rate scenarios in order to quantify the magnitude and timing of potential rate-related
changes in net interest income. Income simulations are able to capture more of the dynamics within the
balance sheet such as basis risk and embedded options risk. Management has set guidelines specifying
acceptable limits within which net interest income can change under various rate change scenarios. These
rate movements include a “most likely” rate forecast provided by an outside vendor, as well as “shock”
scenarios which are intended to capture interest rate risk under adverse conditions by immediately
shifting rates up and down. Simulation results indicate that the Company is within all limits. Interest rate
risk is also measured by simulating changes in net interest income under gradually rising and declining

25




parallel shift scenarios, as well as scenarios which allow for twists in the shape of the yield curve. The
composition of products on the balance sheet is assumed to remain constant so that the analyses capture
risks to the current balance sheet mix only. As of December 31, 2002, various gradual basis point shifts in
the LIBOR yield curve would be expected to have the following impact on net interest income for twelve
months.

Increase % of Net
(Dollars in millions) (Decrease) Interest Income
200 basis points rising $ 2 .03%
100 basis points rising 1.2 23
100 basis points falling (7.1) (1.41)

The Company also uses market value analyses to help identify longer-term risks that may reside on
the current balance sheet. This is considered a secondary risk measurement tocl by management. The
Company measures the market value of equity as the net present value of all asset and liability cash flows
discounted along the current LIBOR curve plus apprepriate market risk spreads. It is the change in the
market value of equity under different rate environments, which gives insight intc the magnitude of risk te
future earnings due to rate changes. Management has set limits concerning potential declines in the
market value of equity within which it feels comfortable that risk is relatively low. Current results show
that the Company is within these limits. Market value analyses also help management understand the
price sensitivity of non-marketable bank preducts under different rate environments.

In 2001, the Federal Reserve sharply reduced short-term rates, and for most of 2002, the Federal
Reserve held short-term rates flat, easing rates by 50 basis points in November. While most of the
Company’s variably priced assets had been affected by rate reductions in 2001, its fixed rate loans
continued to re-price downward during much of 2002 as loans matured or new lcans were added. Total
average loans grew approximately $52 million during the first six months of 2002 mainly due to growth in
consumer and business loans, and the mix of new loans helped tc keep earning asset yields relatively
constant. Also through the first six months of 2002, certificate of deposit accounts continued to re-price
downward and the Company experienced some run-cff of these accounts as depositors locked for alterna-
tive higher yielding accounts. Other non-maturity deposits showed some balance growth and rates re-
mained relatively constant. The combination of these effects for the first six months allowed the Company
to improve its net interest income and overall margin, and the Company remained less asset sensitive.
During the second half of 2002, rates on all deposits continued to decline and deposit growth slowed.
Seasonal commercial lending increased and added purchases of investment securities occurred, funded
mainly from short-term borrowings. As a result, net interest income improved. The recent reduction in
short-term rates in November, however, limited the Company’s ability to lower deposit rates on all
products. While certificates of deposit and money market accounts declined, rates on interest checking
accounts (18% of interest bearing deposits) moved down only slightly. At the same time, large portions of
the Company’s variably priced assets re-priced downward. The increase in fixed rate investment securities
earlier in the year helped to offset some of this re-pricing risk.

Thus, with the growth in loans experienced this year, many of which are variably priced, coupled with
fewer certificates of deposit and a larger investment securities portfolio, the Company has achieved a more
balanced interest rate risk profile than in the previous year. Its main risk is that of falling interest rates,
and the profile above shows that if rates fell by 100 basis points, net interest income would decline by
$7.1 million. While it is unlikely that rates will be lowered to that extent in the future, it remains the
largest risk to the Company’s net interest income.

The Company’s balance sheet is well diversified, with strong liquidity and low interest rate risk.
Estimated maturities in the investment securities portfolio for 2003 are in excess of $430 million. The use
of derivative products is limited and the deposit base is strong and stable. The lcan to deposit ratio, while
showing some growth towards the end of 2002, is still at relatively low levels, which should present the
Company with opportunities to fund future loan growth at reasonable costs.
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The following is an analysis of sensitivity gaps of interest earning assets and interest bearing
liabilities:

Repricing and Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis
December 31, 2002

1-3 4-6 7-12 1-5 Over 5
(Dollars in thousands) Months Months Months Years Years Total
Interest earning assets:
Loans, net of unearned
income $3,982,657 $ 190,766 $ 795,486 $2,462,401 $ 444,634 $ 7,875,944
Investment securities 302,052 104,674 220,452 2,741,530 906,540 4,275,248
Federal funds sold and
securities purchased
under agreements to
resell 16,945 — — — — 16,945
Total interest earning
assets 4,301,654 295,440 1,015,938 5,203,931 1,351,174 12,168,137
Interest bearing liabilities:
Time open & C.D.’s of
less than $100,000 481,059 415,225 431,555 621,034 3,977 1,952,850
Time open & C.D.s of
$100,000 & over 257,364 137,692 87,614 120,037 644 603,351

Savings, interest
checkin(% and money
market®

Federal funds purchased
and securities sold
under agreements to

2,596,711 1,340,148 236,359 1,176,816 528,196 5,878,230

repurchase 1,459,868 — — — — 1,459,868
Long-term debt and
other borrowings 255,537 36 72 69,887 12,925 338,457
Total interest bearing
liabilities 5,050,539 1,893,101 755,600 1,987,774 545,742 10,232,756

Interest sensitivity gap $ (748,885) $(1,597,661) $ 260,338 $3,216,157 $ 805432 $ 1,935,381

Cumulative interest
sensitivity gap $ (748,885) $(2,346,546) $(2,086,208) $1,129,949 $1,935,381

Cumulative ratio of
interest-sensitive assets
to interest-sensitive
liabilities .85 .66 .73 1.12 1.18

(A) The Company recognizes the fact that, although savings and other interest bearing demand deposits can potentially re-price or be
withdrawn at any time, classifying these balances only within the 1 to 3 month time frame dramatically overstates their sensitivity.
Historical trends and analyses have shown that the majority of these deposits neither re-price fully with market rates nor will
customers significantly alter balances based on changes in market rates. These balances have been spread over longer time frames
to reflect these findings.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company maintains an overall interest rate risk management strategy that permits the use of
derivative instruments to modify exposure to interest rate risk. The Company’s interest rate risk manage-
ment strategy includes the ability to modify the re-pricing characteristics of certain assets and liabilities so
that changes in interest rates do not adversely affect the net interest margin and cash flows. Interest rate
swaps are used on a limited basis as part of this strategy. At present the Company has three outstanding
swaps which are accounted for as fair value hedges of fixed rate loans. This accounting results in the
changes in the fair values of the swaps and the hedged loans being offset against each other in current
earnings.
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The Company enters into foreign exchange derivative instruments as an accommodation to customers
and offsets the related foreign exchange risk by entering into offsetting third-party forward contracts with
approved reputable counterparties. In addition, the Company takes proprietary positions in such contracts
based on market expectations. This trading activity is managed within a policy of specific controls and
limits. Most of the foreign exchange contracts outstanding at December 31, 2002, mature within 3C days,
and the longest period to maturity is 12 months.

Additionally, interest rate lock commitments issued on residential mortgage loans intended to be held
for resale are considered derivative instruments. The interest rate exposure on these commitments is
economically hedged primarily with forward sale contracts in the secondary market.

The Company is exposed to credit risk in the event of nonperformance by counterparties to financial
instruments. The Company controls the credit risk of its financial contracts through credit approvals,
limits and monitoring procedures. Because the Company generally enters into transactions only with high
quality counterparties, losses associated with counterparty nonperformance on derivative financial instru-
ments have been immaterial. The amount of credit risk associated with these instruments is limited to the
cost of replacing a contract in a gain position, on which a counterparty may default.

The following table summarizes the notional amounts and estimated fair values of the Company’s
derivative instruments at December 31, 2002 and 2001. Notional amount, along with the other terms of the
derivative, is used to determine the amounts to be exchanged between the counterparties. Because the
notional amount does not represent amounts exchanged by the parties, it is not a measure of loss exposure
related to the use of derivatives nor of exposure to liquidity risk. Positive fair values are recorded in other
assets and negative fair values are recorded in other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

2002 2001

Positive Negative Positive  Negative

Notional Fair Fair Notional Fair Fair

(In thousands) Amount Value Value Amount Value Value
Interest rate swaps $ 23322 $ — $(2,293) $ 24912 $ — $ (551)

Foreign exchange contracts:

Forward contracts 126,438 7,388 {7,390) 99,232 3,373  (3,349)
Options written/purchased 2,175 10 (10) 1,950 2 (2)
Mortgage loan commitments 33,136 346 — 18,679 79 (162)
Mortgage loan forward sale contracts 33,074 8 87) 43,758 921 (1)
Total at December 31 $218,145 87,752 $(9,760) $188,531 $4,375 $(4,065)

Operating Segments

The Company segregates financial information for use in assessing its performance and allocating
resources among three operating segments. The results are determined based on the Company’s manage-
ment accounting process, which assigns balance sheet and income statement items to each responsible
segment. These segments are defined by customer base and product type. The management process
measures the performance of the operating segments based on the management structure of the Company
and is not necessarily comparable with similar information for any other financial institution. Each
segment is managed by executives who, in conjunction with the Chief Executive Officer, make strategic
business decisions regarding that segment. The three reportable operating segments are Consumer, Com-
mercial and Money Management. Additional information is presented in the Segments note to the consoli-
dated financial statements.

Beginning in 2002, the Company implemented a new funds transfer pricing method to value funds
used (e.g., loans, fixed assets, cash, etc.) and funds provided (deposits, borrowings, and equity) by the
business segments and their components. This new process assigns a specific value to each new source or
use of funds with a maturity, based on current LIBOR interest rates, thus determining an interest spread
at the time of the transaction. Non-maturity assets and liabilities are assigned to LIBOR based funding
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pools. Previous methodology used funding pools based on average rates to assign and determine value. The
new method should provide a more accurate means of valuing fund sources and uses in a varying interest
rate environment. The segment most affected by the change was the Consumer segment, whose credit for
funds generated in 2002 declined significantly compared to 2001.

Consumer

The Consumer segment includes the retail branch network, consumer finance, bankcard, student
loans and discount brokerage services. Pre-tax income for 2002 was $129.2 million, a decrease of $51.5 mil-
lion, or 28.5%, from 2001. Most of the decrease was due to lower allocated funding credits of $122.0 million,
as discussed above. Direct net interest income increased $66.4 million, and charge-offs declined $4.1 mil-
lion. Non-interest income rose $3.1 million, mainly due to higher credit card fees, deposit account charges,
and brokerage related fees. Credit card fees were higher due to growth in debit card fees, deposit account
charges increased due to higher overdraft and return items fees, and higher brokerage revenue resulted
from increased sales of annuities. Non-interest expense increased $3.0 million mainly due to higher costs
for salaries and employee benefits, marketing and check processing charges, partly offset by lower data
processing charges. Total average assets directly related to the segment declined 1.7% from 2001. Average
segment loans decreased 1.1% compared to 2001 mainly as a result of a decline in personal real estate
loans, and average deposits increased slightly, .2%.

Commercial

The Commercial segment provides corporate lending, leasing, international services, and corporate
cash management services. Pre-tax income increased $7.7 million, or 7.4%, over 2001. Assigned funding
costs declined $74.3 million compared to the previous year. Non-interest income rose $4.4 million, mainly
in fees earned on commercial cash management accounts. Partly offsetting these effects was a $66.7 mil-
lion, or 23.3%, decline in direct net interest income from the previous year. In addition, non-interest
expense increased $4.2 million due to higher indirect costs for management fees and loan servicing costs.
During 2002, total average loans decreased .2%, compared to a 2.7% increase during 2001. Average
deposits increased 8.4% during 2002, compared to a 3.1% increase during 2001.

Money Management

The Money Management segment consists of the trust and capital markets activities. The Trust group
provides trust and estate planning services, and advisory and discretionary investment management
services. It also provides investment management services to The Commerce Funds, a series of mutual
funds with $2.03 billion in total assets. The Capital Markets group sells primarily fixed-income securities
to individuals, corporations, correspondent banks, public institutions, and municipalities, and also pro-
vides investment safekeeping and bond accounting services. Pre-tax income for the segment was $29.3 mil-
lion in 2002 compared to $31.9 million in 2001, a decrease of $2.6 million. The decrease was due to higher
non-interest expense of $2.6 million, mainly in salaries and employee benefits. Non-interest income de-
clined $864 thousand, mainly due to lower trust revenues but offset by higher bond trading revenues.
Trust revenues declined as a result of lower asset valuations upon which fees are based, while bond trading
revenues grew 4.1% from continued strong customer demand for fixed income products. The assigned
credit for funds declined $2.6 million. Direct net interest income rose $3.4 million. Average assets de-
creased $123.2 million during 2002 because of lower overnight investments. Average deposits increased
$164.6 million during 2002 and $87.6 million during 2001 due to increased sales of short-term certificates
of deposit over $100 thousand to corporate customers.

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In June 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement No. 146, “Account-
ing for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities”. The provisions of this Statement are effective for
exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. The Company does not believe that the
adoption of Statement No. 146 will have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.
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In October 2002, the FASB issued Statement No. 147, “Acquisitions of Certain Financial Institutions”.
This Statement provides guidance on the accounting for the acquisition of a financial institution and
applies to all acquisitions except those between two or more mutual enterprises. Those transition provi-
sions were effective on October 1, 2002. The scope of Statement No. 144 was amended to include long-term
customer-relationship intangible assets such as depositor- and borrower-relationship intangible assets and
credit cardholder intangible assets. The Company does not believe that the adoption of Statement No. 147
will have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, “Requirements for Guarantees Including
Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others”. This Interpretation elaborates on the disclosures to be
made by a guarantor in its interim and annual financial statements about its obligations under certain
guarantees that it has issued. It also clarifies that a guarantor is required to recognize, at the inception of a
guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken in issuing the guarantee. The disclo-
sure requirements in this Interpretation are effective for financial statements of interim or annual periods
ending after December 15, 2002. The Company does not believe that the adoption of Interpretation No. 45
will have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In December 2002, the FASB issued Statement No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation —
Transition and Disclosure”. This Statement, which amends Statement No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensaticn”, provides alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value
based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition it requires more promi-
nent and more frequent disclosures in financial statements about the effects of stock-based compensation.

Effective January 1, 2003, the Company voluntarily adopted the fair value recognition provisions of
Statement No. 123 for stock-based employee compensation. All prior periods in future reports will be
restated to refiect the compensation expense that would have been recognized had the recognition provi-
sions of Statement No. 123 been applied to all awards granted to employees after January 1, 1995. Pro
forma information under the provisions of Statement No. 123 may be found in the Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies in the notes to consolidated financial statements.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”.
This Interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, Consolidated Financial Statements, elabo-
rates on the financial statement disclosures to be made by enterprises involved with variable interest
entities, including requiring consolidation of entities in which an enterprise has a controlling financial
interest that is not controlled through voting interests. The requirements in this Interpretation are
effective for variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003 and the first fiscal or interim period
beginning after June 15, 2003 for variable interest entities acquired before that date. The Company does
not believe that the adoption of Interpretation No. 46 will have a significant impact on its consolidated
financial statements.

Effects of Inflation

The impact of inflation on financial institutions differs significantly from that exerted on industrial
entities. Financial institutions are not heavily involved in large capital expenditures used in the produc-
tion, acquisition or sale of products. Virtually all assets and liabilities of financial institutions are mone-
tary in nature and represent obligations to pay or receive fixed and determinable amounts not affected by
future changes in prices. Changes in interest rates have a significant effect on the earnings of financial
institutions. Higher interest rates generally follow the rising demand of borrowers and the corresponding
increased funding requirements of financial institutions. Although interest rates are viewed as the price of
borrowing funds, the behavior of interest rates differs significantly from the behavior of the prices of goods
and services. Prices of goods and services may be directly related to that of other goods and services while
the price of borrowing relates more closely to the inflation rate in the prices of those goods and services. As
a result, when the rate of inflation slows, interest rates tend to decline while absolute prices for goods and
services remain at higher levels. Interest rates are also subject to restrictions imposed through monetary

30




policy, usury laws and other artificial constraints. The rate of inflation has been relatively low in recent
years.

Corporate Governance

The Company has adopted a number of corporate governance measures. Information on corporate
governance is available on the Company’s web site www.commercebank.com under Investor Relations.

Forward-Looking Statements

This report may contain “forward-looking statements” that are subject to risks and uncertainties and
include information about possible or assumed future results of operations. Many possible events or factors
could affect the future financial results and performance of the Company. This could cause results or
performance to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements. Words such as
“expects”, “anticipates”, “believes”, “estimates”, variations of such words and other similar expressions are
intended to identify such forward-looking statements. These statements are not guarantees of future
performance and involve certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions which are difficult to predict.
Therefore, actual outcomes and results may differ materially from what is expressed or forecasted in, or
implied by, such forward-looking statements. Readers should not rely solely on the forward-looking state-
ments and should consider all uncertainties and risks discussed throughout this report. Forward-looking
statements speak only as of the date they are made. The Company does not undertake to update forward-
looking statements to reflect circumstances or events that occur after the date the forward-looking state-
ments are made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. Such possible events or factors
include: changes in economic conditions in the Company’s market area, changes in policies by regulatory
agencies, governmental legislation and regulation, fluctuations in interest rates, changes in liquidity
requirements, demand for loans in the Company’s market area, and competition with other entities that
offer financial services.
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AVERAGE BALANCE SHEETS - AVERAGE RATES AND YIELDS

Years Ended December 31

2002 2001 2000
Average Average Average
Interest Rates Interest Rates Interest Rates
Average Income/ Earned/ Average Income/  Earned/ Average Income/ Earned/
(Dollars in thousands) Balance Expense Paid Balance Expense Paid Balance Expense Paid
ASSETS
Loans:®
Business® $ 2,418,517 $114,275  4.73% $ 2,556,796 $168,868 6.60% $ 2,628,201 $215,199 8.19%
Real estate — construction 474,307 28,894 5.04 409,262 29,698 7.23 382,106 33,364 8.73
Rea] estate — business 1,488,012 88,845 5.98 1,398,366 103,551 741 1,267,872 104,757 8.26
Real estate — personal 1,247,209 82,382 8.61 1,339,436 98,283 7.34 1,417,548 105,229 7.42
Personal banking 1,646,64% 110,726 6.72 1,616,254 128,639 7.96 1,608,795 136,165 8.46
Credit card 492,148 53,126 10.7% 489,817 62,668 12.79 497,519 70,256 14,12
Total loans 7,761,742 473,042 8.09 7,809,931 591,607 7.58 7,802,041 664,970 8.52
Investment securities:
U.S. government & federal
agency 1,233,040 57,159 4.64 892,248 48,666 5.45 913,285 56,486 6.18
State & municipal obligations® 41,103 3,078  7.49% 55,379 4,225 7.63 72,209 5,841 7.81
CMO’s and asset-backed
securities 2,118,480 112,703 5.32 1,284,355 77,066  6.00 1,034,172 64,336 6.22
Trading securities 16,831 532 4.88 15,924 774 4.86 11,000 765 6.95
Other marketable securities™ 124,648 4,258  3.42 159,897 6,742  4.22 86,133 5,895 6.84
Non-marketable securities 66,668 2,781 4.17 68,299 3,246 4.75 68,013 3,786 5.57
Total investment securities 3,594,848 180,512 5.02 2,476,102 140,719 5.68 2,184,812 136,909 6.27
Federal funds sold and securities
purchased under agreements to
resell 84,278 1,486 1.76 541,930 22,386 4.13 227,628 14,517 6.38
Total interest earning assets 11,440,868 655,040 5.73 10,827,963 754,712 6.97 10,214,476 816,396 7.99
Less allowance for loan losses (129,950) (129,978) (125,887)
Unrealized gain (loss) on
investment securities 114,908 56,296 (3,146)
Cash and due from banks 511,798 532,715 533,028
Land, buildings and
equipment — net 329,553 286,166 244,877
Other assets 146,871 _ 162,661 __ 162,709
Total assets $12,413,838 $11,735,823 $11,026,057
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Interest bearing deposits:
Savings $ 353,779 2,148 81§ 323,462 3,345 1.03 $ 316,532 5,484 1.73
Interest checking and money
market 5,762,485 43,101 75 5,253,024 97,746 1.86 4,896,337 144,398 2.95
Time open & C.D.s of less than
$100,000 2,048,041 70,367 3.44 2,259,161 121,851 5.39 2,068,653 112,182 5.42
Time open & C.D.’s of $100,000
and over 651,336 18,252 2.80 530,874 27,699 5.22 328,652 18,275 5.56
Total interest bearing deposits 8,813,621 133,866 1.52 8,366,521 250,641 3.00 7,610,174 280,339 3.68
Borrowings:
Federal funds purchased and
securities sold under
agreements to repurchase 776,231 9,917 1.28 607,187 19,345 3.19 771,182 44 936 5.78
Long-term debt and other
borrowings'®’ 367,317 9,299  2.53 296,041 13,775  4.65 104,958 6,613 6.30
Total borrowings 1,143,548 19,216 1.68 903,228 33,120 3.67 882,740 51,549 5.84
Total interest bearing
ligbilities 9,857,169 153,082 1.54% 9,269,749 283,761 3.06% 8,492,914 331,888 3.91%
Non-interest bearing demand
deposits 974,941 1,101,174 1,331,220
Other liabilities 125,782 142,061 101,215
Stockholders’ equity 1,355,246 1,222,839 1,100,708
Total liabilities and equity $12,413,838 $11,735,823 $11,026,057
Net interest margin (T/E) $501,958 $470,951 $484,508
Net yield on interest earning
assets 4.38% 4.35% 4.74%

Percentage increase {decrease)
in net interest margin (T/E)
compared to the prior year 8.58% (2.80)% 2.88%

(A)  Loans on non-accrual status are included in the computation of average balances. Included in interest income above are loan fees
and late charges, net of amortization of deferred loan origination costs, which are immaterial. Credit card income from
merchant discounts and net interchange fees are not included in loan income.

(B)  Interest income and yields are presented on a fully-taxable equivalent basis using the Federal statutory income tax rate. Business
loan interest income includes tax free loan income of $3,355,000 in 2002, $3,937,000 in 2001, $3,587,000 in 2000, $3,579,000 in
1999 and $3,499,000 in 1998, including tax equivalent adjustments of $1,142,000 in 2002, 81,266,000 in 2001, $1,118,000 in
2000, $1,153,000 in 1999 and $1,122,000 in 1998. State and municipal interest income includes tax equivalent adjustments of
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Years Ended December 31

1999 1998 1997 Average
Average Average Average Balance
Interest Rates Interest Rates Interest Rates Five Year
Average Income/ Earned/ Average Income/ Earned/ Average Income/ Earned/ Compound
Balance Expense Paid Balance Expense Paid Balance Expense Paid Growth Rate
$ 2,424,416 $177,298 7.31% $ 2,211,936 $171,290 7.74% $1,835,546 $146,304 7.97% 5.67%
352,767 27,612 7.83 257,920 21,123 8.19 247,530 21,458 8.67 13.89
1,075,335 85,661 7.97 955,057 79,850 8.36 824,356 70,539 8.56 12.46
1,337,678 97,051 7.26 1,256,118 94,399 7.52 1,068,668 84,255 7.88 3.14
1,525,662 123,076 8.07 1,402,676 119,894 8.55 1,308,293 112,572 8.60 471
501,109 65,193 13.01 513,124 68,776 13.40 530,799 71,621 13.47 (1.50)
7,216,867 575,891 7.98 6,596,831 555,332 8.42 5,815,192 506,649 8.71 5.94
1,263,601 75,865 6.00 1,418,501 87,349 6.16 1,599,452 99,895 6.25 (5.07)
91,390 7,273 7.96 98,664 7,909 8.02 99,328 7,775 7.83 (16.18)
1,162,167 71,805 6.18 880,617 55,5655 6.31 789,039 50,030 6.34 21.84
13,163 845 6.42 11,302 554 4.90 8,358 444 5.32 5.51
116,431 6,993 6.01 142,125 8,325 5.86 111,140 6,624 5.96 2.32
51,976 2,901 5.58 52,994 3,664 6.91 61,128 3,369 5.51 1.75
2,698,728 165,682 6.14 2,604,203 163,356 6.27 2,668,445 168,137 6.30 6.14
287,305 14,297 4.98 292,863 15,781 5.39 246,361 13,647 5.54 (19.31)
10,202,900 755,870 7.41 9,493,897 734,469 7.74 8,729,998 688,433 7.89 5.56
(119,567) (110,904) (102,145) 493
41,438 65,420 25,903 NM
590,367 608,981 635,444 (4.24)
228,236 218,201 213,087 9.11
169,748 204,205 178,320 (3.83)
$11,113,122 $10,479,800 $9,680,607 5.10
$ 336,845 5,765 1.71 $ 317,833 7,354 2.31 $ 301,010 7,284 2.42 3.28
5,073,867 126,014 2.48 4,377,794 134,773 3.08 3,776,101 126,719 3.36 8.82
2,182,804 109,857 5.03 2,197,549 118,581 5.40 2,160,892 116,798 5.41 (1.09)
293,926 14,572 4.96 252,628 13,713 5.43 210,283 11,280 5.36 25.37
7,887,442 256,208 3.25 7,145,804 274,421 3.84 6,448,286 262,081 4.06 6.45
621,160 27,827 4.48 533,862 25,827 4.84 450,439 22,202 4.93 11.50
26,627 884 3.32 12,953 494 3.82 11,565 851 7.37 99,70
647 787 28,711 4.43 546,815 26,321 4.81 482,004 23,053 4.99 19.87
8,535,229 284,919 3.34% 7,692,619 300,742 3.91% 6,910,290 285,134 4.13% 7.58
1,372,100 1,622,429 1,750,171 (11.04)
126,591 135,539 77,945 10.04
1,079,202 1,029,213 942,201 7.55
$11,113,122 $10,479,800 $9,680,607 5.10%
$470,951 $433,727 $403,299
4.62% 4.57% 4.62%
8.58% 7.54% 8.64%

$999,000 in 2002, $1,325,000 in 2001, $1,753,000 in 2000, $2,375,000 in 1999 and $2,641,000 in 1998. Interest income on other
marketable securities includes tax equivalent adjustments of $346,000 in 2002, $332,000 in 2001, $424,000 in 2000, $551,000 in
1999 and $416,000 in 1998.
(C)  Interest expense of $494,000, $747,000, $433,000, $312,000 and $31,000 which was capitalized on construction projects in 2002,
2001, 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively, is not deducted from the interest expense shown above.




QUARTERLY AVERAGE BALANCE SHEETS - AVERAGE RATES AND YIELDS

Year Ended December 31, 2002

Fourth Quarter

Third Quarter

Second Quarter

First Quarter

Average Average Average Average
Rates Rates Rates Rates
Average Earned/ Average Earned/ Average Earned/ Average Earned/
(Dollars in millions) Balance Paid Balance Paid Balance Paid Balance Paid
ASSETS
Loans:
Business'” $ 2,454 437% $ 2,404 4.84% $ 2,433 4.77% $ 2,382  4.93%
Real estate - construction 492  4.82 487 5.00 478  5.09 440 5.27
Real estate — business 1,528 5.75 1,477 5.97 1,453 6.07 1,474  6.13
Real estate — perscnal 1,237 6.26 1,228 6.52 1,248 6.72 1,276  6.92
Personal banking 1,738 6.35 1,694 6.52 1,594 6.95 1,558 17.15
Credit card 508 10.75 494 10.94 480 10.47 487 11.02
Total loans 7,957 5.80 7,784  6.08 7,686 6.16 7,617 6.36
Investment securities:
U.S. government & federal agency 1,330 4.72 1,338 4.30 1,130 5.17 1,130 4.39
State & municipal obligations® 48  6.53 37 765 39 7.99 40  8.02
CMO’s and asset-backed securities 2,136  5.10 2,126 5.21 2,070 543 2,142 5.55
Trading securities 12 4.34 11 4.89 13  5.28 8§ 493
Other marketable securities® 102 4.01 74  4.60 123 3.19 201 2.80
Non-marketable securities 69 4.20 66 4.44 66 3.84 66 4.20
Total investment securities 3,697 493 3,652  4.87 3,441 5.26 3,687 5.03
Federal funds sold and securities purchased
under agreements to resell 78  1.52 45  2.05 90 1.84 124 1.76
Total interest earning assets 11,732  5.50 11,481 5.68 11,217 5.85 11,328 5.89
Less allowance for loan losses (131) (130) (129) (130)
Unrealized gain on investment securities 155 1486 81 77
Cash and due from banks 517 510 511 509
Land, buildings and equipment — net 336 334 329 319
Other assets 148 149 140 150
Total assets 812,757 $12,490 $12,149 $12,253
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Interest bearing deposits:
Savings $ 354 50 $ 359 64 $ 362 64 $ 340 .64
Interest checking and money market 5,846 61 5,740 7 5,758 .80 5,705 .81
Time open & C.D.’s under $100,000 1,967 3.07 1,999 3.18 2,074 348 2,146 4.02
Time open & C.D.’s $100,000 & over 620 2.58 666  2.65 686  2.77 633 3.21
Total interest bearing deposits 8,787 1.30 8,764  1.46 8,880 1.57 8,824 1.78
Borrowings:
Federal funds purchased and securities
sold under agreements to repurchase 1,062  1.21 843 1.38 513 1.22 692 1.29
Long-term debt and other borrowings 361 2.23 356 2.29 361  2.63 392 294
Total borrowings 1,413 1.47 1,189 1.65 874 1.80 1,084 1.89
Total inmterest bearing liabilities 10,200 1.32% 9,963 1.48% 9,754 1.59% 9,908 1.77%
Non-interest bearing demand deposits 1,014 997 958 929
Other liabilities 142 143 101 117
Stockholders’ equity 1,401 1,387 1,336 1,299
Total liabilities and equity $12,757 $12,490 $12,149 $12,253
Net interest margin (T/E) $ 129 $ 127 $ 125 $ 121
Net yield on interest earning assets 4.35% 4.40% 4.47% 4.34%

(A) Includes tax equivalent calculations.
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Year Ended December 31, 2001

Fourth Quarter Third Quarter Second Quarter First Quarter
Average Average Average Average
Rates Rates Rates Rates
Average Earned/ Average Earned/ Average FEarned/ Average Earned/
(Dollars in millions) Balance Paid Balance Paid Balance Paid Balance Paid
ASSETS
Loans:
Business'”’ $ 2,430 5.26% $ 2,476 6.32% $ 2,650 6.89% $ 2,674 7.84%
Real estate — construction 413 5.86 414  7.23 418 748 392 847
Real estate — business 1,464 6.58 1,421 7.30 1,372  7.70 1,335 813
Real estate — personal 1,295 7.01 1,320 7.21 1,357 7.46 1,388 7.64
Personal banking 1,611 7.31 1,645 7.69 1,604  B.27 1,605  8.59
Credit card 486 11.51 483 12.10 487 13.14 503 14.39
Total loans 7,609 6.66 7,759 7.35 7,888  7.83 7,897 8.46
Investment securities:
U.S. government & federal agency 1,017 4.70 951 517 868 5.98 730  6.28
State & municipal obligations® 47 7.81 55 7.75 57 777 62 1724
CMO’s and asset-backed securities 1,837 5.73 1,282 5.99 1,098 6.17 910 6.36
Trading securities 13 .97 15 5.88 16 4.24 19 732
Other marketable securities™ 281  3.46 143 368 107 544 107 575
Non-marketable securities 68 2.73 71 6.33 66 4.54 68 5.33
Total investment securities 3,263 5.16 2,517  5.60 2,212  6.04 1,896  6.29
Federal funds sold and securities purchased
under agreements to resell 301 212 698 3.58 586 4.40 584 5.59
Total interest earning assets 11,263 6.11 10,974 6.71 10,686 7.27 10,377 7.90
Less allowance for loan losses (130) (130) (131) (129)
Unrealized gain on investment securities 91 53 46 34
Cash and due from banks 530 532 554 514
Land, buildings and equipment — net 306 298 277 263
Other assets : 151 166 171 164
Total assets $12,211 $11,893 $11,603 $11,223
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Interest bearing deposits:
Savings $ 330 .65 $ 330 88 $ 328 104 $ 305 1.62
Interest checking and money market 5,580 1.03 5,469 161 5,040 211 4,915 2.85
Time open & C.D.’s under $100,000 2280 4.85 2,300 5.26 2,284 563 2,170 5.87
Time open & C.D.’s $100,000 & over 579  4.33 545 5.12 530 5.62 468 5.99
Total interest bearing deposits 8,769  2.23 8644 2.77 8,182 3.28 7,858  3.83
Borrowings:
Federal funds purchased and securities
sold under agreements to repurchase 643 1.58 629 2.89 589  3.69 566  4.86
Long-term debt and other borrowings 414 3.35 326  4.53 211 571 231 6.24
Total borrowings 1,057 2.27 955 3.45 800 4.22 797 5.26
Total interest bearing liabilities 9826 223% 9,599 2.84% 8,982 3.36% 8,655 3.96%
Non-interest bearing demand deposits 958 915 1,276 1,261
Other liabilities 147 145 139 136
Stockholders’ equity 1,280 1,234 1,206 1,171
Total liabilities and equity $12,211 $11,893 $11,603 $11,223
Net interest margin (T/E) $ 118 $ 117 $ 118 $ 118
Net yield on interest earning assets 4.16% 4.22% 4.44% 4.60%
(A) Includes tax equivalent calculations.
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UMMARY OF QUARTERLY STATEMENTS OF INCOME
Year Ended December 21, 2002 For the Quarter Ended

{In thousands, except per share data) 12/31/02 9/30/02 6/30/02 3/31/02
Interest income $161,807 $163,760  $163,050 $163,836
Interest expense (33,977) (36,979) (38,484) (43,148)
Net interest income 127,930 126,781 124,566 120,688
Non-interest income 72,500 69,547 69,427 69,098
Salaries and employee benefits (62,651) (63,203) (61,066) (63,635)
Other expense (52,435) (47,806) (51,719) (50,412)
Provision for loan losses (10,848) (9,193) (8,668) (7,399)
Income before income taxes 74,496 76,126 74,540 68,340
Income taxes (23,031) (25,111) (24,434) (21,428)
Net income $ 51,465 $ 51,015 § 50,106 $ 46,912
Net income per share — basic* $ g7 08 7508 73 $ 68
Net income per share — diluted* $ 68 74 08 7208 .67
Weighted average shares — basic* 67,237 68,020 68,783 68,795
Weighted average shares — diluted* 67,971 68,787 69,741 69,676
Year Ended December 31, 2001 For the Quarter Ended
(In thousands, except per share data) 12/31/01 9/30/01 6/30/01 3/31/01
Interest income $172,605 $184,826 $192,895  $201,463
Interest expense (565,155) (68,527) (75,058) (84,274)
Net interest income 117,450 116,299 117,837 117,189
Non-interest income 70,215 68,697 69,031 66,756
Salaries and employee benefits (60,033) (59,415) (58,772) (57,913)
Other expense (49,555) (50,404) (51,490) (50,408)
Provision for loan losses (10,584) (8,317) (7,992) (9,530)
Income before income taxes 67,493 67,160 68,614 66,094
Income taxes (20,697) (21,642) (22,831) (22,217)
Net income $ 46,796 $ 45,518 $ 45,783 $§ 43,877
Net income per share — basic* $ 68 $ 88 $ 656 63
Net income per share — diluted* $ 67 $ 65 3 85 3 .63
Weighted average shares — basic* 68,879 69,232 69,513 69,317
Weighted average shares — diluted* 69,650 70,051 70,258 70,282
Year Ended December 31, 2000 For the Quarter Ended

 (In thousands, except per share data) 12/31/00 9/30/00 6/30/00 3/31/00
Interest income $206,388  $206,990  $202,659  $197,084
Interest expense (86,297) (86,074) (81,454) (77,630)
Net interest income 120,091 120,916 121,205 119,434
Non-interest income 68,286 67,022 63,703 56,625
Salaries and employee benefits (55,723) (565,107) (54,963) (54,883)
Other expense (54,807) (58,030) (50,542) (50,187)
Provision for loan losses (8,067) (8,2186) (10,211) (8,665)
Income before income taxes 69,780 66,585 69,192 62,364
Income taxes (23,557) (21,092) (23,589) (21,109)
Net income $ 46,223 $ 45,493 $ 45,603 $ 41,255
Net income per share — basic* $ 66 $ 85 $ 64 8 .58
Net income per share — diluted* $ 66 $ 84 3 64 3 .57
Weighted average shares - basic* 69,245 69,962 70,861 71,837
Weighted average shares — diluted* 70,191 70,821 71,629 72,505

* Restated for the 5% stock dividend distributed in 2002.
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Item 7a. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The information required by this item is set forth on pages 25 through 28 of Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Consolidated Financial Condition and Results of Cperations.

Item 8. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Statement of Management’s Responsibility

The management of Commerce Bancshares, Inc. is responsible for the preparation, integrity, and fair
presentation of its published consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared by the Company in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America and, in the judgment of management, present fairly the Company’s financial position
and results of operations. The financial information contained elsewhere in this report is consistent with
that in the consolidated financial statements. The financial statements and other financial information in
this report include amounts that are based on management’s best estimates and judgments giving due
consideration to materiality.

The Internal Audit department of the Company reviews, evaluates, monitors and makes recommenda-
tions on both administrative and accounting control, which acts as an integral, but independent, part of the
system of internal controls.

Through their audit the independent public accountants, KPMG LLP, appointed by the Board of
Directors, upon the recommendation of the Audit Committee, provide an independent review of internal
accounting controls and financial reporting. The independent public accountants have conducted such tests
and related procedures as they have deemed necessary to form an opinion on the fairness of the presenta-
tion of the financial statements.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, composed solely of directors who are not officers or
employees of the Company, meets periodically with the management, internal auditors and independent
public accountants to ensure that each is discharging its responsibilities. Both the internal auditors and
the independent public accountants have free access to the Audit Committee without management pre-
sent. The committee also reviews significant changes in (1) accounting policies, (2) internal accounting
controls, and (3) financial statements prepared for public distribution.

The Company maintains a system of internal accounting controls to provide reasonable assurance that
assets are safe-guarded and that transactions are executed in accordance with management’s authoriza-
tion and recorded properly to permit the preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Management recognizes
that even a highly effective internal control system has inherent risks, including the possibility of human
error and the circumvention or overriding of controls, and that the effectiveness of an internal control
system can change with circumstances. However, management believes that the internal control system
provides reasonable assurance that errors or irregularities that could be material to the consolidated
financial statements are prevented or would be detected on a timely basis and corrected through the
normal course of business. As of December 31, 2002, management believes that the internal controls are in
place and operating effectively.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors
Commerce Bancshares, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Commerce Bancshares, Inc. and
Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the related consolidated statements of income,
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2002.
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our respon-

sibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by manage-
ment, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Commerce Bancshares, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002
and 2001, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended December 31, 2002, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

" As discussed in the Intangible Assets and Goodwill note to the consolidated financial statements, the
Company changed its method of accounting for goodwill in 2002.

dJanuary 31, 2003
Kansas City, Missouri
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Commerce Bancshares, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31

2002 2001
(In thousands)
ASSETS
Loans, net of unearned income $ 7,875,944 $ 7,638,482
Allowance for loan losses (130,618) (129,973)
Net loans 7,745,326 7,508,509
Investment securities:
Available for sale 4,201,477 3,654,919
Trading 11,635 12,265
Non-marketable 62,136 65,073
Total investment securities 4,275,248 3,732,257
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to resell 16,945 375,060
Cash and due from banks 710,406 824,218
Land, buildings and equipment — net 335,230 313,383
Goodwill 43,224 43,968
Other intangible assets — net 3,567 6,842
Other assets 178,069 103,909
Total assets $13,308,415 $12,908,146
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Deposits:
Non-interest bearing demand $ 1,478,880 $ 1,579,679
Savings, interest checking and money market 5,878,230 5,652,715
Time open and C.D.’s of less than $100,000 1,852,850 2,188,448
Time open and C.D.’s of $100,000 and over 603,351 611,043
Total deposits 9,913,311 10,031,885
Federal funds purchased and securities sold under agreements to
repurchase 1,459,868 1,087,402
Long-term debt and other borrowings 338,457 392,586
Other liabilities 180,442 123,790
Total liabilities 11,892,078 11,635,663
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $1 par value
Authorized and unissued 2,000,000 shares — —
Common stock, $5 par value
Authorized 100,000,000 shares; issued 67,238,437 shares in 2002 and
65,575,525 shares in 2001 336,132 327,878
Capital surplus 261,772 213,888
Retained earnings 729,587 700,230
Treasury stock of 136,236 shares in 2002 and
138,565 shares in 2001, at cost (5,507) (5,187)
Other (1,800) (1,749)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 96,093 37,423
Total stockholders’ equity 1,416,337 1,272,483
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $13,308,415 $12,908,146

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Commerce Bancshares, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

For the Years Ended December 31

(In thousands, except per share data) 2002 2001 2000
INTEREST INCOME
Interest and fees on loans $471,900 $590,341 $663,852
Interest on investment securities 179,167 139,062 134,732
Interest on federal funds sold and securities purchased under

agreements to resell 1,486 22,386 14,517
Total interest income 652,553 751,789 813,101
INTEREST EXPENSE
Interest on deposits:

Savings, interest checking and money market 45,247 101,091 149,882

Time open and C.D.’s of less than $100,000 70,367 121,851 112,182

Time open and C.D.’s of $100,000 and over 18,252 27,698 18,275
Interest on federal funds purchased and securities sold under

agreements to repurchase 9,917 19,345 44,936
Interest on long-term debt and other borrowings 8,805 13,028 6,180
Total interest expense 152,588 283,014 331,455
Net interest income 499,965 468,775 481,646
Provision for loan losses 34,108 36,423 35,159
Net interest income after provision for loan losses 465,857 432,352 446,487
NON-INTEREST INCOME
Trust fees 60,682 62,753 58,588
Deposit account charges and other fees 91,303 84,486 71,025
Credit card transaction fees 87,850 54,583 51,453
Trading account profits and commissions 15,954 15,332 8,594
Consumer brokerage services 9,744 9,206 9,077
Mortgage banking revenue 4,277 6,195 3,521
Net gains on securities transactions 2,835 3,140 8,393
Other 37,927 39,304 44 9385
Total non-interest income 280,572 274,999 255,636
NON-INTEREST EXPENSE
Salaries and employee benefits 250,555 236,133 220,656
Net occupancy 34,635 32,027 30,381
Equipment 22,865 21,991 20,673
Supplies and communication 32,929 33,778 34,048
Data processing and software 44,963 47,178 48,664
Marketing 15,001 12,914 13,274
Goodwill amortization —_ 4,665 4,784
Other intangible assets amortization 2,323 3,040 3,373
Other 49,656 46,264 58,349
Total non-interest expense 452,927 437,990 434,202
Income before income taxes 293,502 269,361 267,921
Less income taxes 94,004 87,387 89,347
Net income $199,498 $181,874 $178,574
Net income per share — basic $ 298 $ 263 $ 253
Net income per share — diluted $ 289 $§ 260 $ 251

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Commerce Bancshares, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31

(In thousands) 2002 2001 2000
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $ 199,498 $ 181974 $ 178,574
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by

operating activities:

Provision for loan losses 34,108 36,423 35,159

Provision for depreciation and amortization 35,210 37,879 36,786

Amortization of investment security premiums, net 18,913 5,427 1,931

Provision (benefit) for deferred income taxes 12,996 (7,501) (2,583)

Net gains on securities transactions (2,835) (3,140) (8,393)

Net decrease in trading securities 1,985 7,471 4,386

(Increase) decrease in interest receivable 868 7,494 (4,339)

Increase (decrease) in interest payable (11,559) (13,250) 11,444

Increase (decrease) in income taxes payable (7,331) 3,079 (1,344)

Other changes, net (19,285) 16,485 (23,831)
Net cash provided by operating activities 262,668 272,341 227,790
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net cash received in acquisition —_ 15,035 —
Cash paid in sales of branches (20,252) (4,282) (20,226)
Proceeds from sales of available for sale securities 299,626 341,580 212,481
Proceeds from maturities of available for sale securities 1,408,251 1,507,647 1,424,409
Purchases of available for sale securities (2,179,276) (3,5642,577) (1,060,710)
Net (increase) decrease in federal funds sold and securities

purchased under agreements to resell 358,115 (119,600) (3,233)
Net (increase) decrease in loans (277,988) 429,024 (394,928)
Purchases of land, buildings and equipment (54,035) {78,598) (49,079)
Sales of land, buildings and equipment 3,644 2,697 1,773
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (461,915) (1,449,074) 110,487
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net increase (decrease) in non-interest bearing demand,

savings, interest checking and money market deposits 102,783 604,373 (48,754)
Net increase (decrease) in time open and C.D.’s (218,730) 183,641 74,374
Net increase {decrease) in federal funds purchased and

securities sold under agreements to repurchase 372,466 539,492 (498,555)
Repayment of long-term debt and other borrowings (103,937) (100,897) (840)
Additional long-term debt and other borrowings 50,000 250,000 200,000
Purchases of treasury stock (83,879) (58,685) (98,720)
Issuance under stock purchase, option and benefit plans 8,817 6,557 3,398
Cash dividends paid on common stock {42,185) {40,254) (37,613)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 85,435 1,384,227 (406,710)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (113,812) 207,494 (68,433)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 824,218 616,724 685,157

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

$ 710,406 $§ 824,218 $ 616,724

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Commerce Bancshares, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Accumulated
Other
Common Capital Retained Treasury Comprehensive

(In thousands, except per share data) Stock Surplus Earnings Stock Other Income(Loss) Total
Balance, December 31, 1999  $312,140 $129,173 §$ 642,746 § (2,089) § (916) $(1,222) $1,079,832
Net income 178,574 178,574
Other comprehensive income,

net of tax 17,189 17,189
Total comprehensive income 195,763
Purchase of treasury stock (98,720) (98,720)
Cash dividends paid

($.536 per share) (87,613) (37,613)
Issuance under stock purchase,

option and award plans, net (2,535) 7,439 (263) 4,641
5% stock dividend, net 1,139 20,798 (112,560) 90,475 (148}
Balance, December 31, 2000 313,279 147,436 671,147 (2,895) (1,179) 15,967 1,143,755
Net income 181,974 181,974
Other comprehensive income,

net of tax 21,373 21,373
Total comprehensive income 203,347
Purchase of treasury stock (58,685) (58,685)
Cash dividends paid

($.580 per share) (40,254) (40,254)
Issuance under stock purchase,

option and award plans, net 123 (5,670) 15,507 (570) 9,390
Pooling acquisition 4,384 5,414 5,198 83 15,079
5% stock dividend, net 10,092 66,708 (117,835) 40,886 (149)
Balance, December 31, 20601 327,878 213,888 700,230 (5,187) (1,749} 37,423 1,272,483
Net income 199,488 199,498
Other comprehensive income,

net of tax 58,870 58,870
Total comprehensive income 258,168
Purchase of treasury stock (83,879) (83,879)
Cash dividends paid

($.618 per share) (42,185) (42,185)
Issuance under stock purchase,

option and award plans, net 341 (4,849) 18,479 BL 11,920
5% stock dividend, net 7,973 52,733 (127,856) 67,080 (170)
Balance, December 31, 2002 $336,192 $261,772 $ 729,587 §$ (5,507) $(1,800) $96,003 $1,416,337

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Commerce Bancshares, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Nature of Operations

Commerce Bancshares, Inc. (the Company) conducts its principal activities through its banking and
non-banking subsidiaries from approximately 340 locations throughout Missouri, Illinois and Kansas.
Principal activities include retail and commercial banking, investment management, securities brokerage,
mortgage banking, credit related insurance, venture capital and real estate activities.

Basis of Presentation

The Company follows accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(GAAP) and reporting practices applicable to the banking industry. The preparation of financial state-
ments under GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in the financial statements and notes. While the consolidated financial statements reflect man-
agement’s best estimates and judgment, actual results could differ from those estimates. The consolidated
financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its substantially wholly-owned subsidiaries
(after elimination of all material intercompany balances and transactions). Certain amounts for prior years
have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

Intangible Assets

The Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets”, on January 1, 2002. This Statement established new accounting and reporting for
acquired goodwill and other intangible assets. Under Statement No. 142, goodwill and intangible assets
that have indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are tested at least annually for impairment.
Intangible assets that have finite useful lives, such as core deposit intangibles, continue to be amortized
over their useful lives. Prior to the adoption of Statement No. 142, goodwill had been amortized using the
straight-line method over periods of 15-25 years, as reflected in the accompanying 2001 and 2000 consoli-
dated income statements. Core deposit intangibles have been amortized over a maximum of 10 years using
accelerated methods for all periods presented.

When facts and circumstances indicate potential impairment of amortizable intangible assets, the
Company evaluates the recoverability of the asset carrying value, using estimates of undiscounted future
cash flows over the remaining asset life. Any impairment loss is measured by the excess of carrying value
over fair value. Goodwill impairment tests are performed on an annual basis or when events or circum-
stances dictate. In these tests, the fair values of each reporting unit, or segment, is compared to the
carrying amount of that reporting unit in order to determine if impairment is indicated. If so, the implied
fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill is compared to its carrying amount and the impairment loss is
measured by the excess of the carrying value over fair value.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

In the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include only
“Cash and due from banks” as segregated in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Loans

Interest on loans is accrued based upon the principal amount outstanding. Interest income is recog-
nized primarily on the level yield method. Loan and commitment fees, net of costs, are deferred and
recognized in income over the term of the loan or commitment as an adjustment of yield.
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Residential mortgage loans held for sale are valued at the lower of aggregate cost or fair value. The
Company generally has commitments to sell fixed rate residential mortgage loans held for sale in the
secondary market. Gains or losses on sales are recognized upen delivery in mortgage banking revenue.

It is the general policy of the Company to stop accruing interest income and recognize interest on a
cash basis when any commercial or real estate loan is 90 days or more past due as to principal or interest
and/or the ultimate collection of either is in doubt, unless the loan is well-secured and, in management’s
judgment, considered to be fully collectible. Accrual of interest on consumer installment loans is suspended
when any payment of principal or interest is more than 120 days delinquent. Credit card loans and the
related accrued interest are charged off when the receivable is more than 180 days past due. When a loan
is placed on non-accrual status, any interest previously accrued but not collected is reversed against
current income. The Company classifies all non-accrual loans and loans 90 days delinquent and still
accruing interest as impaired. Generally, the Company evaluates loans for impairment when a portion of a
loan is internally risk rated as substandard or doubtful. Impaired loans are measured based on the present
value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loan’s effective interest rate or the fair value of the
underlying collateral.

Allowance / Provision for Loan Losses

The Company maintains an allowance to absorb probable loan losses inherent in the portfolio. Actual
loan losses, net of recoveries, are deducted from the allowance. A provision for loan losses, which is a
charge against earnings, is added to the allowance. The provision is based upon management’s estimate of
the amount required to maintain an adequate allowance for losses, reflective of the risks in the loan
portfolio. This estimate is based upon reviews of the portfolio, past loan loss experience, current economic
conditions and such other factors, which in management’s judgment, deserve current recognition.

Investments in Debt and Equity Securities

Securities classified as available for sale are carried at fair value. Their related unrealized gains and
losses, net of tax, are reported in accumulated other comprehensive income, a component of stockholders’
equity. Premiums and discounts are amortized to interest income over the estimated lives of the securities.
Realized gains and losses, including other-than-temporary declines in value, are calculated using the
specific identification method and included in non-interest income.

Non-marketable securities include certain venture capital investments and stock acquired for various
debt and regulatory requirements. Non-marketable venture capital investments are reported at estimated
fair values, in the absence of readily ascertainable market values. Management believes that the cost of an
investment is initially considered the best indication of estimated fair value. Subsequently, these invest-
ments are adjusted to reflect changes in valuation as a result of a public offering or other-than-temporary
declines in value. Other non-marketable securities acquired for debt and regulatory purposes are ac-
counted for at cost.

Trading account securities, which are bought and held principally for the purpose of resale in the near
term, are carried at fair value. Gains and losses, both realized and unrealized, are recorded in non-interest
income.,

Land, Buildings and Equipment

Land is stated at cost, and buildings and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation is computed using straight-line and accelerated methods. The Company currently assigns
depreciable lives of 30 years for buildings, 10 years for improvements, and 3 to 8 years for equipment,
Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.
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Income Taxes

Amounts provided for income tax expense are based on income reported for financial statement
purposes and do not necessarily represent amounts currently payable under tax laws. Deferred income
taxes are provided on temporary differences between the financial reporting bases and income tax bases of
the Company’s assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates
and laws that are expected to be in effect when the differences are anticipated to reverse. The effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized as income or expense in the period
that includes the change.

The Company and its eligible subsidiaries file consolidated income tax returns. Accordingly, amounts
equal to tax benefits of those subsidiaries having taxable losses or credits are reimbursed by other
subsidiaries that incur tax liabilities.

Derivatives

The Company is exposed to market risk, including changes in interest rates and currency exchange
rates. To manage the volatility relating to these exposures, the Company’s risk management policies
permit its use of derivative products. The Company manages potential credit exposure through established
credit approvals, risk control limits and other monitoring procedures. The Company uses derivatives on a
limited basis mainly to stabilize interest rate margins and hedge against interest rate movements, or to
facilitate customers’ foreign exchange requirements. The Company more often manages normal asset and
liability positions by altering the products it offers and by selling portions of specific loan or investment
portfolios as necessary.

The Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, “Accounting for Deriva-
tive Instruments and Hedging Activities”, and its amendments on January 1, 2001. The Statement
required that all derivative financial instruments be recorded on the balance sheet at fair value, with the
adjustment to fair value recorded in current earnings. Derivatives that qualify under the Statement in a
hedging relationship are designated, based on the exposure being hedged, as fair value or cash flow hedges.
Under the fair value hedging model, gains or losses attributable to the change in fair value of the
derivative, as well as gains and losses attributable to the change in fair value of the hedged item, are
recognized in current earnings. Under the cash flow hedging model, the effective portion of the gain or loss
related to the derivative is recognized as a component of other comprehensive income. The ineffective
portion is recognized in current earnings.

Upon the Company’s adoption of Statement No. 133, it recorded a transition adjustment that in-
creased 2001 net income by $9,000. Because of its immateriality, the adjustment was not presented
separately in the income statement as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle. The
Company’s derivative usage is discussed in the Derivative Instruments note to the consolidated financial
statements.

Employee Stock Options

The Company accounts for stock-based awards to employees using the intrinsic value method of
accounting in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees”. Under the intrinsic value method, because the exercise price of the Company’s employee stock
options equals the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant, compensation expense is not
recognized. This method is employed for all of the Company’s option plans except its restricted stock award
plan, in which the market price of the underlying stock at grant is recorded as unearned compensation and
amortized to expense over the vesting period. Had compensation cost for the Company’s other stock option
plans been determined based upon the fair value at the grant date for awards under these plans consistent
with the methodology prescribed under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting
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for Stock-Based Compensation”, the Company’s net income and income per share would have been reduced
to the pro forma amounts shown below.

(In thousands, except per share data) 2002 2001 2000
Net income:
As reported $199,498 $181,874 $178,574
Compensation expense, net of tax (3,427) (3,412) (2,904)
Pro forma $196,071 $178,562 $175,870
Basic income per share:
As reported $ 293 $§ 263 $ 253
Pro forma 2.87 2.58 2.49
Diluted income per share:
As reported $ 289 $ 260 $ 251
Pro forma 2.84 2.55 2.46

In determining the pro forma disclosures above, the fair value of options granted was estimated on the
date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Black-Scholes model was developed to
estimate the fair value of traded options, which have different characteristics than employee stock options,
and changes to the subjective assumptions used in the model can result in materially different fair value
estimates. Below are the fair values of options granted using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and
the model assumptions.

2002 2001 2000

Weighted per share average fair value

at grant date $ 1031 $ 1080 $ 6.53
Assumptions:

Dividend yield 1.6% 1.7% 2.0%

Volatility 24.6% 24.5% 24.7%

Risk-free interest rate 3.5% 4.7% 5.1%

Expected life 7.0 years 7.2 years 4.8 years

All per share amounts in the above tables have been restated for the 5% stock dividend distributed in
2002.

Effective January 1, 2003, the Company voluntarily adopted the fair value recognition provisions of
Statement No. 123 for stock-based employee compensation. All prior periods in future reports will be
restated to reflect the compensation expense that would have been recognized had the recognition provi-
sions of Statement No. 123 been applied to all awards granted to employees after January 1, 1995.

Treasury Stock
Purchases of the Company’s common stock are recorded at cost. Upon reissuance, treasury stock is
reduced based upon the average cost basis of shares held.

Income per Share

Basic income per share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstand-
ing during each year. Diluted income per share includes the effect of all dilutive potential common shares
(primarily stock options) outstanding during each year. All per share data has been restated to refiect the
5% stock dividend distributed in December 2002.

Acquisitions

Effective January 2003, the Company acquired The Vaughn Group, Inc., a direct lessor of equipment
which is based in Cincinnati, Chio. The Vaughn Group, Inc. (Vaughn) has a lease portfolio of approximately
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$38.7 million consisting mainly of data processing hardware. In addition, Vaughn services approximately
$425 million of lease agreements for other institutions involving capital equipment, ranging from produc-
tion machinery to transportation equipment. The Company issued stock valued at $6.0 million and paid
cash of $2.5 million in the acquisition. The purchase agreement provides for an earnout amounting to
$3.5 million which is payable in cash over three years, subject to certain conditions and calculations. The
acquisition will be accounted for as a purchase. Goodwill of approximately $5 million will be recognized in
the transaction and recorded in the 2003 consolidated financial statements.

Effective March 1, 2001, the Company acquired Breckenridge Bancshares Company and its subsidiary
bank, Centennial Bank, in St. Ann, Missouri, with assets of $254 million, loans of $189 million, and
deposits of $216 million. The Company issued common stock valued at $34.4 million as consideration in the
transaction, which was accounted for as a pooling of interests. Financial statements for periods prior to the
consummation of the acquisition have not been restated because such restated amounts do not differ
materially from the Company’s historical financial statements. The following schedule summarizes pro
forma consolidated financial data as if the Breckenridge acquisition had been consummated on January 1,
2000.

(In thousands, except per share data) 2001 2000

Net interest income plus non-interest income $745,066 $746,439
Net income 180,919 180,344
Net income per share — diluted 2.58 2.50

Loans and Allocwance for Loan Losses

Major classifications of loans at December 31, 2002 and 2001 are as follows:

(In thousands) 2002 2001

Business $2.263,644 $2,407,418
Real estate — construction 404,519 412,700
Real estate — business 1,736,646 1,505,443
Real estate — personal 1,282,223 1,287,954
Personal banking 1,662,801 1,514,650
Credit card 526,111 510,317
Total loans $7,875,944 $7,638,482

At December 31, 2002, the Company elected to reclassify certain segments of its business, construc-
tion, business real estate and personal portfolios. The reclassifications were made to better realign the loan
reporting with its related collateral and purpose. The reclassifications also corrected certain construction
loans that had moved into amortizing term loans following project completion. The reclassification in-
creased business real estate loans by $209.6 million, personal real estate loans by $55.6 million and
personal banking loans by $26.0 million, while business loans decreased $202.6 million and construction
real estate loans decreased $88.6 million.

Loans to directors and executive officers of the Parent and its significant subsidiaries and to their
associates are summarized as follows:

(In thousands)

Balance at January 1, 2002 $ 37,791
Additions 39,996
Amounts collected (23,003)
Amounts written off —
Balance at December 31, 2002 $ 54,784
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Management believes all loans to directors and executive officers have been made in the ordinary
course of business with normal credit terms, including interest rate and collateral considerations, and do
not represent more than a normal risk of collection. There were no outstanding loans at December 31,
2002, to principal holders of the Company’s common stock.

The Company’s lending activity is generally centered in Missouri and its contiguous states. The
Company maintains a diversified portfolic with limited industry concentrations of credit risk. Loans and
lcan commitments are extended under the Company’s normal credit standards, controls, and monitoring
features. Most loan commitments are short and intermediate term in nature. Loan maturities, with the
exception of residential mortgages, generally do not exceed five years. Collateral is commonly required and
would include such assets as marketable securities and cash equivalent assets, accounts receivable and
inventory, equipment, other forms of personal property, and real estate. At December 31, 2002, unfunded
loan commitments totaled $3,037,111,000 (excluding $2,310,239,000 in unused approved lines of credit
related to credit card lean agreements) which could be drawn by customers subject to certain review and
terms of agreement. At December 31, 2002, loans of $935,201,000 were pledged at the Federal Home Loan
Bank (FHLB) by subsidiary banks as collateral for borrowings and letters of credit obtained to secure
public deposits. Additional loans of $267,531,000 were pledged at the Federal Reserve as collateral for
discount window borrowings. There were no discount window borrowings at December 31, 2002.

A summary of the allowance for lean losses is as follows:

Years Ended December 31

(In thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Balance, January 1 $129,873 $128,445 $123,042
Additions:

Provision for loan losses 34,108 36,423 35,158

Allowance of acquired bank —_ 2,519 —
Total additions 34,108 38,942 35,159
Deductions:

Loan losses 47,885 50,795 41,326

Less recoveries 14,422 13,381 11,570
Net loan losses 33,463 37,414 29,756
Balance, December 31 $130,618 $129,973 $128,445

Impaired loans include all non-accrual leans and loans 90 days delinguent and still accruing interest.
The net amount of interest income recorded on such loans during their impairment pericd was not
significant. The Company had ceased recognition of interest income on loans with a book value of
$28,065,000 and $28,819,000 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The interest income not
recognized on non-accrual loans was $2,609,000, $2,437,000 and $1,805,000 during 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. Loans 90 days delinquent and still accruing interest amounted to $22,428,000 and
$19,699,000 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Average impaired loans were $49,010,000
during 2002, $46,340,000 during 2001 and $41,500,000 during 2000.

The following table presents information on impaired loans at December 31:

(In thousands) 2002 2001

Impaired loans for which an allowance has been provided $22,308 $19,860
Impaired loans for which no allowance has been provided 28,185 28,658

Total impaired loans $50,493 $48518
Allowance related to impaired loans $ 6,581 $ 4,662
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Investment Securities

A summary of the available for sale investment securities by maturity groupings as of December 31,
2002 follows below. The weighted average yield for each range of maturities was calculated using the yield
on each security within that range weighted by the amortized cost of each security at December 31, 2002.
Yields on tax exempt securities have not been adjusted for tax exempt status.

Weighted
Amortized Average
(Dollars in thousands) Cost Fair Value Yield
U.S. government and federal agency
obligations:
Within 1 year $ 134,260 $ 135,475 3.96%
After 1 but within 5 years 793,146 831,995 4.69
After 5 but within 10 years 434,082 443,122 2.75
After 10 years 63,037 63,734 2.92
Total U.S. government and federal
agency obligations 1,424,525 1,474,326 3.95
State and municipal obligations:
Within 1 year 9,611 9,768 4.08
After 1 but within 5 years 39,395 40,287 3.53
After 5 but within 10 years 23,605 23,669 3.58
After 10 years 4,428 4,586 6.38
Total state and municipal oblljgations 77,039 78,320 3.78
CMO’s and asset-backed securities 2,345,889 2,415,258 5.32
Other debt securities:
Within 1 year 5,735 5,735
After 1 but within 5 years 28,425 29,247
After 5 but within 10 years 5,129 5,145
Total other debt securities 39,289 40,127
Equity securities 159,746 193,446
Total available for sale investment
securities $4,046,488 $4,201,477
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The unrealized gains and losses by type are as follows:

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized  Unrealized

(In thousands) Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
December 31, 2002
U.S. government and federal

agency obligations $1,424,525 § 49,803 $ 2 $1,474,328
State and municipal

obligations 77,039 1,684 403 78,320
CMOQO’s and asset-backed

securities 2,345,889 70,5677 1,208 2,415,258
Other debt securities 39,289 838 —_ 49,127
Equity securities 159,746 33,700 — 193,446
Total $4,046,488 $156,602 § 1,613 $4,201,477
December 31, 2001
U.S. government and federal

agency obligations $1,129,757 $ 23,863 $ 6,011 $1,147,615
State and municipal

obligations 42,075 1,458 325 43,209
CMO’s and asset-backed

securities 2,185,776 21,979 11,204 2,176,551
Other debt securities 65,840 214 — 66,054
Equity securities 185,508 35,982 — 221,490
Total $3,588,956 $ 83,503 $17,540 $3,654,919

The following table presents proceeds from sales of securities and the components of net securities
gains.

(In thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Proceeds from sales $299.626 $341,580 $212,481
Realized gains $ 7281 $ 8796 $ 12,675
Realized losses 4,446 5,656 4,282
Net realized gains $ 2835 $ 3,140 $ 8,393

Investment securities with a par value of $636,549,000 and $551,954,000 were pledged at Decem-
ber 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, to secure public deposits and for other purposes as required by law.
Additional investment securities with a par value of $1,525,000 and $22,493,000 were pledged at Decem-
ber 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, at the Federal Reserve as collateral for discount window borrowings.
Except for U.S. government and federal agency obligations, no investment in a single issuer exceeds 10% of
stockholders’ equity.
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Land, Buildings and Equipment

Land, buildings and equipment consist of the following at December 31, 2002 and 2001:

(In thousands) 2002 2001

Land $ 66,588 $ 64,535
Buildings and improvements 375,000 357,430
Equipment 168,622 145,489
Total 610,111 567,454
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 274,881 254,071
Net land, buildings and equipment $335,230 $313,383

Depreciation expense of $28,140,000, $25,458,000 and $24,599,000 for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respec-
tively, was included in net occupancy expense, equipment expense and other expense in the consolidated
income statements. Repairs and maintenance expense of $15,861,000, $15,529,000 and $14,579,000 for
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, was included in net occupancy expense, equipment expense and other
expense. Interest expense capitalized on construction projects was $494,000, $747,000 and $433,000 in
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Intangible Assets and Goodwill

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted Statement of Accounting Standards No. 142, “Good-
will and Other Intangible Assets”. Statement No. 142 requires that goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives no longer be amortized, but instead tested for impairment at least annually. It also
requires that intangible assets with estimable useful lives be amortized over their respective estimated
useful lives to their estimated residual values, and reviewed for impairment. The reviews performed in
2002 revealed no impairment in the Company’s intangible assets.

The following table presents information about the Company’s intangible assets.

December 31, 2002 December 31, 2001
Gross Gross

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
(In thousands) Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
Amortized intangible assets:
Core deposit premium $47.930  $(44,687) $50,676 $(44,064)
Mortgage servicing rights 1,174 (1,040) 1,170 (940)
Total $49,104 $(45,137) $51,846 $(45,004)

As of December 31, 2002, the Company does not have any intangible assets that are not currently
being amortized. Aggregate amortization expense on intangible assets for the years ended December 31,
2002 and 2001 was $2,323,000 and $3,040,000, respectively. Estimated annual amortization expense for
the years 2003 through 2007 is as follows.

(In thousands)

2003 $1,815
2004 1,775
2005 : 543
2006 100
2007 100
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As required by Statement No. 142, the Company discontinued recording goodwill amortization effec-
tive January 1, 2002. The following table compares results of operations as if nc goodwill amortization had
been recorded in 2001 or 2000.

(In thousands, except per share data) 2002 2001 2000
Reported net income $199,498 $181,974 $178,574
Add back goodwill amortization — 4,665 4,784
Adjusted net income $199,498 $186,639 $183,358
Basic income per share:
Reported net income $ 29838 $§ 263 $ 253
Add back goodwill amortization —_ .07 .07

Adjusted net income 2838 $§ 2.70 2.0

$ $
Diluted income per share:
Reported net income $§ 289 $§ 260 $ 251
$

Add back goodwill amortization — .06 .06
289 $ 266 $ 257

Adjusted net income

Statement No. 142 also required the Company to perform an assessment of whether there was an
indication that goodwill was impaired as of January 1, 2002. To accomplish this, the Company first
identified its reporting units, which were determined to be the three reportable segments of Consumer,
Commercial, and Money Management. The carrying value of each reporting unit was then established by
assigning assets and liabilities, including the existing geodwill and intangible assets, to those reporting
units as of January 1, 2002. The fair value of each reporting unit was determined and compared to the
carrying amount of the reporting unit. Because the fair value of each of the reporting units exceeded the
carrying value of the unit, no impairment of reporting unit goodwill was indicated. As a result, no
impairment loss was recognized as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in the Com-
pany’s 2002 consolidated statement of income.

During the second quarter of 2002, the Company scld several bank branches. Goodwill and other

intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization, amounting to $1,300,000 were reversed in the determi-
nation of the gain recorded.

Depoeosits

At December 31, 2002, the scheduled maturities for time open and certificates of deposit were as
follows:

(In thousands)

Due in 2003 $1,773,753
Bue in 2004 360,203
Due in 2005 338,705
Due in 2006 35,488
Due in 2007 42,429
Thereafter 4,623
Total $2,556,201

Regulations of the Federal Reserve System require reserves to be maintained by all banking institu-
tions according to the types and amounts of certain deposit liabilities. These requirements restrict usage of
a portion of the amounts shown as consclidated “Cash and due from banks” from everyday usage in
operation of the banks. The minimum reserve requirements for the subsidiary banks at December 31,
2002, totaled $96,005,000.
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Borrowings

Short-term borrowings of the Company consisted mainly of federal funds purchased and securities sold
under agreements to repurchase. The following table presents balance and interest rate information on
these and other short-term borrowings.

Maximum
Year End Average  Average Outstanding
Weighted Weighted Balance at any Balance at
(Dollars in thousands) Borrower Rate Rate  Outstanding Month End  December 31
Federal funds purchased and Subsidiary banks
securities sold under
agreements to repurchase
2002 1.0% 1.3% $776,231 $1,459,868 $1,459,868
2001 1.3 3.2 607,187 1,087,402 1,087,402
2000 5.7 5.8 777,182 1,047,916 543,874
FHLB advances Subsidiary banks
2001 — 5.6 59,315 100,000 —
2000 6.9 7.0 39,617 100,000 100,000

Debt of the Company which had an original term of over one year consisted of the following at
December 31, 2002.

Year End

Maturity Weighted Year End

(Dollars in thousands) Borrower Date Rate Balance
FHLB advances Subsidiary banks 8/15/03 1.5% $250,000
5/18/05 7.1 15,000
2006 3.3 38,000
2007 3.6 12,000
2008 2.6 7,721
Structured notes payable Venture capital subsidiary 12/1/07 NM 4,085
9/1/12 NM 7,615
Trust preferred securities Subsidiary holding company 2030 10.9 4,000
Other 136
Total long-term debt $338,457

Banking subsidiaries of the Company are members of the FHLE and have access to term financing
from the FHLB. These borrowings are secured under a blanket collateral agreement including primarily
residential mortgages as well as all unencumbered assets and stock of the borrowing bank. Rates in effect
on these borrowings at December 31, 2002, ranged from 1.5% on floating rate debt to 7.1% on fixed rate
debt. Approximately $67,221,000 of FHLB advances outstanding at December 31, 2002, have a fixed
interest rate.

In 2001, the Company acquired trust preferred securities as a result of its purchase of Breckenridge
Bancshares Company (Breckenridge). Breckenridge had previously formed a wholly owned grantor trust
subsidiary (the Trust) to issue preferred securities representing undivided beneficial interests in the assets
of the Trust and to invest the gross proceeds of such preferred securities into notes of Breckenridge. The
sole assets of the Trust are $4,000,000 aggregate principal amount of the 10.87% subordinated debenture
notes due 2030 which are redeemable beginning in 2010. The notes were assumed by the Company as part
of the acquisition. Such securities qualify as Tier 1 Capital for regulatory purposes.

Other long-term debt includes funds borrowed from third-party insurance companies by a venture
capital subsidiary, a Missouri Certified Capital Company, to support its investment activities. Because the
insurance companies receive tax credits, the borrowings do not bear interest. This debt is secured by assets
of the subsidiary and letters of credit from an affiliate bank.
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Cash payments for interest on deposits and borrowings during 2002, 2001 and 2000 on a consolidated

basis amounted to $164,147,000, $296,302,000 and $320,071,000, respectively.

Income Taxes

Income tax expense (benefit) from operations for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
consists of:

(In thousands) Current Deferred Total
Year ended December 31, 2002:
U.S. federal $84,080 $13,118 $97,198
State and local (3,072) {122) (3,194)

$81,008 $12,996 $94,004

Year ended December 31, 2001:
U.S. federal $88,914 $(5,486) $83,428
State and local 5,974 (2,015) 3,959

$94,888 §$(7,501) $87,387

Year ended December 31, 2000:
U.S. federal $87,648 $(2,622) $85,026
State and local 4,282 39 4,321

$91,930 $(2,583) $89,347

Income tax expense (benefit) allocated directly to stockholders’ equity for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 consists of:

(In thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Unrealized gain on securities available for sale $33,836 $15,28% $10,467
Compensation expense for tax purposes in excess of

amounts recognized for financial reporting purposes (2,311) (2,143) (901)
Minimum pension liability 2,129 (2,129) —
Income tax expense (benefit) allocated to

stockholders’ equity $33,648 $11,017 $ 9,566
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and deferred tax liabilities at December 31, 2002 and 2001 are presented below.

The tax effect of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets

(In thousands) 2002 2001
Deferred tax assets:
Loans, principally due to allowance for loan losses $ 52,736 $ 55,089
Unearned fee income 532 592
Deferred compensation 1,522 1,691
Accrued expenses 1,021 1,875
Minimum pension liability — 2,129
Net operating loss carryforwards of acquired companies 36 61
Other 3,515 4,128
Total gross deferred tax assets 59,362 65,5665
Deferred tax liabilities:
Accretion on investment securities 711 894
Capitalized interest 770 770
Unrealized gain on securities available for sale 58,896 25,066
Land, buildings and equipment, purchase accounting 52,482 44,524
Core deposit intangible 1,118 1,755
Pension benefit obligations 7,523 1,739
Realignment of corporate entities 20,950 24,950
Total gross deferred tax liabilities 142,450 99,698
Net deferred tax liability $(83,088) $(34,133)

Actual income tax expense differs from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal income tax

rate of 35% as a result of the following:

(In thousands) 2002

2001 2000

Computed “expected” tax expense

Increase (reduction) in income taxes resulting from:
Amortization of goodwill 455
Tax exempt income (1,324)
Tax deductible dividends on allocated shares held by the Company’s

$102,726 $94,277 $93,772

1,644 2,361
(1,568)  (1,753)

ESOP (703 (820) (838)
Contribution of appreciated assets (420) — (1,064)
Federal tax credits (1,312) (3,957) (1,776)
State and local income taxes (2,076) 2,674 2,808
Other, net (8,342) (4,763) (4,163)

Total income tax expense

$ 94,004 $87,387 $89,347

Cash payments of income taxes, net of refunds and interest received, amounted to $102,635,000,

$87,984,000 and $92,247,000 on a consolidated basis during 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The Parent
had net receipts of $14,968,000, $2,930,000 and $1,622,000 during 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, from

tax benefits.

Employee Benefit Plans

Employee benefits charged to operating expenses aggregated $38,190,000, $30,887,000 and
$29,043,000 for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Substantially all of the Company’s employees are
covered by a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan. Participants are fully vested after five years of
service and the benefits are based on years of participation and average annualized earnings. The Com-
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any unfunded accrued actuarial liabilities over a reasonable period. The Company elected to make cash
contributions of $19,314,000 and $2,490,000 during 2002 and 2001, respectively. To the extent that these
requirements are fully covered by assets in the trust, a contribution may not be made in a particular year.

At December 31, 2001, the Company recorded a liability and offsetting charge to stockhclders’ equity,
net of deferred taxes, of $3,474,000 for the pension plan’s unfunded accumulated benefit obligation (ABO),
as required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions”.
As a result of the Company’s contributions in 2002, the fair value of the plan assets exceeded the ABO, and
the liability was reversed in the accompanying 2002 consolidated financial statements.

Certain key executives also participate in a second pension plan that the Company funds only as
retirement benefits are disbursed. This executive plan had an ABO of $556,000 at the September 30, 2002
valuation date, but carries no segregated assets. In the tables presented below, the two pension plans are
presented on a combined basis.

The following items are components of the net pension cost for the years ended December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000.

(In thousands) 2002 2001 2000

Service cost-benefits earned during the year $3,330 $3,356 $3,164
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 4,530 4,483 4,187
Expected return on plan assets 5,075y (6,266) (5,808)
Amortization of transition asset (638) (638) (638)
Amortization of prior service cost (128) (142) (142)
Unrecognized net loss 752 4 —
Net periodic pension cost $2771 $§ 797 $ 763

The following table sets forth the pension plans’ funded status, using valuation dates of September 30,
2002 and 2001.

(In thousands) 2002 2001
Change in projected benefit obligation

Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year $63,845 $ 59,844
Service cost 3,330 3,356
Interest cost 4,530 4,483
Amendments —_ 229
Benefits paid (4,599) (4,927)
Actuarial (gain) loss 5,171 860
Projected benefit obligation at end of year 72,277 63,845

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 53,500 71,587
Actual return on plan assets (3,461) (13,166)
Employer contributions 21,798 6
Benefits paid (4,599) (4,927)
Fair value of plan assets at September 30 67,238 53,500
Funded status 5,039 (10,345)
Unrecognized net loss from past experience different from that

assumed and effects of change in assumptions 28,248 13,293
Prior service benefit not yet recognized in net pension cost (435) (563)
Unrecognized net transition asset — (638)
Prepaid pension cost at September 30 $20,774 $ 1,747

The above prepaid pension cost includes an acerued benefit liability for the executive plan of $720,000
and $646,000 at September 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Employer contributions made after the
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September 30 valuation date but before the December 31 fiscal year end amounted to $2,000 in 2002 and
$2,486,000 in 2001.

(In thousands) 2002 2001
Amounts recognized on the December 31 balance sheet:
Prepaid pension cost $20,776 $ 4,233
Accrued benefit liability —  (5,603)
Accumulated other comprehensive income — 5,603
Net amount recognized at December 31 $20,776 $ 4,233

Assumptions used in computing the plans’ funded status were:

2002 2001 2000

Discount rate 6.75% 7.25% 1.75%%
Rate of increase in future compensation levels 570% 5.710% 5.70%
Long-term rate of return on assets 9.00% 9.00% 9.00%

At December 31, 2002, approximately 56% of plan assets were invested in corporate equities, 19% in
corporate bonds, and 18% U.S. government and agency securities.

In addition to the pension plans, substantially all of the Company’s employees are covered by a
contributory defined contribution plan (401K), the Participating Investment Plan. Under the plan, the
Company makes matching contributions, which aggregated $4,955,000 in 2002, $3,738,000 in 2001 and
$3,210,000 in 2000.
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Stock Option Plans, Restricted Stock Awards and Directors Stock Purchase Plan*

The Company has reserved 11,247,119 shares of its common stock for issuance under various stock
option plans offered to certain key employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. Options are granted, by
action of the Board of Directors, to acquire stock at fair market value at the date of the grant, for a term of
10 years.

At December 31, 2002, 2,686,809 shares remain available for option grants under these programs. The
following tables summarize option activity over the last three years and current cptions outstanding.

2002 - 2001 2000

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Option Option Option

Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

Qutstanding at beginning of
year 3,423,372 $26.06 3,356,773 $23.05 3,092,132 $22.14
Granted 592,255 40.37 614,106 35.82 616,256 26.40
Cancelled (39,821) 35.04 (55,559) 33.40 (101,146) 31.15
Exercised (483,807) 19.0% (491,948) 16.80 (250,469)  16.77
Outstanding at end of year 3,491,889 $29.36 3,423,372 $26.06 3,356,773  $23.05
Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Number Average Average Number Average
QOutstanding at Remaining Exercise Exercisable at Exercise

Range of Exercise Prices December 31, 2002 Contractual Life Price December 31, 2002 Price
$12.89 - $23.30 979,910 2.6 years $17.23 979,910 $17.23
$26.19 - $34.96 971,045 6.7 years 28.82 828,387 29.18
$35.13 - $39.52 970,817 6.0 years 35.64 687,888 35.52
$40.38 - $43.09 570,127 9.2 years 40.41 143,368 40.41
$12.89 - $43.09 3,491,899 6.0 years $29.36 2,640,653 $27.01

The Company has a restricted stock award plan under which 349,044 shares of common stock were
reserved, and 94,330 shares remain available for grant at December 31, 2002. The plan allows for awards
to key employees, by action of the Board of Directors, with restrictions as to transferability, sale, pledging,
or assigning, among others, prior to the end of the restriction period. The restriction period may not exceed
10 years. The Company issued awards totaling 19,016 shares in 2002, 44,758 shares in 2001 and
29,130 shares in 2000, resulting in deferred compensation amounts of $771,000, $1,535,000 and $782,000,
respectively. Approximately $692,000, $683,000 and $289,000 was amortized to salaries expense in 2002,
2001 and 2000, respectively. Unamortized deferred compensation of $1,800,000, $1,749,000 and $1,179,000
has been recorded as a reduction of stockholders’ equity at December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The Company has a directors steck purchase plan whereby outside directors of the Company and its
subsidiaries may elect to use their directors’ fees tec purchase Company stock at market value each month
end, Remaining shares available for this plan total 154,903 at December 31, 2002, In 2002, 15,496 shares
were purchased at an average price of $40.33 and in 2001, 18,053 shares were purchased at an average
price of $34.23.

* All share and per share amounts in this note have been restated for the 5% stock dividend distributed in 2002.

Comprehensive Income

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130 requires the reporting of comprehensive income
and its components. Comprehensive income is defined as the change in equity from transactions and other
events and circumstances from non-owner sources, and excludes investments by and distributions to
owners. Comprehensive income includes net income and other items of comprehensive income meeting the
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above criteria. The components of other comprehensive income as shown below are unrealized holding
gains and losses on available for sale securities and a minimum liability pension adjustment arising from
an accumulated benefit obligation in excess of the fair value of plan assets.

The amount of income tax expense or benefit allocated to each component of other comprehensive

income is as follows:

Unrealized Tax
Before-Tax (Expense) Net of Tax
(In thousands) Amount or Benefit Amount
Year ended December 31, 2002:
Unrealized gains on securities:
Unrealized holding gains (losses) $95,078 $(36,190) $58,888
Reclassification adjustment for (gains) losses
included in net income (6,052) 2,360 (3,692)
Net unrealized gains 89,026 (33,820) 55,196
Minimum pension liability adjustment 5,603 (2,129) 3,474
Other comprehensive income $94,629 $(35,959) $58,8670
Year ended December 31, 2001:
Unrealized gains on securities:
Unrealized holding gains (losses) $47,442 $(18,138) $29,304
Reclassification adjustment for (gains) losses
included in net income (7,306) 2,849 (4,457)
Net unrealized gains 40,136 (15,289) 24,847
Minimum pension liability adjustment (5,603) 2,129 (3,474)
Other comprehensive income $34,533 $(13,160) $21,373
Year ended December 31, 2000:
Unrealized gains on securities:
Unrealized holding gains (losses) $24 573 $ (9,265) $15,308
Reclassification adjustment for (gains) losses
included in net income 3,083 (1,202) 1,881
Net unrealized gains 27,656 (10,467) 17,189
Other comprehensive income $27,656 $(10,467) $17,189

The end of period components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are as follows:

Minimum Accumulated
Unrealized Pension Other
Gains (Losses) Liability Comprehensive
(In thousands) on Securities Adjustment Amount
Balance at December 31, 2000 $15,967 $ — $15,967
Current period change 24,847 (3,474) 21,373
Acquired balances 83 . — 83
Balance at December 31, 2001 40,897 (3,474) 37,423
Current period change 55,196 3,474 58,670
Balance at December 31, 2002 $96,093 $ - $96,093
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Segments

The Company segregates financial information for use in assessing its performance and allocating
resources among three operating segments. The Consumer segment includes the retail branch network,
consumer finance, bankcard, student loans and discount brekerage services. The Commercial segment
provides corporate lending, leasing, and international services, as well as business, government deposit
and cash management services. The Money Management segment provides traditional trust and estate tax
planning services, and advisory and discretionary investment management services.

The Company’s business line reporting system derives segment information by specifically attributing
most assets and income statement items to a segment. The Company’s internal funds transfer pricing
methodology makes specific assignment of an interest spread tc each new source or use of funds with a
maturity date. Income and expense that directly relate to segment operations are recorded in the segment
when incurred. Expenses that indirectly support the segments are allocated based cn the most appropriate
method available.

The Company’s reportable segments are strategic lines of business that offer different products and
services. They are managed separately because each line services a specific customer need, requiring
different performance measurement analyses and marketing strategies.

The following tables present selected financial information by segment and reconciliations of combined
segment totals to consolidated totals. There were no material intersegment revenues between the three
segments.

Segment Income Statement Data

Money Segment Other/ Consolidated

(In thousands) Consumer Commercial Management Totals Elimination Totals
Year ended December 31, 2002:
Net interest income after loan

loss expense $ 96,401 $ 213,771 $ (7,700) $302,472 $ 163,385 $465,857
Cost of funds allocation 153,012 (47,909) 15,913 121,016 (121,016) —
Non-interest income 149,350 41,175 81,454 271,979 8,593 280,572
Total net revenue 388,763 207,037 89,667 695,467 50,962 748,429
Non-interest expense 269,588 95,107 60,380 425,675 27,852 452,927
Income before income taxes $3129,175 $ 111,830 $ 25,287 $270,382 $ 23,110 $283,502
Year ended December 31, 2001:
Net interest income after loan

loss expense $ 25950 $ 280,509 $(11,095) $295.364 $ 136,988 $432,352
Cost of funds allocation 274,993  (122,196) 18,465 171,262  (171,262) —
Non-interest income 146,228 36,825 82,318 265,371 9,628 274,999
Total net revenue 447,171 195,138 88,688 731,997 (24,646) 707,351
Non-interest expense 266,542 90,895 57,820 415,257 22,733 437,990
Income before income taxes $180,629 $ 104,243 §$ 31,868 $316,740 $ (47,379) $269,351
Year ended December 31, 2000:
Net interest income after loan

loss expense . $ 22,982 $ 331,203 $(14,091) $340,094 $ 106,393 $446,487
Cost of funds allocation 232,342 (161,215) 20,110 91,237 (91,237) —
Non-interest income 140,068 29,068 72,427 241,563 14,073 255,636
Total net revenue 395,392 199,056 78,446 672,894 29,229 702,123
Non-interest expense 255,491 84,994 55,446 395,931 38,271 434,202
Income before income taxes $139,901 $ 114,062 §$ 23,000 $276,963 $ (9,042) $267,921

The segment activity, as shown above, includes both direct and allocated items. Amounts in the
“Other/Elimination” column include activity not related to the segments, such as that relating to adminis-
frative functions, the investment securities portfolio, and the effect of certain expense allocations to the
segments.
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Segment Balance Sheet Data

Money Segment Other/ Consolidated

(In thousands) Consumer Commercial  Management Totals Elimination Totals
Average balances for

2002:
Assets $3,471,094 $4,444,654 $ 35,412 $7,951,160 $4,462,678 $12,413,838
Loans 3,343,144 4,415,637 324 7,759,105 2,637 7,761,742
Deposits 7,643,626 1,983,059 261,243 9,787,828 734 9,788,562
Average balances for

2001: ,
Assets $3,530,540 $4,462,096 $158,610 $8,151,246 $3,584,577 $11,735,823
Loans 3,381,614 4,425,541 314 7,807,469 2,462 7,809,931
Deposits 7,628,954 1,829,468 96,611 9,455,033 12,662 9,467,695

The above segment balances include only those items directly associated with the segment. The
“Other/Elimination” column includes unallocated bank balances not associated with a segment (such as
investment securities, federal funds sold, goodwill and core deposit intangible), balances relating to certain
other administrative and corporate functions, and eliminations between segment and non-segment bal-
ances. This column also includes the resulting effect of allocating such items as float, deposit reserve and
capital for the purpose of computing the cost or credit for funds used/provided.

Beginning in 2002, the Company implemented a new funds transfer pricing method to value funds
used (e.g., loans, fixed assets, cash, etc.) and funds provided (deposits, borrowings, and equity) by the
business segments and their components. This new process assigns a specific value to each new source or
use of funds with a maturity, based on current LIBOR interest rates, thus determining an interest spread
at the time of the transaction. Non-maturity assets and liabilities are assigned to LIBOR based funding
pools. Previous methedology used funding pools based on average rates to assign and determine value. The
new method should provide a more accurate means of valuing fund sources and uses in a varying interest
rate environment. The change in profitability methods mainly affected the Consumer segment and had the
effect of lowering the credit for funds allocation to the Consumer segment by $119.3 million in 2002.
Segment results for prior periods were not restated for the change in the profitability measurement
method.

Common Stock

On December 13, 2002, the Company distributed a 5% stock dividend on its $5 par common stock for
the ninth consecutive year. All per share data in this report has been restated to reflect the stock dividend.
The table below is a summary of share activity in 2002.

Purchases of common stock 2,002,010
Issuance of stock:
Sales under employee and director plans 472,606
5% stock dividend 3,194,645
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Basic income per share is computed by dividing income available to common stockholders by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted income per share gives
effect to all dilutive potential common shares that were cutstanding during the year. The shares used in
the calculation of basic and diluted income per share, which have been restated for all stock dividends, are
as follows:

For the Years Ended
December 31

(In thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Weighted average common shares outstanding 68,204 69,234 70,471
Net effect of the assumed exercise of stock

options — based on the treasury stock methed

using average market price for the respective

periods 834 825 811

69,038 70,066 71,282

Under a Rights Agreement dated August 23, 1988, as amended in the amended and restated rights
agreement with Commerce Bank, N.A. as rights agent, dated as of July 19, 1996, certain rights have
attached to the common stock. Under certain circumstances relating to the acquisition of, or tender offer
for, a specified percentage of the Company’s outstanding common stock, holders of the common stock may
exercise the rights and purchase shares of Series A Preferred Stock or, at a discount, common stock of the
Company or an acquiring company.

In January 2003, the Board of Directors approved additional purchases of the Company’s common
stock, bringing the total purchase authorization to 4,000,000 shares. The Company has routinely used
these reacquired shares to fund employee benefit programs and annual stock dividends.

Regulatory Capital Requirements

The Company is subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the federal
banking agencies. Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory actions
by regulators that could have a direct material effect on the Company’s financial statements. The regula-
tions require the Company to meet specific capital adequacy guidelines that involve quantitative measures
of the Company’s assets, liabilities and certain off-balance-sheet items as calculated under regulatory
accounting practices. The Company’s capital classification is also subject to qualitative judgments by the
regulators about components, risk weightings and other factors.

Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require the Company and
its banking subsidiaries to maintain minimum amounts and ratios of Tier 1 capital to total average assets
(leverage ratio), and minimum ratios of Tier 1 and Total capital to risk-weighted assets (as defined). To
meet minimum, adequately capitalized regulatory requirements, an institution must maintain a Tier 1
capital ratio of 4.00%, a Total capital ratio of 8.00% and a leverage ratioc of 4.00%. The minimum required
ratios for well-capitalized banks (under prompt corrective action provisions) are 6.00% for Tier 1 capital,
10.00% for Total capital and 5.00% for the leverage ratio.
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The capital amounts and ratios for the Company (on a consolidated basis) and its three full-service
banking subsidiaries at the last two year ends are as follows:

2002 2001
Actual Minimum -~ Actual Minimum
(Dollars in thousands) Amount Ratio Required® Amount Ratio Required®
Total Capital (to risk-weighted
assets):
Commerce Bancshares, Inc.

(consolidated) $1,416,839 14.05% $806,646 $1,313,857 13.64% $770,766
Commerce Bank, N.A. (Missouri) 930,276 10.84 686,720 914,020 10.98 666,032
Commerce Bank, N.A. (Illinois) 96,162 15.39 49,982 93,504 15.52 48,184
Commerce Bank, N.A. (Kansas) 105,063 16.i6 52,010 98,826 15.94 49,613
Tier 1 Capital (to risk-weighted

assets):

Commerce Bancshares, Inc.

(consolidated) $1,277,116 12.87% $403,323 $1,182,661 12.28% $385,383
Commerce Bank, N.A. (Missouri) 822,927 9.59 343,360 809,872 9.73 333,016
Commerce Bank, N.A. (Illinois) 88,345 14.14 24,991 85,965 14.27 24,092
Commerce Bank, N.A. (Kansas) 96,903 14.91 26,005 91,036 14.68 24,807
Tier 1 Capital (to adjusted

quarterly average assets):

(Leverage Ratio)
Commerce Bancshares, Inc.

(consolidated) $1,277,116 10.18% $502,056 $1,182,661 9.81% $482,433
Commerce Bank, N.A. (Missouri) 822,927 7.80 422,020 809,872 797 406,611
Commerce Bank, N.A. (Illinois) 88,345 10.11 34,959 85,965 943 36,465
Commerce Bank, N.A. (Kansas) 96,903 9.20 42,132 91,036 8.95 40,685

(A) Dollar amount required to meet guidelines for adequately capitalized institutions.

Management believes that the Company meets all capital requirements to which it is subject at
December 31, 2002.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 107, “Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial
Instruments”, requires disclosure of the carrying amounts and estimated fair values for financial instru-
ments held by the Company. Fair value estimates, the methods used and assumptions made in computing
those estimates, and the carrying amounts recorded in the balance sheet are set forth below.

Loans

Fair values are estimated for various groups of loans segregated by 1) type of loan, 2) fixed/adjustable
interest terms and 3) performing/non-performing status. The fair value of performing loans is calculated by
discounting all simulated cash flows. Cash flows include all principal and interest to be received, taking
embedded optionality such as the customer’s right to prepay into account. Discount rates are computed for
each loan category using implied forward market rates adjusted to recognize each loan’s approximate
credit risk. Fair value of impaired loans approximates their carrying value because such loans are recorded
at the appraised or estimated recoverable value of the collateral or the underlying cash flow.
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Investment Securities

The fair values of the debt and equity instruments in the available for sale and trading sections of the
investment security portfolio are estimated based on prices published in financial newspapers or bid
quotations received from securities dealers. The fair value of those equity investments for which a market
source is not readily available is estimated at carrying value.

A schedule of investment securities by category and maturity is provided in the Investment Securities
note to the consolidated financial statements. Fair value estimates are based on the value of one unit
without regard to any premium or discount that may resuit from concentrations of ownership, possible tax
ramifications or estimated transaction costs.

Federal Funds Sold and Securities Purchased under Agreements to Resell and Cash and Due From
Banks

The carrying amounts of federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to resell and
cash and due from banks approximate fair value. Federal funds sold and securities purchased under
agreements to resell generally mature in 90 days or less.

Accrued Interest Receivable/Payable

The carrying amounts of accrued interest receivable and accrued interest payable approximate their
fair values because of the relatively short time period between the accrual period and the expected receipt
or payment due date.

Derivative Instruments

The fair value of derivative financial instruments is based on the estimated amocunts that the Com-
pany would receive or pay to terminate the contracts at the reporting date (i.e., mark-to-market value).
Fair values are based on dealer quotes or pricing models.

Deposits

Statement 107 specifies that the fair value of deposits with no stated maturity is equal to the amount
payable on demand. Such deposits include savings and interest and non-interest bearing demand deposits.
These fair value estimates do not recognize any benefit the Company receives as a result of being able to
administer, or control, the pricing of these accounts. The fair value of certificates of deposit is based on the
discounted value of contractual cash flows. Discount rates are based on the Company’s approximate cost of
obtaining similar maturity funding in the market.

Borrowings

Federal funds purchased and securities sold under agreements to repurchase mature or reprice within
90 days; therefore, their fair value approximates carrying value. The fair value of long-term debt is
estimated by discounting contractual maturities using an estimate of the current market rate for similar
instruments.
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The estimated fair values of the Company’s financial instruments are as follows:

2002 2001
Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated

(In thousands) Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Financial Assets
Loans 87,875,944 $8,072,491 $7,638,482 $7,863,361
Available for sale investment securities 4,201,477 4,201,477 3,654,919 3,654,919
Trading securities 11,835 11,835 12,265 12,265
Non-marketable securities 62,136 62,136 65,073 65,073
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under

agreements to resell 18,945 18,845 375,060 375,060
Accrued interest receivable 68,734 68,734 68,702 69,702
Derivative instruments 7,752 7,752 4,375 4375
Cash and due from banks 710,406 710,406 824,218 824,218
Financial Liabilities ‘
Non-interest bearing demand deposits $1,478,880 $1,478,880 $1,579,679 $1,579,679
Savings, interest checking and money market deposits 5,878,230 5,878,230 5,652,715 5,652,715
Time open and C.D.’s 2,556,201 2,589,313 2,799,491 2,825,850
Federal funds purchased and securities sold under

agreements to repurchase 1,459,868 1,459,868 1,087,402 1,087,402
Long-term debt and other borrowings 338,457 341,158 392,586 393,690
Accrued interest payable 29,543 28,543 41,383 41,383
Derivative instruments 9,760 8,760 4,065 4,065

Off-Balance-Sheet Financial Instruments

The fair value of letters of credit and commitments to extend credit is based on the fees currently
charged to enter into similar agreements. The aggregate of these fees is not material. These instruments
are also referenced in the consolidated financial statement note on Commitments and Contingencies.

Limitations

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time based on relevant market information. They
do not reflect any premium or discount that could result from offering for sale at one time the Company’s
entire holdings of a particular financial instrument. Because no market exists for many of the Company’s
financial instruments, fair value estimates are based on judgments regarding future expected loss experi-
ence, risk characteristics and economic conditions. These estimates are subjective, involve uncertainties
and cannot be determined with precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the estimates.

Derivative Instruments

One of the Company’s primary risks associated with its lending activity is interest rate risk. Interest
rates contain an ever-present volatility, as they are affected by the public’s perception of the economy’s
health at any one point in time, as well as by specific actions of the Federal Reserve. These fluctuations can
either compress or enhance fixed rate interest margins depending on the liability structure of the funding
organization. Over the longer term, rising interest rates have a negative effect on interest margins as
funding sources become more expensive relative to these fixed rate loans that do not reprice as quickly
with the change in interest rates. However, in order to maintain its competitive advantage, in certain
circumstances the Company offers fixed rate commercial financing whose term extends beyond its tradi-
tional three to five year parameter. This exposes the Company to the risk that the fair value of the fixed
rate loan may fall if market interest rates increase. To reduce this exposure for certain specified loans, the
Company enters into interest rate swaps, paying interest based on a fixed rate in exchange for interest
based on a variable rate. During 2002 and 2001, the Company had three swaps which were designated as
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fair value hedges. A net gain of $30,000 was recorded in loan interest income in 2002 compared to a net loss
of $97,000 in 2001. These totals represent the amount of the hedges’ ineffectiveness during those periods.

The Company’s mortgage banking operation makes commitments to extend fixed rate loans secured by
1-4 family residential properties, which are considered to be derivative instruments. These commitments
have an average term of 60 to 90 days. The Company’s general practice is to sell such loans in the
secondary market. During the term of the loan commitment, the value of the loan commitment, which
includes mortgage servicing rights, changes in inverse proportion to changes in market interest rates. The
Company obtains forward sale contracts with investors in the secondary market in order to manage these
risk positions. Most of the contracts are matched to a specific loan on a “best efforts” basis, in which the
Company is obligated to deliver the loan only if the loan closes. Hedge accounting has not been applied to
these activities. During 2002, the change in fair value of the commitments was an unrealized gain of
$429,000, and the change in fair value of the forward contracts was an unrealized loss of $979,000, netting
to an unrealized loss of $550,000 for this activity. Changes in these fair values resulted in an unrealized
gain of $874,000 during 2001. These unrealized gains and losses were recorded in mortgage banking
revenue,.

The Company’s foreign exchange activity involves the purchase and sale of forward foreign exchange
contracts, which are commitments to purchase or deliver a specified amount of foreign currency at a
specific future date. This activity enables customers invelved in international business to hedge their
exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. The Company minimizes its related exposure
arising from these customer transactions with offsetting contracts for the same currency and time frame.
In addition, the Company uses foreign exchange contracts, to a limited extent, for trading purposes,
including taking proprietary positions. Risk arises from changes in the currency exchange rate and from
the potential for counterparty nonperformance. These risks are controlled by adherence to a foreign
exchange trading policy which contains control limits on currency amounts, open positions, maturities and
losses, and procedures for approvals, record-keeping, monitoring and reporting. Hedge accounting has not
been applied to these foreign exchange activities. The changes in fair value of the foreign exchange
derivative instruments resulted in net unrealized losses of $34,000 in 2002 and unrealized gains of $24,000
in 2001, and were recorded in other non-interest income.

At December 31, 2002, the total notional amount of derivatives held by the Company amounted to
$218,145,000. Derivatives with positive fair values of $7,752,000 were recorded in other assets and deriva-
tives with negative fair values of $9,760,000 were recorded as other liabilities at December 31, 2002,
Changes in the fair values of the derivatives and hedged loans were recognized in current earnings. These
changes resulted in an after tax net loss of $361,000 in 2002 compared to an after tax net gain of $510,000
in 2001.
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Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases certain premises and equipment, all of which were classified as operating leases.
The rent expense under such arrangements amounted to $4,122,000, $3,948,000 and $3,697,000 in 2002,
2001 and 2000, respectively. A summary of minimum lease commitments follows:

(In thousands) Type of Property
Real Total

Year Ended December 31 Property Equipment Commitments
2003 $ 3,519 $417 $ 3,936
2004 3,005 303 3,308
2005 2,552 12 2,564
2006 2,409 — 2,409
2007 2,053 — 2,053
After 26,069 — 26,069

Total minimum lease payments $40,339

All leases expire prior to 2055. It is expected that in the normal course of business, leases that expire
will be renewed or replaced by leases on other properties; thus, the future minimum lease commitments
are not expected to be less than the amounts shown for 2003.

The Company engages in various transactions and commitments with off-balance-sheet risk in the
normal course of business to meet customer financing needs. The Company uses the same credit policies in
making the commitments and conditional obligations described below as it does for on-balance-sheet
instruments. The following table summarizes these commitments at December 31:

(In thousands) 2002 2001
Commitments to extend credit:

Credit card $2,310,239 $2,494,424

Cther 3,037,011t 3,196,010
Commitments to purchase/sell when-issued

securities —_— 1,229
Standby letters of credit, net of participations 308,705 333,500
Commercial letters of credit 27,335 16,357

Commitments to extend credit are legally binding agreements to lend to a borrower providing there
are no violations of any conditions established in the contract. As many of the commitments are expected to
expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment does not necessarily represent future cash re-
quirements. Refer to the consolidated financial statements note on Loans and Allowance for Losses for

further discussion.
/

Issuance of standby and commercial letters of credit beneficially assist customers engaged in a wide
range of commercial enterprise and international trade. Standby letters of credit serve as payment assur-
ances to a third party in the event the bank’s customer fails to perform its financial and/or contractual
obligations. Most expire over the next 12 months and are secured by 1) a line of credit with, 2) a certificate
of deposit held by, 3) marketable securities held by, or 4) a deed of trust held by a banking subsidiary.
Commercial letters of credit generally finance the purchase of imported goods and provide a payment
engagement against presentation of documents meeting the terms and conditions set forth in the letter of
credit instrument.

Transactions involving securities described as “when-issued” are treated as conditional transactions in
a security authorized for issuance but not yet actually issued. Purchases and sales of when-issued securi-
ties for which settlement date has not occurred are not to be reflected in the financial statements until
settlement date.

In the normal course of business, the Company had certain lawsuits pending at December 31, 2002. In
the opinion of management, after consultation with legal counsel, none of these suits will have a significant
effect on the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
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Parent Company Condensed Financial Statements

Following are the condensed financial statements of Commerce Bancshares, Inc. (Parent only) for the

periods indicated:

Condensed Balance Sheets

December 31

(In thousands) 2002 2001
Assets
Investment in consolidated subsidiaries:

Banks $1,116,078 $1,057,238

Non-banks 40,537 38,201
Investment in unconsolidated subsidiaries —_ 4,637
Receivables from subsidiaries, net of borrowings 6,113 —
Cash 59 127
Securities purchased under agreements to resell —_ 14,816
Investment securities:

Available for sale 240,659 160,336

Non-marketable 3,407 3,371
Prepaid pension cost 21,494 —
Other assets 10,332 7,115
Total assets $1,438,679 $1,285,841
Liabilities and Stockhelders’ Equity
Borrowings from subsidiaries, net of receivables $ — $ 2,356
Accounts payable, accrued taxes and other liabilities 22,342 11,002
Total liabilities 22,342 13,358
Stockholders’ equity 1,416,337 1,272,483
Total ligbilities and stockholders’ equity $1,438,679 $1,285,841

Condensed Statements of Income

(In thousands)

For the Years Ended December 31

2002 2001

2000

Income
Dividends received from consolidated subsidiaries:
Banks

$199,781 $157,456 $154,500

Non-banks 245 395 200
Earnings of consolidated subsidiaries, net of dividends 4,128 27,713 28,898
Interest on investment securities 3,452 4,162 4,141
Interest on securities purchased under agreements to resell 33 253 414
Management fees charged subsidiaries 38,483 33,771 28,155
Net gains (losses) on securities transactions (675) 303 237
Other 1,517 2,058 2,143
Total income 246,964 226,111 218,688
Expense
Salaries and employee benefits 31,5661 25,316 26,107
Professional fees 3,385 3,251 2,644
Data processing fees paid to affiliates 11,337 9,890 3,337
Other 6,050 9,239 9,784
Total expense 52,333 47,696 41,872
Income tax expense (benefit) {4,867) (3,559) (1,758)
Net income $199,498 $181,974 $178,574
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Condensed Statements of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended December 31

(In thousands) 2002 2001 2000
QOperating Activities
Net income $ 199,498 $ 181,974 $ 178,574

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities:

Earnings of consolidated subsidiaries, net of dividends (4,128) (27,713) (28,898)

Other adjustments, net (504) (6,956) 394
Net cash provided by operating activities 194,466 147,305 150,070
Investing Activities
(Increase) decrease in investment in subsidiaries, net (898) (26,738) 2,982
(Increase) decrease in receivables from subsidiaries, net (8,489) 15,361 (6,198)
Proceeds from sales of investment securities 554 2,303 7,633
Proceeds from maturities of investment securities 802,631 411,497 374,779
Purchases of investment securities (885,582) (452,036) (392,570)
Net (increase) decrease in securities purchased under agreements

to resell 14,818 (6,311) (2,587)

Net (purchases) sales of equipment 31) 1,037 (1,178)
Net cash used in investing activities (77,387) (54,887) (17,239)
Financing Activities
Purchases of treasury stock (83,879 (58,685) (98,720)
Issuance under stock purchase, option and benefit plans 8,917 6,557 3,398
Cash dividends paid ¢n common stock (42,185) (40,254) (37,613)
Net cash used in ﬁnancing activities (117,147) (92,382) (132,935)
Increase (decrease) in cash (68) 36 (104)
Cash at beginning of year 127 91 195
Cash at end of year $ 59 § 127 § 91

Dividends paid by the Parent were substantially provided from subsidiary bank dividends. The subsid-
iary banks may distribute dividends without prior regulatory approval that do not exceed the sum of net
income for the current year and retained net income for the preceding two years, subject to maintenance of
minimum capital requirements. The Parent charges fees to its subsidiaries for management services
provided, which are allocated to the subsidiaries based primarily on total average assets. The Parent
makes advances to non-banking subsidiaries and subsidiary bank holding companies. Advances are made
to the Parent by subsidiary bank holding companies for investment in temporary liquid securities. Interest
on such advances is based on market rates.

In 2001, the Parent paid $28,115,000 in cash for direct investments in several subsidiaries as part of a
reorganization of the Company’s internal ownership structure. The Parent’s data processing fees paid to
affiliates increased in 2001 over 2000 due to a change in the allocation formula between the Parent and its
subsidiaries, which resulted in higher fees assessed to the Parent.

At December 31, 20.02, the Parent had a $20,000,000 line of credit for general corporate purposes with
a subsidiary bank. During 2002, the Parent had no borrowings from the subsidiary bank.

Available for sale investment securities held by the Parent, which consist primarily of short term
investments in mutual funds, U.S. government and federal agency securities, common stock and commer-
cial paper, included an unrealized gain in fair value of $30,772,000 at December 31, 2002. The correspond-
ing net of tax unrealized gain included in stockholders’ equity was $19,042,000. Also included in
stockholders’ equity was the unrealized net of tax gain in fair value of investment securities held by
subsidiaries, which amounted to $77,051,000 at December 31, 2002.
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Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

There were no changes in or disagreements with accountants on accounting and financial disclosure.

PART III

Item 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information required by Item 401 and 405 of Regulation S-K regarding executive officers is
included below under the caption “Executive Officers of the Registrant” and under the captions “Election of
Directors” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in the definitive proxy state-
ment, which is incorporated herein by reference. ’

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following are the executive officers of the Company, each of whom is designated annually, and
there are no arrangements or understandings between any of the persons so named and any other person
pursuant to which such person was designated an executive officer.

Name and Age Positions with Registrant

Jeffery D. Aberdeen, 49 Controller of the Company since December 1995. Assistant Controller
of the Company and Controller of Commerce Bank, N.A. (Missouri), a
subsidiary of the Company, pricr thereto.

Andrew F. Anderson, 51 Senior Vice President of the Company since October 1898. Chairman of
the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer of Commerce Bank,
N.A. (Illinois), a subsidiary of the Company, since August 1395,
President and Chief Executive Officer of The Peoples Bank of
Bloemington, IL prior thereto.

Kevin G. Barth, 42 Senior Vice President of the Company and Executive Vice President of
Commerce Bank, N.A. (Missouri), since Cctober 1998. Officer of
Commerce Bank, N.A. (Missouri) prior thereto.

A. Bayard Clark, 57 Chief Financial Officer, Executive Vice President and Treasurer of the
Company since December 1995. Executive Vice President of the
Company prior thereto.

Sara E. Foster, 42 Senior Vice President of the Company since December 1987. Vice
President of the Company prior thereto.

David W. Kemper, 52 Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company since November
1991, Chief Executive Officer of the Company since June 1986, and
President of the Company since April 1982. Chairman of the Board and
President of Commerce Bank, N.A. (Missouri). He is the son of James
M. Kemper, Jr. (a former Director and former Chairman of the Board
of the Company) and the brother of Jonathan M. Kemper, Vice
Chairman of the Company.

Jonathan M. Kemper, 49 Vice Chairman of the Company since November 1981 and Vice
Chairman of Commerce Bank, N.A. (Missouri) since December 19987.
Prior thereto, he was Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer,
and President of Commerce Bank, N.A. (Missouri). He is the son of
James M. Kemper, Jr. (a former Director and former Chairman of the
Board of the Company) and the brother of David W. Kemper,
Chairman, President, and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
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Name and Age Positions with Registrant

Charles G. Kim, 42 Executive Vice President of the Company since April 1995. Prior
thereto, he was Senior Vice President of Commerce Bank, N.A.
(Clayton, MO), a former subsidiary of the Company.

Seth M. Leadbeater, 52 Executive Vice President of the Company since October 1998.
Executive Vice President of Commerce Bank, N.A. (Missouri) since
December 1997. Prior thereto, he was President of Commerce Bank,
N.A. (Clayton, MO).

Robert C. Matthews, Jr., 55 Ezxecutive Vice President of the Company since December 1989.
Executive Vice President of Commerce Bank, N.A. (Missouri) since
December 1997.

Michael J. Petrie, 46 Senior Vice President of the Company since April 1995. Prior thereto,
he was Vice President of the Company.

Robert J. Rauscher, 45 Senior Vice President of the Company since October 1997. Senior Vice
President of Commerce Bank, N.A. (Missouri) prior thereto.

V. Raymond Stranghoener, 51 Senior Vice President of the Company since February 2000. Prior to his
employment with the Company in October 1999, he was employed at
BankAmerica Corp. as National Executive of the Bank of America
Private Bank Wealth Strategies Group. He joined Boatmen’s Trust
Company in 1993, which subsequently merged with BankAmerica
Corp.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by Item 402 of Regulation S-K regarding executive compensation is included
under the captions “Executive Compensation”, “Retirement Benefits”, “Compensation Committee Report
on Executive Compensation”, and “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” in the
definitive proxy statement, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The information required by Item 403 of Regulation S-K is covered under the caption “Voting Securi-
ties and Ownership Thereof by Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in the definitive proxy
statement, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by Item 404 of Regulation S-K is covered under the caption “Election of
Directors” in the definitive proxy statement, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Within the 90 days prior to the filing of this report, the Company carried out an evaluation under the
supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rule 13a-14(c) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded
that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective. There were not any significant
changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect these controls subsequent to

71



the date of their evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and
material weaknesses.

PART IV

Item 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(a) The following documents are filed as a part of this report:

Page

(1) Financial Statements:

Consolidated Balance Sheets 39
Consolidated Statements of Income 40
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 41
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity 42
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 43
Summary of Quarterly Statements of Income 36

(2) Financial Statement Schedules:
All schedules are omitted as such information is inapplicable or is included
in the financial statements.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K:
No report on Form 8-K was filed during the last quarter of 2002,

(c) The exhibits filed as part of this report and exhibits incorporated herein by reference to other
documents are listed in the Index to Exhibits (pages E-1 through E-2.)
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly

authorized this 12th day of March 2003.

COMMERCE BANCSHARES, INC.

By:

/s/ J. DANIEL STINNETT

dJ. Daniel Stinnett
Vice President and Secretary

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated on the 12th day

of March 2003.

David W. Kemper

(Chief Executive Officer)
Giorgio Balzer
John R. Capps
W. Thomas Grant II
James B. Hebenstreit
Jonathan M. Kemper
Thomas A. McDonnell
Terry O. Meek
Benjamin F. Rassieur III
L. W. Stolzer
Andrew C. Taylor
Mary Ann Van Lokeren
Robert H. West

J

By:

By:

/s/ JEFFERY D. ABERDEEN

Jeffery D. Aberdeen
Controller
'(Chief Accounting Officer)

/s/ A. BAYARD CLARK

A, Bayard Clark
Chief Financial Officer

A majority of the Board of Directors*

* David W. Kemper, Director and Chief Executive Officer, and the other Directors of Registrant listed,
executed a power of attorney authorizing J. Daniel Stinnett, their attorney-in-fact, to sign this report on

their behalf.

By:
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CERTIFICATION
I, David W. Kemper, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Commerce Bancshares, Inc;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances

under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect te the period covered by this annual
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
annual repert, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant
and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consclidated subsidiaries, is made known tc us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date
within 80 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

(¢) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on cur most recent evaluation,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors:

(a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identi-
fied for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

8. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether there
were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal
controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard
to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

March 12, 2003

/s/ DaviD W. KEMPER

David W. Kemper
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer
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CERTIFICATION

I, A. Bayard Clark, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Commerce Bancshares, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant
and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date
within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

(c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors:

(a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identi-
fied for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether there
were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal
controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard
to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

March 12, 2003

/s/ A, BAYARD CLARK

A. Bayard Clark
Executive Vice President, Treasurer
and Chief Financial Officer
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

3 — Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws:

(a) Restated Articles of Incorporation, as amended, were filed in quarterly report on Form 10-Q
dated August 10, 1998, and the same are hereby incorporated by reference.

(b) Restated By-Laws were filed in quarterly report on Form 10-Q dated May 8, 2001, and the
same are hereby incorporated by reference.

4 — Instruments defining the rights of security holders, including indentures:

(a) Pursuant to paragraph (b)(4)(ii) of Item 601 Regulation S-K, Registrant will furnish to the
Commission upon request copies of long-term debt instruments.

{b) Shareholder Rights Plan contained in an Amended and Restated Rights Agreement was filed
on Form 8-A12G/A dated June 7, 1998, and the same is hereby incorporated by reference.

(¢) Form of Rights Certificate and Election to Exercise was filed on Form 8-A12G/A dated June 7,
1896, and the same is hereby incorporated by reference.

(d) Form of Certificate of Designation of Preferred Stock was filed on Form 8-A12G/A dated
June 7, 1996, and the same is hereby incorporated by reference.

10 — Material Contracts (Each of the following is a management contract or compensatory plan
arrangement):

(a) Commerce Bancshares, Inc. Executive Incentive Compensation Plan amended and restated as
of July 31, 1998, was filed in quarterly report on Form 10-Q dated May 10, 2002, and the same is
hereby incorporated by reference.

(b) Commerce Bancshares, Inc. Incentive Stock Option Plan amended and restated as of Octo-
ber 4, 1996 was filed in quarterly report on Form 10-Q dated November 8, 1996, and the same is
hereby incorporated by reference.

(¢) Commerce Bancshares, Inc. 1987 Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan amended and restated as of
October 4, 1996 was filed in quarterly report on Form 10-@Q dated November 8, 1996, and the same is
hereby incorporated by reference.

(d) Commerce Bancshares, Inc. Stock Purchase Plan for Non-Employee Directors amended and
restated as of October 4, 1896 was filed in quarterly report on Form 10-Q dated November 8, 1996, and
the same is hereby incorporated by reference.

(e) Copy of Supplemental Retirement Income Plan established by Commerce Baneshares, Inc. for
James M. Kemper, Jr. was filed in annual report on Form 10-K dated March 6, 1892, and the same is
hereby incorporated by reference.

(f) Commerce Bancshares, Inc. 1996 Incentive Stock Option Plan amended and restated as of
April 2001 was filed in quarterly report on Form 10-Q dated May 8, 2001, and the same is hereby
incorporated by reference.

(g) Commerce Executive Retirement Plan was filed in annual report on Form 10-K dated March 8,
1996, and the same is hereby incorporated by reference.

(h) Commerce Bancshares, Inc. Restricted Stock Plan amended and restated as of February 4,
2000, was filed in annual report on Form 10-K dated March 10, 2000, and the same is hereby
incorporated by reference.

(i) Form of Severance Agreement between Commerce Bancshares, Inc. and certain of its executive
officers entered into as of October 4, 1996 was filed in quarterly report on Form 10-Q dated Novem-
ber 8, 1996, and the same is hereby incorporated by reference.
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(j) Trust Agreement for the Commerce Bancshares, Inc. Executive Incentive Compensation Plan
amended and restated as of January 1, 2001, was filed in quarterly report on Form 10-Q dated May 8,
2001, and the same is hereby incorporated by reference.

21 — Subsidiaries of the Registrant
23 — Independent Accountants’ Consent
24 — Power of Attorney

99.1 - Certification of CEO pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

99.2 — Certification of CFO pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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The consolidated subsidiaries of the Registrant at March 1, 2003, were as follows:

Name

CBI-Kansas, Inc.

Commerece Bank, National Association
Commerce Brokerage Services, Inc.
Commerce Financial Corp.

Clayton Holdings, LLC

Clayton Financial Corp.
Clayton Realty Corp.

Commerce Insurance Services, Inc.

Commerce Investment Advisors, Inc.

CBI Leasing, Inc.

Tower Redevelopment Corporation
Breckenridge Capital Trust I
Shawnee State, Inc.

Commerce Bank, National Association

21st Street Redevelopment Company, L.C.

CBI-Illineis, Inc.
Commerce Bank, National Association
Ilinois Financial, LLC
Illinois Realty, LLC
Commerce Bank, National Association
CBI Insurance Company
CFB Partners II, LLC
CFB Venture Fund I, Inc.
CFB Venture Fund II, L.P.
Capital for Business, Inc.
Commerce Mortgage Corp.
Mid-America Financial Corp.
UBI Financial Services, Inc.

Location

Kansas City, MO
Kansas City, MO
Clayton, MO
Clayton, MO
Kansas City, MO
Clayton, MO
Clayton, MO
Fenton, MO
Kansas City, MO
Kansas City, MO
Kansas City, MO
Kansas City, MO
Shawnee, KS
Wichita, KS
Wichita, KS
Kansas City, MO
Peoria, IL
Peoria, IL
Peoria, IL
Omaha, NE
Kansas City, MO
Kansas City, MO
Clayton, MO
Kansas City, MO
Kansas City, MO
Kansas City, MO
Kansas City, MO
Wichita, KS

Exhibit 21

State or Other
Jurisdiction of
Incorporation

Kansas
United States
Missouri
Missouri
Missouri
Missouri
Missouri
Missouri
Missouri
Missouri
Missouri
Delaware
Kansas
United States
Kansas
Delaware
United States
Delaware
Delaware
United States
Arizona
Missouri
Missouri
Missouri
Missouri
Missouri
Missouri
Kansas




Exhibit 23

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ CONSENT

The Board of Directors
Commerce Bancshares, Inc.:

We consent to incorporation by reference in Registration Statements No. 33-28294, No. 33-82692,
No. 33-8075, No. 33-78344, No. 33-61499, No. 33-61501 and No. 333-14651, each on Form S-8 of Commerce
Bancshares, Inc. of our report dated January 31, 2003, relating to the consolidated balance sheets of
Commerce Bancshares, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 and the related consoli-
dated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended December 31, 2002, which report appears in the December 31, 2002 annual report on
Form 10-K of Commerce Bancshares, Inc.

KPMG LLP

Kansas City, Missouri
March 12, 2003




POWER OF ATTORNEY

Exhibit 24

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned do hereby appoint J. Daniel Stinnett
and Jeffery D. Aberdeen, or either of them, attorney for the undersigned to sign the Annual Report on
Form 10-K of Commerce Bancshares, Inc., for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002, together with any
and all amendments which might be required from time to time with respect thereto, to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, with respect to Com-
merce Bancshares, Inc., with full power and authority in either of said attorneys to do and perform in the
name of and on behalf of the undersigned every act whatscever necessary or desirable to be done in the
premises as fully and to all intents and purposes as the undersigned might or could do in person.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed these presents this 31st day of January

2003.

s/
/s/
s/
/s/
/s/
/s/
/s/
/sl
s/
s/
/s/
/s/
s/

(GIORGIO BALZER

JOHN R. CAPPS

W. THoMAS GRANT II
JaMEs B. HEBENSTREIT
Davip W. KEMPER
JONATHAN M. KEMPER
THOMAS A. MCDONNELL
TeERRY O. MEEK
BensaMIN F. Rassieur 111
L.W. STOLZER

ANDREW C. TAYLOR
MARY ANN VAN LOKEREN
RoBERT H. WEST




Exhibit 99.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Commerce Bancshares, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2002 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date
hereof (the “Report”), David W. Kemper, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursu-
ant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Davip W. KEMPER

David W. Kemper
Chief Executive Officer

March 12, 2003



Exhibit 99.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADCPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Commerce Bancshares, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2002 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date
hereof (the “Report”), A. Bayard Clark, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

fs/ A. BAYARD CLARK

A. Bayard Clark
Chief Financial Officer

March 12, 2003




CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS
1000 Walnut

RO. Box 13686

Kansas City, MO 64199-3686

(816) 234-2000

www.commercebank.com

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
KPMG, LLP
Kansas City, Missouri

TRANSFER AGENT, REGISTRAR AND
DIVIDEND DISBURSING AGENT
EquiServe Trust Company, N.A.

PO. Box 43069

Providence, RI 02940-3069

(800) 317-4445

(800) 952-9245 TDD

www.equiserve.com

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING
NASDAQ
Symbol: CBSH

CONMIMOMN STOCK INFORMATION
The table below sets forth the high and the low prices of
actual transactions for the Company’s common stock,

which is publicly traded on the NASDAQ Stock Market.

FISCAL 2002 HIGH Low
First Quarter $42.44 $35.81
Second Quarter 44.62 40.29
Third Quarter 42.61 34.80

Fourth Quarter 41.47 32.97

ANNUAL MEETING

The annual meeting of shareholders will be held
Wednesday, April 16, 2003, at 9:30 a.m. in the

15th Floor Auditorium of the Commerce Trust Building,
922 Walnut Street, Kansas City, Missouri 64106.

IMVESTOR INQUIRJIES
Shareholders, analysts, and investors seeking information
about the Company should direct their inquiries to:

Jeffery D. Aberdeen, Controller
1000 Walnut

PO. Box 13686

Kansas City, MO 64199-3686
(800) 892-7100

mymoney@commercebank.com

SHAREKOLDERS MAY RECEIVE FUTURE
ANNUAL REPORTS AND PROXY MATEREIALS
OVER THE INTERNET

To take advantage of the opportunity to receive materials
electronically, rather than by mail, simply fill out the on-
line consent form by logging onto the sign-up Web site
at: http://www.econsent.com/cbsh.

Please note:

© You will need your account number from the proxy
card to complete the envollment process.

° Your consent is entirely revocable.

° You can always vote your proxy on the Internet whether
or not you elect ro recetve your materials electronically.

ask listen solve and call click come by are trademarks of Commerce
Bancshares, inc. Commerce Connections, Special Connections and
CommerceCptions are service marks of Commerce Bancshares, Inc.




COMMERCE BANCSHARES, INC.

1000 WALNUT
P.O. BOX 13686
KANSAS CIiTY, MO 64199-3686

Phone: (816) 234-2000

(800) 892-7100
E-mail: mymoney@commercebank.com
Web site: www.commercebank.com
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